Contract for the Provision of International Warehousing Services

- (1) (2) The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care Kuehne + Nagel Limited

Dated 2021 29 October

Contents

CLAUSES

1	Definitions and Interpretation	3
2	Due Diligence Information	4
3	Order of Precedence	5
4	Representations and Warranties	5
5	Guarantee	7
6	Commencement and Term	7
7	Forecasting & Order Confirmation	7
8	Provision of Services	8
9	Warehousing Services1	1
10	IT System12	2
11	Handling and responsibility for Goods1	3
12	Continuous Improvement14	4
13	Contractor Personnel1	5
14	Key Roles and Key Personnel1	6
15	Change1	7
16	Charges And Payment1	8
17	Promoting Tax Compliance2	1
18	Benchmarking2	1
19	Intellectual Property Rights2	1
20	Liability2	3
21	Insurance	5
22	Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery2	5
23	Termination on Insolvency and Change Of Control	5
24	Termination on Default	6
25	Termination for Breach of the Regulations2	7
26	Consequences of Expiry or Earlier Termination2	7
27	Confidentiality	8
28	Personal Data	C
29	Transparency	C
30	Freedom of Information	1
31	Audit Rights	1
32	Conduct of Audits	3
33	Response to audits	3
34	Publicity and branding	4
35	Force majeure	4

36	Appointment of Sub-Contractors	35
37	Compliance	36
38	Assignment and novation	37
39	Waiver and cumulative remedies	38
40	Relationship of the parties	38
41	Prevention of fraud and bribery	38
42	Severance	39
43	Further assurances	40
44	Entire agreement	40
45	Third party rights	40
46	Notices	40
47	Dispute resolution	42
48	Governing law and jurisdiction	42

THIS AGREEMENT is made on

29 October

2021

BETWEEN:

- (1) The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care of 39 Victoria St, Westminster, London SW1H 0EU acting as part of the Crown (the "Authority"); and
- (2) Kuehne + Nagel Limited a company registered in England and Wales under company number 01722216 whose registered office is at 1 Roundwood Avenue, Stockley Park Uxbridge, England UB11 1FG (the "Contractor")

(each a "Party" and together the "Parties").

INTRODUCTION

- (A) The Authority has sourced substantial quantities of Personal Protection Equipment (PPE), testing equipment, medical devices and healthcare supplies from producers globally. There is an ongoing requirement for the Authority to arrange for the movement and storage of this equipment and these devices and supplies from various factories and storage facilities in order to meet continued demand driven by the response to COVID-19 across the world.
- (B) To enable the movement and storage of goods including, but not limited to, PPE, test kits, medical devices and healthcare supplies from factories and storage facilities around the world to other locations around the world, wherever they are needed, the Authority needs to contract international freight service providers and warehouse operators for the provision of freight management services and international warehousing services.
- (C) On 27 May 2021 the Authority advertised on the Find a Tender service (reference 2021/S 000-011826), inviting prospective Contractors to submit proposals for the provision of international warehousing services.
- (D) The Contractor is a leading provider of international warehousing and consolidation services
- (E) On the basis of the Contractor's response to the advertisement and a subsequent tender process, the Authority selected the Contractor as its preferred Contractor for the provision of international warehousing and consolidation services.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1 Definitions and Interpretation

- 1.1 In this Agreement, unless otherwise provided or the context otherwise requires, capitalised expressions shall have the meanings set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) or the relevant Schedule in which that capitalised expression appears.
- 1.2 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - 1.2.1 the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
 - 1.2.2 reference to a gender includes the other gender and the neuter;

- 1.2.3 references to a person include an individual, company, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated association, firm, partnership or other legal entity or Central Government Body;
- 1.2.4 a reference to any Law includes a reference to that Law as amended, extended, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time;
- 1.2.5 any reference in this Agreement which immediately before Exit Day was a reference to (as it has effect from time to time):
- (a) any EU regulation, EU decision, EU tertiary legislation or provision of the European Economic Area ("EEA") agreement ("EU References") which is to form part of domestic law by application of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 shall be read on and after Exit Day as a reference to the EU References as they form part of domestic law by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 as modified by domestic law from time to time; and
- (b) any EU institution or EU authority or other such EU body shall be read on and after Exit Day as a reference to the UK institution, Authority or body to which its functions were transferred;
- 1.2.6 the words "including", "other", "in particular", "for example" and similar words shall not limit the generality of the preceding words and shall be construed as if they were immediately followed by the words "without limitation";
- 1.2.7 references to "writing" include typing, printing, lithography, photography, display on a screen, electronic and facsimile transmission and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form, and expressions referring to writing shall be construed accordingly;
- 1.2.8 the headings are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction of this Agreement;
- 1.2.9 unless otherwise provided references to Clauses and Schedules are references to the clauses and schedules of this Agreement and references in any Schedule to Paragraphs, Parts and Annexes are, unless otherwise provided, references to the paragraphs, parts and annexes of the Schedule or the Part of the Schedule in which the references appear; and
- 1.2.10 references to this Agreement are references to this Agreement as amended from time to time.

2 Due Diligence Information

- 2.1 The Contractor acknowledges that:
 - 2.1.1 the Authority has delivered or made available to the Contractor all of the information and documents that the Contractor considers necessary or relevant for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement;
 - 2.1.2 it has made its own enquiries to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and adequacy of the Due Diligence Information;
 - 2.1.3 it has raised all relevant due diligence questions with the Authority before the Effective Date;
 - 2.1.4 it has undertaken all necessary due diligence and has entered into this Agreement in reliance on its own due diligence alone;

- 2.1.5 it shall not be excused from the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement on the grounds of, nor shall the Contractor be entitled to recover any additional costs or charges, arising as a result of any:
- (a) misinterpretation of the requirements of the Authority in this Agreement;
- (b) failure by the Contractor to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and/or adequacy of the Due Diligence Information; and/or
- (c) failure by the Contractor to undertake its own due diligence; and
- 2.1.6 Nothing in this Agreement, nor the Tender, confers any guarantee of, or commitment to particular volumes of Services to be purchased by the Authority from the Contractor under this Agreement.

3 Order of Precedence

- 3.1 Subject to Clause 3.2, in the event of any conflict between any parts of this Agreement the order of precedence shall be:
 - 3.1.1 these front-end terms of this Agreement;
 - 3.1.2 the Schedules to this Agreement; and
 - 3.1.3 the Tender.
- 3.2 Where the Tender contains provisions which are more favourable to the Authority in relation to (the rest of) this Agreement, such provisions of the Tender shall prevail. The Authority shall in its absolute and sole discretion determine whether any provision in the Tender is more favourable to it in this context.
- 3.3 If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms and conditions on any bill of lading, air waybill or other shipping documentation or conditions of carriage, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail as between the Contractor and the Authority.

4 Representations and Warranties

- 4.1 Each Party represents and warrants that:
 - 4.1.1 it has full capacity and Authority to enter into and to perform this Agreement;
 - 4.1.2 this Agreement is executed by its duly authorised representative;
 - 4.1.3 there are no actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before any court or administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it (or, in the case of the Contractor, any of its Affiliates) that might affect its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and
 - 4.1.4 its obligations under this Agreement constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms subject to applicable (as the case may be for each Party) bankruptcy, reorganisation, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of general application (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or Law).
- 4.2 The Contractor represents and warrants that:
 - 4.2.1 it is validly incorporated, organised and subsisting in accordance with the Laws of its place of incorporation;

- 4.2.2 it has all necessary consents (including, where its procedures so require, the consent of its Parent Company), licenses, permissions, accreditations, consents, and regulatory approvals to enter into this Agreement;
- 4.2.3 its execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement does not and will not constitute a breach of any Law or obligation applicable to it and does not and will not cause or result in a Default under any agreement by which it is bound;
- 4.2.4 it is skilled in the Services and that the Services shall:
- (a) conform with the requirements, and be provided in accordance with the terms of any SOP Manual;
- (b) be rendered with due care and skill and at all times in accordance with Good Industry Practice; and
- (c) be provided in accordance with the Key Performance Indicators;
- 4.2.5 as at the Effective Date, all written statements and representations in any written submissions made by the Contractor as part of the procurement process, its Tender, and any other documents submitted remain true and accurate except to the extent that such statements and representations have been superseded or varied by this Agreement;
- 4.2.6 if the Charges payable under this Agreement exceed or are likely to exceed five million pounds (£5,000,000), as at the Effective Date it has notified the Authority in writing of any Occasions of Tax Non-Compliance or any litigation that it is involved in connection with any Occasions of Tax Non-Compliance. If, at any point during the Term, an Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance occurs, the Contractor shall:
- (a) notify the Authority in writing of such fact within five (5) Working Days of its occurrence; and
- (b) promptly provide to the Authority:
 - details of the steps which the Contractor is taking to address the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance and to prevent the same from recurring, together with any mitigating factors that it considers relevant; and
 - (ii) such other information in relation to the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance as the Authority may reasonably require.
- 4.2.7 it shall take all steps, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, to prevent the introduction, creation or propagation of any disruptive elements (including any virus, worms and/or Trojans, spyware or other malware) into systems, data, (held in electronic form). software owned by or under the control of, or used by, the Authority or the Authority's Confidential Information;
- 4.2.8 it is not subject to any contractual obligation, compliance with which is likely to have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
- 4.2.9 it is not affected by an Insolvency Event and no proceedings or other steps have been taken and not discharged (nor, to the best of its knowledge, are threatened) for the winding up of the Contractor or for its dissolution or for the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, liquidator, manager, administrator or similar officer in relation to any of the Contractors assets or revenue;

- 4.2.10 for the Term and for a period of twelve (12) Months after the termination or expiry of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not employ or offer employment to any staff of the Authority which have been associated with the provision of the Services without approval or the prior written consent of the Authority which shall not be unreasonably withheld; and
- 4.2.11 the IT Systems and any configuration of the same by the Contractor are free from defect, suitable for purpose, free from viruses and comply with all specifications herein.
- 4.3 Each of the representations and warranties set out in Clauses 4.1 and 4.2 shall be construed as a separate representation and warranty and shall not be limited or restricted by reference to, or inference from, Agreement.
- 4.4 If at any time a Party becomes aware that a representation or warranty given by it under Clauses 4.1 and 4.2 has been breached, is untrue or is misleading, it shall immediately notify the other Party of the relevant occurrence in sufficient detail to enable the other Party to make an accurate assessment of the situation.
- 4.5 For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that any provision within this Agreement is expressed as a warranty shall not preclude any right of termination the Authority may have in respect of breach of that provision by the Contractor which constitutes a material Default.

5 Guarantee

- 5.1 Where the Authority requires a Guarantee from the Contractor, then, on or prior to the Effective Date or on any other date specified by the Authority, the Contractor shall deliver to the Authority:
 - 5.1.1 an executed Guarantee from a Guarantor; and
 - 5.1.2 a certified copy extract of the board minutes and/or resolution of the Guarantor approving the execution of the Guarantee.
- 5.2 The Authority may in its sole discretion at any time agree to waive compliance with the requirement in Clause 5.1 by giving the Contractor notice in writing.

6 Commencement and Term

- 6.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and, subject to any earlier termination, continue in force for a period of **Example 1** from the Operational Commencement Date (**"Initial Term**").
- 6.2 The Authority shall be entitled to extend the Term beyond the expiry of the Initial Term ("Extended Term") on more than one occasion, for an additional period of each case, subject always to a maximum total Extended Term of
- 6.3 If the Authority wishes to exercise its right under Clause 6.2, no later than three (3) Months prior to the expiry of the Initial Term or the relevant Extended Term the Authority will notify the Contractor in writing of any extension to the Agreement, specifying the period of the Extended Term. In such case, the Agreement shall continue in force for such Extended Term.

7 Forecasting & Order Confirmation

- 7.1 The Authority may provide written non-binding rolling forecasts of its freight requirements to the Contractor each Month for the following twelve (12) Months detailing:
 - 7.1.1 the estimated volume forecast inbound to the Warehouse Premises and outbound from the Warehouse Premises (in cubic metres) each week;

- 7.1.2 details of any collection requirements in each week;
- 7.1.3 any special requirements for handling or storage of such Goods.
- 7.2 In addition to the twelve (12) Month rolling forecast referred to in Clause 7.1, the Authority shall provide each Month a more accurate, non-binding update in writing of its estimated warehousing requirements with the same information for the following two (2) to four (4) weeks to allow the Contractor to plan the volume of storage space necessary to fulfil the Authority's requirements in the following Month.
- 7.3 From time to time throughout the duration of this Agreement, the Authority shall send a written Instruction to the Contractor placing a written order for collection, storage and/or consolidation of Goods confirming:
 - 7.3.1 where collection is required, details of the supplier or warehouse address for collection of Goods;
 - 7.3.2 a description of the Goods to be stored and/or consolidated including any Lot Code (where applicable);
 - 7.3.3 the quantity of Goods to be stored and/or consolidated;
 - 7.3.4 any specific instructions regarding the storage and/or consolidation of Goods;
 - 7.3.5 the estimated dates for Receipt (whether by delivery to the Warehouse Premises or collection by the Contractor) and Collection Window's for Despatch of the Goods;
 - 7.3.6 any other information relevant to the transportation (including expected mode of onward transportation), medium (including for example pallets or containers), and packaging of the Goods (if any).
- 7.4 The Contractor shall take Receipt of the Goods and issue a certificate of receipt following a visual inspection in accordance with Clause 11.3.1, store the Goods, and prepare the Goods for Despatch in accordance with the Instruction so as to meet the Authority's requirements.
- 7.5 In the event that the Contractor, for any reason whatsoever, is unable or in its reasonable opinion is unlikely to be able to take Receipt of the Goods forming the subject of an Instruction or to make the Goods available for Despatch in accordance with the terms of the Instruction having used its best endeavours to do so (and without prejudice to the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement):
 - 7.5.1 it shall notify the Authority immediately and present a plan to the Authority for discussion, prior approval or revision by the Authority setting out a solution to rectify the situation, reprioritise other services in order to fulfil the Instruction or provide an alternative method for storage and/or consolidation, including the Charges in respect of such alternative method of delivery of the Services, calculated in accordance with Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing).
 - 7.5.2 the Authority shall have the right, at its discretion, to reject any alternative solution proposed by the Contractor and for the avoidance of doubt shall make alternative arrangements for the transport of the Goods forming the subject of the Instruction with a third party; and
 - 7.5.3 subject to Clause 20.5, if the Authority accepts the alternative solution proposed by the Contractor the Authority shall be liable to pay the Charges for such Services, provided that the Authority shall not be liable for any additional costs incurred in excess of the Charges (which shall be borne by the Contractor).

8 Provision of Services

- 8.1 The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the Authority relies on the skill and judgment of the Contractor in the provision of the Services and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.
- 8.2 During the Term, the Contractor shall ensure that the Services:
 - 8.2.1 comply in all respects with the description of the Services as set out in Schedule 2 (Services) or elsewhere in this Agreement; and
 - 8.2.2 are supplied in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Tender.
- 8.3 The Contractor shall, and shall ensure that the Contractor Personnel shall, provide the Services and otherwise perform its obligations under this Agreement:
 - 8.3.1 in accordance with the timescales set out in this Agreement and in all other cases, if not specifically set out elsewhere, promptly;
 - 8.3.2 in accordance with any SOP Manual;
 - 8.3.3 so as to achieve or exceed the KPI Minimum Targets for each Key Performance Indicator;
 - 8.3.4 so as not to infringe, or cause the Authority to infringe, any third party's Intellectual Property Rights;
 - 8.3.5 in a manner which complies with, and enables the Authority to comply with, and such that the Services shall conform to, all applicable Laws, including Laws relating to the packaging, marking, storage, handling, product safety and delivery of the Goods;
 - 8.3.6 in co-ordination and cooperation with the Authority and all third party suppliers to the Authority (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the suppliers of the Goods); and
 - 8.3.7 in accordance with Schedule 5 (Governance).
- 8.4 The Contractor shall:
 - 8.4.1 at all times allocate sufficient resources with the appropriate technical expertise to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement;
 - 8.4.2 obtain and maintain throughout the duration of the Agreement all documents, licences, permissions, authorisations, consents and permits needed to supply, and for the Authority to enjoy, the Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
 - 8.4.3 observe all lawful instructions given by the Authority from time to time which are consistent with the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement including (without limitation) any special requirements for the handling of Goods and/or any Exceptional Instructions of the Authority;
 - 8.4.4 minimise any disruption to the Authority's operations when providing the Services;
 - 8.4.5 ensure that any documentation and training provided by the Contractor to the Authority are comprehensive, accurate and prepared in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
 - 8.4.6 assign to the Authority, or if it is unable to do so, shall (to the extent it is legally able to do so) hold on trust for the sole benefit of the Authority, all warranties and

indemnities provided by third parties or any Sub-Contractor in respect of the Services. Where any such warranties are held on trust, the Contractor shall enforce such warranties in accordance with any reasonable directions that the Authority may notify from time to time to the Contractor;

- 8.4.7 provide the Authority with such assistance as the Authority may reasonably require during the Term in respect of the supply of the Services;
- 8.4.8 deliver the Services in a proportionate and efficient manner;
- 8.4.9 ensure that neither it, nor any of its Affiliates, embarrasses the Authority or otherwise brings the Authority into disrepute by engaging in any act or omission which is reasonably likely to diminish the trust that the public places in the Authority, regardless of whether or not such act or omission is related to the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement;
- 8.4.10 gather, collate and provide such information and co-operation as the Authority may reasonably request for the purposes of ascertaining the Contractors compliance with its obligations under this Agreement; and
- 8.4.11 ensure that it will have available to it throughout the Term, and will employ in the provision of the Services at no additional cost to the Authority (save where such cost has been agreed in writing to be shared by the parties), all stocks of consumables, equipment, manpower, Intellectual Property Rights and other things required for the provision of the Services in all respects.
- 8.5 The Contractor shall ensure that the Contractor Personnel complete all necessary forms, proof of delivery documentation and any other documents required by the Authority or any other recipient of the Goods. The Contractor will collect such documents as instructed by the Authority or otherwise set out in any SOP Manual.
- 8.6 It is acknowledged and agreed that the Authority may from time to time provide reasonable instructions to the Contractor, which are outside the scope of Schedule 2 (Services) or those obligations otherwise required by this Agreement; for example, to respond to unexpected issues with its supply chain, third party manufacturers or other logistics suppliers or to facilitate any recall of Goods ("**Exceptional Instructions**"). The Contractor shall, subject to Clause 16.1.4 promptly comply with any such instructions.
- 8.7 It is acknowledged and agreed that the Services to be provided by the Contractor (and the Charges) shall incorporate the management of the Services, and any other services carried out for the Authority, such management to include:
 - 8.7.1 the prioritisation and handling of tasks and resources having regard to the Authority's operational requirements;
 - 8.7.2 the identification, reporting and resolution of those parts of the Services which are subject to persistent problems or failures;
 - 8.7.3 the procurement and provision of the Services such that those Services are provided in the most efficient and cost effective manner;
 - 8.7.4 the due performance of the administration relating to the Services to be undertaken in accordance with, inter alia, the Authority's reasonable instructions and all statutory, regulatory and local requirements (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the identification and acquisition of such licences, consents and approvals as are necessary from all relevant third party bodies or persons of competent authority); and

- 8.7.5 use of the information and data made available to it by or on behalf of the Authority in order to reduce the costs and resources employed by the Authority in collection, storage and/or consolidation of Goods.
- 8.8 An obligation on the Contractor to do, or to refrain from doing, any act or thing shall include an obligation upon the Contractor to procure that all Sub-Contractors and Contractor Personnel also do, or refrain from doing, such act or thing.
- 8.9 If any incidental services, functions or responsibilities not specifically described in this Agreement as being within the scope of the Contractor's responsibilities are reasonably required and strictly necessary for the proper performance and provision of the Services, or which an internal business unit serving an entity similar in size and type as the Authority would reasonably be expected to carry out from time to time as an integral part of its function in relation to such Services, they shall be deemed to be implied by and included within the scope of the Services to the same extent and in the same manner as if specifically described in this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Contractor shall not be entitled to any additional Charges in respect of the performance of any such incidental services, functions or responsibilities.

9 Warehousing Services

- 9.1 The Contractor shall:
 - 9.1.1 ensure that their employees and agents engaged in the Despatch and Receipt of the Goods complete all necessary forms, proof of delivery documentation and any other documents required by the Authority or any third party supplier of the Authority, subject to the Authority, or someone acting on its behalf, timely providing the Contractor with all necessary information. Documents should be collected as may be specified by the Authority, by the Contractor;
 - 9.1.2 co-ordinate with all third parties involved in the supply chain for the Goods in respect of any special requirements or conditions for collection, storage and/or consolidation of those Goods, including temperature controls and/or handling requirements;
 - 9.1.3 have adequate fire safety and fire suppression procedures, systems and equipment in place at any Warehouse Premises, and in any event in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
 - 9.1.4 have adequate flood defence and water ingress prevention procedures, systems and equipment in place at any Warehouse Premises, and in any event in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
 - 9.1.5 ensure that any Warehouse Premises meet all necessary legal requirements;
 - 9.1.6 have adequate procedures and appropriately qualified security personnel in place at any Warehouse Premises to ensure that the Goods are properly secured against risk of theft;
 - 9.1.7 separate, consolidate, package, and pack the Goods into appropriate media safely and in a watertight manner and at all times in accordance with any requirements of the Authority (including without limitation any Lot Control Procedures), and in a way which is suitable for the applicable mode of transport for onward movement of such Goods;
 - 9.1.8 make available and load the Goods in the correct volumes onto the delivery vehicles of the Authority's third party carriers within the nominated Collection Window as specified in an Instruction;

- 9.1.9 provide and maintain at its own risk and expense all equipment and/or Warehouse Premises required to deliver the Services and ensure at all times that such equipment and/or Warehouse Premises shall be in good condition, free from odours and defects, are secure, wind, weather and water tight and suitable for the type of Goods to be stored in them and to maintain them in such condition from Receipt until such Goods are Despatched;
- 9.1.10 ensure that any Warehouse Premises contains sufficient available capacity to enable the Contractor to store the Goods in accordance with this Agreement;
- 9.1.11 use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that sufficient quantities of transport media and/or packaging are always available at the relevant local facilities for use in connection with this Agreement; and
- 9.1.12 prior to commencing Services from any Warehouse Premises, undertake reasonable inspections and all necessary due diligence to ensure that the Warehouse Premises comply with the requirements set out in this Clause 9.1 and any other requirements of the Warehouse Premises set out in or referenced in this Agreement. Where any Warehouse Premises do not so comply (or where following an inspection by the Authority, the Authority reasonably considers that the Warehouse Premises do not so comply), the Contractor shall, at its own cost, put in place and implement a plan (such plan to be approved in advance by the Authority acting reasonably) to ensure compliance.
- 9.2 The Contractor agrees, where requested by the Authority from time to time in writing, to release Goods for delivery to the Authority's order without production of the relevant Combined Transport Bill(s) of Lading.

9.3 Stock Audit

- 9.3.1 The Contractor shall maintain a perpetual inventory count and conduct regular rolling Stock Audits so as to have audited total stockholding over each Month (overall and by Lot Code) and shall (without prejudice to any other reporting obligations in this Agreement) provide the following inventory reports to the Authority:
- (a) daily inventory report detailing actual volumes of Goods Received (broken down by Lot Code) at the Warehouse Premises and any discrepancies in accordance with Clause 11.3.1 and actual volumes of Goods Despatched (broken down by Lot Code) from the Warehouse Premises; and
- (b) weekly report detailing total volumes of Goods Received, total volumes of Goods Despatched, total volumes of Goods held at the Warehouse Premises and details of any Stock Loss identified in the previous week.
- 9.3.2 In the event that any report issued in accordance with this Clause 9.3 shows Stock Loss then the provisions of Clause 20.2 shall apply.

10 IT System

- 10.1 The Contractor shall, at its own expense, be responsible for the procurement, licensing, installation, implementation, development, configuration, hosting and maintenance of the IT Systems such that any IT Systems required for the delivery of the Services are available in order to enable full compliance with the terms of this Agreement (including any reporting obligations and Key Performance Indicators).
- 10.2 The Contractor shall ensure that the IT Systems meet ISO2700 standards, any policies notified to the Contractor by the Authority from time to time relevant to the storage or

processing of any data belonging to the Authority, and in any event offers security in accordance with Good Industry Practice.

- 10.3 Without prejudice to the remainder of this Clause 10, where the Contractor uses the IT Systems in the recording of the movement of Goods it shall ensure that all such records are accurate, up to date, and complete.
- 10.4 Subject to Clause 10.5, the Contractor shall, where requested to do so, use the Authority's Global Trade Management Platform or such other form of reporting as the Authority may reasonably require to record, and provide visibility to the Authority in respect of, the Contractor's provision of the Services.
- 10.5 The Authority shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure the right for to the Contractor to use the Global Trade Management Platform during the Term solely for the purpose of providing the service to the Authority under this Agreement and the Contractor shall comply with any such sub-licence terms that are agreed between the Authority and the licensor of the Global Trade Management Platform.
- 10.6 In the event that the Authority procures a licence pursuant to Clause 10.5 for the Contractor to access the Global Trade Management Platform the Contractor shall indemnify and keeps indemnified the Authority on demand from and against all and any losses, cost or expenses (including management costs and professional fees) whatsoever arising out of or in connection with any liability arising in respect of the Contractor's use of the Global Trade Management Platform and software licenced to the Contractor by the Authority.

11 Handling and responsibility for Goods

- 11.1 As between the Authority and the Contractor, all Goods:
 - 11.1.1 will be and will remain the exclusive property of the Authority at all times, or where applicable (with reference to the terms of purchase between the Authority and the supplier of those Goods) the property of the supplier of such Goods. Title to or ownership of the Goods does not pass to the Contractor under this Agreement;
 - 11.1.2 the Contractor will assert no interest in the Goods at any time, whether or not such Goods are in the Contractor's possession, custody, or control;
 - 11.1.3 the Contractor waives, and agrees not to assert, nor take any action to claim or perfect, any lien, charge or other encumbrance on any such Goods or any portion thereof; and
 - 11.1.4 to the extent that the Contractor engages Sub-Contractors or agents in connection with the Services, it will use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that such Sub-Contractors are also prevented from claiming or perfecting liens against the Goods.
- 11.2 Without prejudice to Clause 11.1, the Contractor shall not acquire any contractual, statutory or common law lien over Goods or any other property belonging to or in the possession of the Authority.
- 11.3 The Contractor undertakes in relation to the Goods which are in its possession or under its control from time to time to:
 - 11.3.1 upon unloading the Goods at the Warehouse Premises, to carry out a visual inspection of the Goods to assess the quantity and condition of any such Goods which are Received by the Contractor. In the event that the quantity or condition of Goods which are Received at the Warehouse Premises does not match any

documentation or instruction provided to the Contractor by the Authority or otherwise in the case of visible damage to the Goods, the Contractor shall:

- (a) within twenty four (24) hours notify the Authority of such discrepancy or damage; and
- (b) store (in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement) any excess or damaged Goods separately from the remaining Goods so as to be readily identifiable; and
- (c) comply with any reasonable instructions of the Authority in relation to any such excess or damaged Goods.
- 11.3.2 store and where applicable transport the Goods appropriately and in secure, dry and watertight conditions and in accordance with any reasonable instructions notified to it by the Authority or the third party supplier of the Goods;
- 11.3.3 hold such Goods solely to the Authority's order; and
- 11.3.4 store the Goods separately from any other property so as to be readily identifiable.
- 11.4 Subject to the terms of this Agreement, risk and responsibility for quantity and condition of the Goods will be with the Contractor from Receipt of the Goods and will continue until Despatch of those Goods.
- 11.5 The Authority may (acting by itself or by duly authorised representatives) on giving the Contractor at least twenty-four (24) hours' notice (which may be given verbally) in advance, enter upon any the Contractor's premises where any of the Goods are situated for the purposes of:
 - 11.5.1 fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement;
 - 11.5.2 exercising its rights under this Agreement;
 - 11.5.3 auditing of stock of the Goods at the Warehouse Premises;
 - 11.5.4 monitoring the Contractor's performance under this Agreement;
 - 11.5.5 inspecting the Warehouse Premises for the purpose of ascertaining compliance by the Contractor in respect of its obligations in this Agreement; and
 - 11.5.6 recovering any or all of those Goods, which it shall be entitled to do at any time and for any reason.
- 11.6 Any Warehouse Premises and all plant, materials, apparatus and tools used or provided by the Contractor for the provision of the Services or part thereof shall at all times be at the sole risk of the Contractor.
- 11.7 Where the Authority provides any equipment to the Contractor for the provision of the Services, the Contractor shall accept risk in such equipment and shall indemnify the Authority against any loss of or damage to that equipment whilst it is in the Contractor's possession.

12 Continuous Improvement

12.1 The Contractor shall have an ongoing obligation throughout the Term to identify new or potential improvements to the provision of the Services in accordance with this Clause 12 with a view to reducing the Authority's costs (including the Charges) and/or improving the quality and efficiency of the Services and their supply to the Authority. As part of this obligation the

Contractor shall identify and report to the Authority at each Quarterly Management Meeting (as defined in Schedule 5 (Governance)):

- 12.1.1 the emergence of new and evolving relevant technologies which could improve the provision of the Services, and those technological advances potentially available to the Contractor and the Authority which the Parties may wish to adopt;
- 12.1.2 new or potential improvements to the provision of the Services including the quality, responsiveness, procedures, benchmarking methods, likely performance mechanisms and Authority support, equipment and/or services in relation to the Services;
- 12.1.3 changes in business processes and ways of working that would enable the Services to be provided at lower costs and/or at greater benefits to the Authority; and/or
- 12.1.4 changes to ways of working that would enable reductions in the total energy consumed annually in the provision of the Services.
- 12.2 The Contractor shall ensure that the information that it provides to the Authority shall be sufficient for the Authority to decide whether any improvement should be implemented. The Contractor shall provide any further information that the Authority requests.
- 12.3 If the Authority wishes to incorporate any improvement identified by the Contractor, the Authority shall request a Variation in accordance with Clause 15 and the Contractor shall implement such Variation at no additional cost to the Authority.

13 Contractor Personnel

- 13.1 The Contractor shall ensure that all Contractor Personnel:
 - 13.1.1 are suitably qualified, adequately trained, fully supervised and possess suitable skills and experience for the performance of the Services in respect of which they are engaged;
 - 13.1.2 comply with all of the Authority's (or, where relevant, Central Government Body's) policies, rules, regulations and requirements (including those relating to security arrangements) as may be in force from time to time for conduct when at or outside the Authority Premises or premises of any other Central Government Body including, where the relevant Central Government Body is the Ministry of Defence, the relevant terms of Schedule 15 (MOD Terms);
 - 13.1.3 comply with all applicable Laws; and
 - 13.1.4 are subject to contractually binding confidentiality provisions (within their respective employment contracts or otherwise) which are no less onerous than the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement and which the Contractor undertakes to enforce at the Authority's request.
- 13.2 The Contractor shall ensure that:
 - 13.2.1 there is an adequate number of Contractor Personnel to provide the Services properly and in accordance with the Agreement; and
 - 13.2.2 only those people who are authorised by the Contractor are involved in providing the Services.
- 13.3 The Authority may refuse to grant access to and remove any of the Contractor Personnel who do not comply with Clause 13.1.2 or if they otherwise present a security threat or the Authority reasonably determines their presence to be undesirable.

- 13.4 The Contractor shall replace any of the Contractor Personnel who the Authority reasonably decides have failed to carry out their duties with reasonable skill and care. Following the removal of any of the Contractor Personnel for any reason, the Contractor shall ensure such person is replaced promptly with another person with the necessary training and skills to meet the requirements of the Services.
- 13.5 The Contractor shall comply with the Authority's procedures for the vetting of personnel and as advised to the Contractor by the Authority in respect of all persons employed or engaged in the provision of the Services.

14 Key Roles and Key Personnel

- 14.1 Schedule 13 to this Agreement lists the Key Roles and the names of the Key Personnel whom the Contractor shall appoint to perform those Key Roles as at the Effective Date.
- 14.2 The Contractor shall ensure that the Key Personnel fulfil the Key Roles at all times during the Term.
- 14.3 The Authority may identify any further roles as being Key Roles and, following agreement to the same by the Contractor, the relevant person selected to fill those Key Roles shall be included on the list of Key Personnel.
- 14.4 The Contractor acknowledges that the Key Personnel are essential to the proper provision of the Services to the Authority.
- 14.5 The Contractor shall not remove or replace any Key Personnel unless:
 - 14.5.1 requested to do so by the Authority;
 - 14.5.2 the person concerned resigns, retires or dies or is on maternity or long-term sick leave;
 - 14.5.3 the person's employment or contractual arrangement with the Contractor or a Sub-contractor is terminated for material breach of contract by the employee; or
 - 14.5.4 the Contractor obtains the Authority's prior written consent.
- 14.6 The Authority shall not unreasonably withhold its consent under Clause 14.5.4. Such consent shall be conditional on appropriate arrangements being made by the Contractor to minimise any adverse impact on the Agreement which could be caused by a change in Key Personnel.
- 14.7 The Contractor shall:
 - 14.7.1 notify the Authority promptly of the absence of any Key Personnel (other than for short-term sickness or holidays of two (2) weeks or less, in which case the Contractor shall ensure appropriate temporary cover for that Key Role);
 - 14.7.2 ensure that any Key Role is not vacant for any longer than ten (10) Working Days;
 - 14.7.3 give as much notice as is reasonably practicable of its intention to remove or replace any member of Key Personnel and, except in the cases of death, unexpected ill health or a material breach of the Key Personnel's employment contract, this will mean at least three (3) Months' notice;
 - 14.7.4 ensure that all arrangements for planned changes in Key Personnel provide adequate periods during which incoming and outgoing staff work together to transfer responsibilities and ensure that such change does not have an adverse impact on the provision of the Services; and

- 14.7.5 ensure that any replacement for a Key Role has a level of qualifications and experience appropriate to the relevant Key Role and is fully competent to carry out the tasks assigned to the Key Personnel whom he or she has replaced.
- 14.8 Without prejudice to Clause 13, the Authority may require the Contractor to remove or procure that any Sub- Contractor shall remove any Key Personnel that the Authority considers in any respect unsatisfactory. The Authority shall not be liable for the cost of replacing any Key Personnel.

15 Change

- 15.1 Variation Procedure
 - 15.1.1 Subject to the provisions of this Clause 15, either Party may request a variation to this Agreement provided that such variation does not amount to a material change of this Agreement within the meaning of the Regulations and the Law. Such a change once implemented is hereinafter called a **"Variation**".
 - 15.1.2 A Party may request a Variation by completing, signing and sending the a written variation request to the other Party giving sufficient information for the receiving Party to assess the extent of the proposed Variation and any additional cost that may be incurred ("**Variation Request**").
 - 15.1.3 Where the Authority has so specified on receipt of a Variation Request from the Contractor, the Contractor shall carry out an impact assessment of the Variation on the Services (the "**Impact Assessment**"). The Impact Assessment shall be completed in good faith and shall include:
 - (a) details of the impact of the proposed Variation on the Services and the Contractor's ability to meet its other obligations under this Agreement;
 - (b) details of the cost of implementing the proposed Variation;
 - details of the ongoing costs required by the proposed Variation when implemented, including any increase or decrease in the Charges, any alteration in the resources and/or expenditure required by either Party and any alteration to the working practices of either Party;
 - (d) a timetable for the implementation, together with any proposals for the testing of the Variation; and
 - (e) such other information as the Authority may reasonably request in (or in response to) the Variation Request.
 - 15.1.4 The Parties may agree to adjust the time limits specified in the Variation Request to allow for the preparation of the Impact Assessment.
 - 15.1.5 Subject to 15.1.4, the receiving Party shall respond to the request within the time limits specified in the Variation Request. Such time limits shall be reasonable and ultimately at the discretion of the Authority having regard to the nature of the Services and the proposed Variation.
 - 15.1.6 In the event that:
 - (a) the Contractor is unable to agree to or provide the Variation; and/or
 - (b) the Parties are unable to agree a change to the Charges that may be included in a request of a Variation or response to it as a consequence thereof,

the Authority may:

- (i) agree to continue to perform its obligations under this Agreement without the Variation; or
- (ii) terminate this Agreement with immediate effect, except where the Contractor has already fulfilled part or all of the provision of the Services in accordance with this Agreement or where the Contractor can show evidence of substantial work being carried out to provide the Services under this Agreement, and in such a case the Parties shall attempt to agree upon a resolution to the matter. Where a resolution cannot be reached, the matter shall be dealt with under the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 15.1.7 If the Parties agree the Variation, the Contractor shall implement such Variation and be bound by the same provisions so far as is applicable, as though such Variation was stated in this Agreement.

15.2 Legislative Change

- 15.2.1 The Contractor shall neither be relieved of its obligations under this Agreement nor be entitled to an increase in the Charges as the result of a:
- (a) General Change in Law;
- (b) Specific Change in Law where the effect of that Specific Change in Law on the Services is reasonably foreseeable at the Effective Date.
- 15.2.2 If a Specific Change in Law occurs or will occur during the Term (other than as referred to in Clause 15.2.1(b)), the Contractor shall:
- (a) notify the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable of the likely effects of that change including:
 - (i) whether any Variation is required to the provision of the Services, the Agreement Charges or this Agreement; and
 - (ii) whether any relief from compliance with the Contractors obligations is required, including any obligation to meet the Key Performance Indicators; and
- (b) provide to the Authority with evidence:
 - that the Contractor has minimised any increase in costs or maximised any reduction in costs, including in respect of the costs of its Sub-Contractors;
 - (ii) as to how the Specific Change in Law has affected the cost of providing the Services; and
 - (iii) demonstrating that any expenditure that has been avoided, for example which would have been required under the provisions of Clause 12, has been taken into account in amending the Agreement Charges.
- 15.2.3 Any change in the Charges or relief from the Contractors obligations resulting from a Specific Change in Law (other than as referred to in Clause 15.2.1(b)) shall be implemented in accordance with the procedure for making a Variation as set out at Clause 15.1.

16 Charges And Payment

16.1 Charges

- 16.1.1 In consideration of the Contractor carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, including the provision of the Services, the Authority shall pay the undisputed Charges in accordance with the pricing and payment profile and the invoicing procedure in Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing).
- 16.1.2 Except as otherwise provided, each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in respect of compliance with its obligations under this Agreement.
- 16.1.3 If the Authority fails to pay any undisputed Charges properly invoiced under this Agreement, the Contractor shall have the right to charge interest on the overdue amount at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, accruing on a daily basis from the due date up to the date of actual payment, whether before or after judgment.
- 16.1.4 Notwithstanding any obligations under this Agreement on the Contractor to pay costs, duty, taxes, charges, dues, deposits, outlays or other expenses in providing the Services, the Authority shall pay to the Contractor any reasonable costs and expenses wholly and reasonably incurred by the Contractor in the delivery of any Exceptional Instructions issued by Authority upon receipt by the Authority of evidence of payment by the Contractor and of a valid demand for payment from the Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 1.5 of Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing) provided that:
- (a) this Clause 16.1.4 shall not apply to any costs and expenses incurred to the extent that the Exceptional Instructions issued by the Authority result from any negligence, or failure by the Contractor to comply with the terms of this Agreement, or otherwise arise as part of a Service Rectification Plan;
- (b) this Clause 16.1.4 shall not apply to any cost or expense which would otherwise form part of the Charges, including (without limitation) in respect of any extended period of storage or fluctuations in volume of requirements for storage, which shall be calculated in accordance with Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing);
- (c) the Contractor uses reasonable endeavours to mitigate such costs and expenses; and
- (d) any such costs and expenses shall be agreed in advance by the Authority in writing.
- 16.2 VAT
 - 16.2.1 The Charges are stated exclusive of VAT, which shall be added at the prevailing rate as applicable and paid by the Authority following delivery of a valid invoice.
 - 16.2.2 The Contractor shall indemnify the Authority on a continuing basis against any liability, including any interest, penalties or costs incurred, which is levied, demanded or assessed on the Authority at any time (whether before or after the making of a demand pursuant to the indemnity hereunder) in respect of the Contractors failure to account for or to pay any VAT relating to payments made to the Contractor under this Agreement. Any amounts due under Clause 16.2.1 shall be paid in cleared funds by the Contractor to the Authority not less than five (5) Working Days before the date upon which the tax or other liability is payable by the Authority.
- 16.3 Retention and Set Off

- 16.3.1 The Authority may retain or set off any amount owed to it by the Contractor against any amount due to the Contractor under this Agreement or under any other agreement between the Contractor and the Authority.
- 16.3.2 If the Authority wishes to exercise its right pursuant to Clause 16.3.1 it shall give notice to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt of the relevant invoice, setting out the Authority's reasons for retaining or setting off the relevant Charges.
- 16.3.3 The Contractor shall make any payments due to the Authority without any deduction whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or otherwise unless the Contractor has obtained a sealed court order requiring an amount equal to such deduction to be paid by the Authority to the Contractor.

16.4 Foreign Currency

- 16.4.1 Any requirement of Law to account for the Services in any currency other than Sterling, (or to prepare for such accounting) instead of and/or in addition to Sterling, shall be implemented by the Contractor free of charge to the Authority.
- 16.4.2 The Authority shall provide all reasonable assistance to facilitate compliance with Clause 16.4.1 by the Contractor.
- 16.5 Income Tax and National Insurance Contributions
 - 16.5.1 Where the Contractor or any Contractor Personnel are liable to be taxed in the UK or to pay national insurance contributions in respect of consideration received under this Agreement, the Contractor shall:
 - (a) at all times comply with the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 and all other statutes and regulations relating to income tax, and the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 and all other statutes and regulations relating to national insurance contributions, in respect of that consideration; and
 - (b) indemnify the Authority against any income tax, national insurance and social security contributions and any other liability, deduction, contribution, assessment or claim arising from or made (whether before or after the making of a demand pursuant to the indemnity hereunder) in connection with the provision of the Services by the Contractor or any Contractor Personnel.
 - 16.5.2 In the event that any one of the Contractor Personnel is a Worker as defined in Schedule 1 (Definitions) who receives consideration relating to the Services, then, in addition to its obligations under Clause 16.5.1, the Contractor shall ensure that its contract with the Worker contains the following requirements:
 - (a) that the Authority may, at any time during the Term, request that the Worker provides information which demonstrates how the Worker complies with the requirements of Clause 16.5.1, or why those requirements do not apply to it. In such case, the Authority may specify the information which the Worker must provide and the period within which that information must be provided;
 - (b) that the Worker's contract may be terminated at the Authority's request if:
 - (i) the Worker fails to provide the information requested by the Authority within the time specified by the Authority under Clause 16.5.2(a); and/or
 - the Worker provides information which the Authority considers is inadequate to demonstrate how the Worker complies with Clause 16.5.1 or confirms that the Worker is not complying with those requirements; and

(c) that the Authority may supply any information it receives from the Worker to HMRC for the purpose of the collection and management of revenue for which they are responsible.

17 Promoting Tax Compliance

- 17.1 This Clause 17 shall apply if the Charges payable under this Agreement exceed or are likely to exceed five million pounds (£5,000,000) during the Term.
- 17.2 If, at any point during the Term, an Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance occurs, the Contractor shall:
 - 17.2.1 notify the Authority in writing of such fact within five (5) Working Days of its occurrence; and
 - 17.2.2 promptly provide to the Authority:
 - (a) details of the steps that the Contractor is taking to address the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance and to prevent the same from recurring, together with any mitigating factors that it considers relevant; and
 - (b) such other information in relation to the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance as the Authority may reasonably require.
- 17.3 In the event that the Contractor fails to comply with this Clause 17 and/or does not provide details of proposed mitigating factors which in the reasonable opinion of the Authority are acceptable, then the Authority reserves the right to terminate this Agreement for material Default.

18 Benchmarking

Notwithstanding the Contractors obligations under Clause 1212, the Authority shall be entitled to regularly conduct benchmarking in accordance with Schedule 9 (Benchmarking).

19 Intellectual Property Rights

- 19.1 All Intellectual Property Rights in any guidance, know-how, specifications, instructions, toolkits, plans, data, drawings, databases, patents, patterns, models, designs or other material (the "IP Materials"):
 - 19.1.1 furnished to or made available to the Contractor by or on behalf of the Authority shall remain the property of the Authority; and
 - 19.1.2 prepared by or for the Contractor on behalf of the Authority for use, or intended use, in relation to the performance by the Contractor of its obligations under the Agreement shall belong to the Authority;

and the Contractor shall not, and shall ensure that the Contractor Personnel shall not, (except when necessary for the performance of the Agreement) without prior written consent, use or disclose any Intellectual Property Rights in the IP Materials.

- 19.2 The Contractor hereby assigns to the Authority, with full title guarantee, all Intellectual Property Rights which may subsist in the IP Materials prepared in accordance with Clause 19.1.2. This assignment shall take effect on the Effective Date or as a present assignment of future rights that will take effect immediately on the coming into existence of the Intellectual Property Rights produced by the Contractor. The Contractor shall execute all documentation necessary to execute such assignment.
- 19.3 The Authority hereby grants a royalty free, non-exclusive, licence (with no right to sub-licence) for the duration of the Term to the Contractor to use all Intellectual Property Rights which may

subsist in the IP Materials prepared in accordance with Clause 19.1.2. This licence shall take effect on the Effective Date.

- 19.4 The Contractor grants to the Authority a royalty-free, irrevocable and non-exclusive licence (with a right to sub-licence) to use any Intellectual Property Rights that the Contractor owned or developed prior to the Effective Date and which the Authority reasonably requires in order to exercise its rights and take the benefit of the Agreement including the Services.
- 19.5 The Contractor shall waive or procure a waiver of any moral rights subsisting in copyright created in the Services or the performance thereof.
- 19.6 The Contractor shall ensure that the third party owner of any Intellectual Property Rights that are or which may be used to perform the Agreement grants to the Authority a non-exclusive licence or, if itself a licensee of those rights, shall grant to the Authority an authorised sub-licence, to use, reproduce, modify, develop and maintain such Intellectual Property Rights. Such licence or sub-licence shall be non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty free and irrevocable and shall include the right for the Authority to sub-license, transfer, novate or assign to any assignee or novatee of this Agreement, the Replacement Contractor or to any other third party supplying services to the Authority.
- 19.7 The Contractor shall not infringe any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party in supplying the Services and the Contractor shall, during and after the Term, indemnify and keep indemnified and hold the Authority and the Crown harmless from and against all actions, suits, claims, demands, losses, charges, damages, costs and expenses and other liabilities which the Authority or the Crown may suffer or incur as a result of or in connection with any breach of this clause, except where any such claim arises from:
 - 19.7.1 items or materials based upon designs supplied by the Authority; or
 - 19.7.2 the use of data supplied by the Authority which is not required to be verified by the Contractor under any provision of this Agreement.
- 19.8 The Authority shall notify the Contractor in writing of any claim or demand brought against the Authority for infringement or alleged infringement of any Intellectual Property Right in materials supplied or licensed by the Contractor.
- 19.9 The Contractor shall at its own expense conduct all negotiations and any litigation arising in connection with any claim for breach of Intellectual Property Rights in materials supplied or licensed by the Contractor, provided always that the Contractor:
 - 19.9.1 shall consult the Authority on all substantive issues which arise during the conduct of such litigation and negotiations;
 - 19.9.2 shall take due and proper account of the interests of the Authority; and
 - 19.9.3 shall not settle or compromise any claim without the Authority's prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
- 19.10 The Authority shall at the request of the Contractor afford to the Contractor all reasonable assistance for the purpose of contesting any claim or demand made or action brought against the Authority or the Contractor by a third party for infringement or alleged infringement of any third party Intellectual Property Rights in connection with the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement and the Contractor shall indemnify the Authority for all costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, legal costs and disbursements) incurred in doing so. The Contractor shall not, however, be required to indemnify the Authority in relation to any costs and expenses incurred in relation to or arising out of a claim, demand or action which relates to the matters in Clauses 19.7.1 or 19.7.2.

- 19.11 The Authority shall not make any admissions which may be prejudicial to the defence or settlement of any claim, demand or action for infringement or alleged infringement of any Intellectual Property Right by the Authority or the Contractor in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.
- 19.12 If a claim, demand or action for infringement or alleged infringement of any Intellectual Property Right is made in connection with this Agreement or, in the reasonable opinion of the Contractor, is likely to be made, the Contractor shall notify the Authority and, at its own expense and subject to the consent of the Authority (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), use its best endeavours to:
 - 19.12.1 modify any or all of the Services without reducing the performance or functionality of the same, or substitute alternative Services of equivalent performance and functionality, so as to avoid the infringement or the alleged infringement, provided that the provisions herein shall apply mutates mutandis to such modified Services or to the substitute Services; or
 - 19.12.2 procure a licence to use and supply the Services, which are the subject of the alleged infringement, on terms which are acceptable to the Authority; and
 - 19.12.3 in the event that the Contractor is unable to comply with Clauses 19.12.1 or 19.12.2 within twenty (20) Working Days of receipt of the Contractor's notification the Authority may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by written notice.

20 Liability

- 20.1 Unlimited Liability
 - 20.1.1 Neither Party excludes or limits it liability for:
 - (a) death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, agents or Sub-Contractors (as applicable);
 - (b) bribery or fraud by it or its employees;
 - (c) breach of any obligation as to title implied by section 12 of the Sale of Goods Act 1979 or section 2 of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982;
 - (d) the indemnities at Clauses 10.6, 11.7, 16.2.2, 16.5.1(b), 19.7, 19.10, and 28.2; or
 - (e) any liability to the extent it cannot be excluded or limited by Law.

20.2 Stock Loss

20.2.1 The Contractor shall pay to the Authority within thirty (30) days of the end of each Month (or at the request of the Authority credit against the next invoice issued in respect of the Services) a sum equal to the net aggregated Stock Loss over the immediately preceding Month of the Term (measured across Stock Audits completed and reported in accordance with Clause 9.3), subject to the Stock Loss Tolerance, multiplied by the Cost Value of any such lost or damaged Goods.

20.3 Financial Limits

- 20.3.1 Subject to Clause 20.1 and 20.4, the Contractor's liability for all matters arising (whether in contract tort or otherwise) out of or in connection with the delivery of the Services shall be determined and limited as follows:
- (a) in respect of any claim relating to loss or damage to the Goods in connection with the Services, a sum equal to the lesser of:

- (i) the Cost Value of any such lost or damaged Goods; and
- (ii) ten million pounds (\pounds 10,000,000);
- (b) in respect of any other Losses shall be determined and limited:
 - (i) in relation to any Losses arising from the Effective Date to the end of the first Agreement Year, a sum equal to 150% Estimated Year 1 Charges; and
 - (ii) in relation to any Losses arising in each subsequent Agreement Year, a sum equal to the 150% of the Charges payable to the Contractor under this Agreement in the previous Agreement Year.
- 20.3.2 For the purposes of Clause 20.3.1 above
- (a) the value of the Goods shall be the price invoiced by the relevant supplier to the Authority (including any freight costs) for the purchase or manufacture of the Goods which have been lost or damaged following Receipt ("**Cost Value**"); and
- (b) the Contractor shall be treated as principal responsible for the acts and omissions of third parties it has engaged for the performance of the Services in the same manner as if such acts and omissions were its own.
- 20.3.3 Subject to Clause 20.1 and without prejudice to its obligation to pay the undisputed Charges as and when they fall due for payment, the Authority's total aggregate liability in respect of all Losses as a result of Authority Causes shall be limited to:
- (a) in relation to any Losses arising from the Effective Date to the end of the first Agreement Year, a sum equal to the Estimated Year 1 Charges; and
- (b) in relation to any Losses arising in each subsequent Agreement Year, a sum equal to the Charges payable to the Contractor under this Agreement in the previous Agreement Year.
- 20.4 Non-recoverable Losses
 - 20.4.1 Subject to Clause 20.1 neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for any:
 - (a) indirect, special or consequential loss; or
 - (b) loss of profits, turnover, savings, business opportunities or damage to goodwill (in each case whether direct or indirect).
- 20.5 Provided that the Contractor has complied with all its obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor shall not be liable for any Losses, or delays which it objectively demonstrates to the Authority result directly from:
 - 20.5.1 the act, default or omission of the Authority, its agents or sub-contractors involved in the handling of the Goods or any other consignee or consignor of the Goods (where not the Contractor or its agents of Sub-Contractors);
 - 20.5.2 any inherent defect in the Goods; or
 - 20.5.3 without limiting the generality of Clause 20.4.1 its reliance on any materially inaccurate instructions, information or documentation received by the Contractor in connection with the transportation, storage or handling of Goods,

provided that:

- 20.5.4 where the Contractor becomes aware or ought reasonably to have become aware (acting reasonably as a skilled provider of the Services and having regard to all the circumstances) of the occurrence of any of the circumstances described in Clauses 20.5.1 to 20.5.3 above it shall immediately inform the Authority;
- 20.5.5 wherever possible, take all reasonable steps to rectify the situation (including taking all reasonable steps to obtain any correct information); and
- 20.5.6 the Contractor shall mitigate any such Losses or delays.
- 20.6 Recoverable Losses
 - 20.6.1 Subject to Clause 20.2 and notwithstanding Clause 20.4, the Contractor acknowledges that the Authority may, amongst other things, recover from the Contractor the following Losses incurred by the Authority to the extent that they arise as a result of a Default by the Contractor or any of its Sub-Contractors:
 - (a) any additional operational and/or administrative costs and expenses incurred by the Authority, including costs relating to time spent by or on behalf of the Authority in dealing with the consequences of the Default;
 - (b) any wasted expenditure or charges (including expedited freight costs);
 - (c) the additional cost of procuring Replacement Services for the remainder of the Term, which shall include any incremental costs associated with such Replacement Services above those which would have been payable under this Agreement;
 - (d) any compensation or interest paid to a third party by the Authority; and
 - (e) any fine, penalty or costs incurred by the Authority pursuant to Law.
- 20.7 Each Party shall use all reasonable endeavours to mitigate any loss or damage suffered arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.

21 Insurance

21.1 The Contractor shall provide and maintain in accordance with Schedule 8 (Insurance Requirements) at all times the Insurances set out in that Schedule, and, in addition in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 8 (Insurance Requirements) transport and warehouse operator's general liability insurance so as to fully cover, as a minimum, its potential liability to the Authority, and where applicable any third party, under the terms of this Agreement.

22 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery

22.1 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 10 (Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery).

23 Termination on Insolvency and Change Of Control

The Authority may terminate the Agreement with immediate effect by giving written notice:

- 23.1 where the Contractor is a company:
 - 23.1.1 the Contractor suffers an Insolvency Event;
 - 23.1.2 the Contractor suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, to carry on all or a substantial part of his business; or

- 23.1.3 in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, there is a material detrimental change in the financial standing and/or the credit rating of the Contractor which:
- (a) adversely impacts on the Contractor's ability to supply the Services in accordance with the Agreement; or
- (b) could reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the Contractor's ability to supply the Services in accordance with the Agreement; or
- 23.1.4 the Contractor demerges into two or more firms, merges with another firm, incorporates or otherwise changes its legal form and the new entity has or could reasonably be expected to have a materially less good financial standing or weaker credit rating than the Contractor; or
- 23.1.5 being a "small company" within the meaning of section 382(3) of the Companies Act 2006, a moratorium in respect of the Contractor comes into force pursuant to Schedule A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or
- 23.2 The Contractor being an individual dies or is adjudged incapable of managing his affairs within the meaning of Part VII of the Mental Health Act 1983; or
- 23.3 The Contractor being an individual or any partner or partners in the Contractor who together are able to exercise control of the Contractor where the Contractor is a firm shall at any time become bankrupt or shall have a receiving order or administration order made against him or them, or shall make any composition or arrangement with or for the benefit for his or their creditors, or shall make any conveyance or assignment for the benefit of his or their creditors, or shall purport to do any of these things, or appears or appear unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay a debt within the meaning of section 268 of the Insolvency Act 1986, or he or they shall become apparently insolvent within the meaning of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985, or any application shall be made under any bankruptcy or insolvency act for the time being in force for sequestration of his or their estate(s) or a trust deed shall be granted by him or them on behalf of his or their creditors; or
- 23.4 Any event similar to those listed in Clauses 23.1 to 23.3 occurs under the law of any other jurisdiction.
- 23.5 The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately if the Contractor undergoes a change of control within the meaning of sections 450 and 451 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 ("**Change of Control**"). The Authority may terminate the Agreement by notice in writing with immediate effect within six (6) Months of:
 - 23.5.1 being notified that a Change of Control has occurred or is planned or is in contemplation; or
 - 23.5.2 where no notification has been made, the date that the Authority becomes aware of the Change of Control,

but shall not be permitted to terminate where the Authority's written consent to the continuation of the Agreement was granted prior to the Change of Control.

24 Termination on Default

Without prejudice to any rights of the Authority under Schedule 3 (Performance Standards and Key Performance Indicators):

24.1 In the case of a breach of any of the terms of this Agreement by the Contractor that is capable of remedy (including, without limitation any failure to pay any sums due under this Agreement), the Authority shall, without prejudice to its other rights and remedies under this Agreement, issue notice of the breach and allow the Contractor the opportunity to remedy such breach in the first instance via a remedial proposal put forward by the Contractor

("**Remedial Proposal**") before exercising any right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with Clause 24.2. Such Remedial Proposal must be agreed with the Authority (such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and must be implemented by the Contractor in accordance with the timescales referred to in the agreed Remedial Proposal. Once agreed, any changes to a Remedial Proposal must be approved by the Parties in writing. Any failure by the Contractor to:

- 24.1.1 put forward and agree a Remedial Proposal with the Authority in relation to the relevant Default within a period of ten (10) Working Days (or such other period as the non-breaching Party may agree in writing) from written notification of the relevant Default from the Authority;
- 24.1.2 comply with such Remedial Proposal (including, without limitation, as to its timescales for implementation, which shall be thirty (30) days unless otherwise agreed between the Parties); and/or
- 24.1.3 remedy the Default notwithstanding the implementation of such Remedial Proposal in accordance with the agreed timescales for implementation,

shall be deemed, for the purposes of Clause 24.2.1(b), a material breach of this Agreement by the Contractor not remedied in accordance with an agreed Remedial Proposal.

- 24.2 The Authority may terminate the Agreement, or terminate the provision of any part of the Services, with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Contractor if the Contractor:
 - 24.2.1 commits a material Default of any of the terms of this Agreement which is:
 - (a) not capable of remedy; or
 - (b) in the case of a breach capable of remedy, which is not remedied in accordance with a Remedial Proposal; or
 - 24.2.2 has been served with at least two (2) previous breach notices as a result of any material Defaults which are capable of remedy within any twelve (12) Month rolling period whether or not the Contractor has remedied the breach in accordance with a Remedial Proposal. The twelve (12) Months rolling period is the twelve (12) Months immediately preceding the date of the third breach notice.
- 24.3 The Authority shall be entitled to terminate the Agreement with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Contractor where the warranty given by the Contractor pursuant to Clause 4.2.6 is materially untrue, the Contractor commits a material breach of its obligation to notify the Authority of any Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance as required by Clause 4.2.6(a), or the Contractor fails to provide details of proposed mitigating factors as required by Clause 4.2.6(b) that in the reasonable opinion of the Authority are acceptable.
- 24.4 If the Authority fails to pay the Contractor undisputed sums of money after thirty (30) days of having received a valid invoice, the Contractor shall notify the Authority in writing of such failure to pay. If the Authority fails to pay such undisputed sums within ninety (90) Working Days of the date of such written notice, the Contractor may terminate the Agreement in writing with immediate effect, save that such right of termination shall not apply where the failure to pay is due to the Authority exercising its rights under Clause 16.3.

25 Termination for Breach of the Regulations

25.1 The Authority may terminate the Agreement with immediate effect by giving written notice to the Contractor on the occurrence of any of the statutory provisions contained in Regulation 73(1)(a) to (c) of the Regulations.

26 Consequences of Expiry or Earlier Termination

- 26.1 Upon termination or expiry of this Agreement (howsoever arising):
 - 26.1.1 the Contractor shall complete the provision of any outstanding Services which the Contractor commenced prior to the date of termination pursuant to an Instruction, and
 - (a) at its own cost complete a full Stock Audit of the Goods and account to the Authority for any Goods held by the Contractor at the date of such termination or expiry with written details of the whereabouts, description and volume of such Goods together with any Shrinkage identified in such final Stock Audit; and
 - (b) pay to the Authority (or at the election of the Authority credit from any final invoice) a sum equal to the equal to the aggregated Stock Loss identified on expiry or termination of the Agreement, subject to the Stock Loss Tolerance, multiplied by the Cost Value of any such lost or damaged Goods (save to the extent that the Authority has already been compensated for any such lost or damaged Goods in accordance with Clause 20.2.1); and
 - (c) on the terms of this Agreement, make available all Goods held by the Contractor at the date of termination or expiry for collection by the Authority (or its nominated agents) at such times or dates as the Authority may reasonably require, and for the avoidance of doubt any charges for any storage up to the point of collection shall be calculated in accordance with Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing);
 - 26.1.2 subject to Clauses 26.3 and 26.4, the Authority shall pay all outstanding undisputed sums due to the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement, including, for the avoidance of doubt, for the provision of such Services referred to in Clause 26.1.1 above.
- 26.2 The Parties shall comply with the exit management provisions set out in Schedule 12 (Exit Management).
- 26.3 Where the Authority terminates the Agreement under Clause 24 and then makes other arrangements for the supply of Services, the Authority may withhold and/or recover from the Contractor the cost reasonably incurred of making those other arrangements and any additional expenditure incurred by the Authority throughout the remainder of the Term. The Authority shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate such additional expenditure.
- 26.4 Where the Agreement is terminated under Clause 24, no further payments shall be made by the Authority to the Contractor (for Services supplied by the Contractor prior to termination and in accordance with the Agreement but where the payment has yet to be made by the Authority), until the Authority has established the final cost of arranging an alternative supplier of the Services.
- 26.5 Save as otherwise expressly provided in the Agreement:
 - 26.5.1 termination or expiry of the Agreement shall be without prejudice to any rights, remedies or obligations accrued under the Agreement prior to termination or expiration and nothing in the Agreement shall prejudice the right of either Party to recover any amount outstanding at such termination or expiry; and
 - 26.5.2 any clause which is to continue in force, whether expressly or by implication, shall do so.

27 Confidentiality

- 27.1 For the purposes of this Clause 27, the term "**Disclosing Party**" shall mean a Party which discloses or makes available directly or indirectly its Confidential Information and "**Recipient**" shall mean the Party which receives or obtains directly or indirectly Confidential Information.
- 27.2 Except to the extent set out in the rest of this Clause 27 or where disclosure is expressly permitted elsewhere in this Agreement, the Recipient shall:
 - 27.2.1 treat the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information as confidential and keep it in secure custody (which is appropriate depending upon the form in which such materials are stored and the nature of the Confidential Information contained in those materials); and
 - 27.2.2 not disclose the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information to any other person except as expressly set out in this Agreement or without obtaining the owner's prior written consent;
 - 27.2.3 not use or exploit the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information in any way except for the purposes anticipated under this Agreement; and
 - 27.2.4 immediately notify the Disclosing Party if it suspects or becomes aware of any unauthorised access, copying, use or disclosure in any form of any of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information.
- 27.3 The Recipient shall be entitled to disclose the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party where:
 - 27.3.1 the Recipient is required to disclose the Confidential Information by Law, provided that Clause 30 shall apply to disclosures required under the FOIA or the EIRs;
 - 27.3.2 the need for such disclosure arises out of or in connection with:
 - (a) any legal challenge or potential legal challenge against the Authority arising out of or in connection with this Agreement;
 - (b) the examination and certification of the Authority's accounts (provided that the disclosure is made on a confidential basis) or for any examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority is making use of any Services provided under this Agreement; or
 - (c) the conduct of a Central Government Body review in respect of this Agreement; or
 - (d) the Recipient has reasonable grounds to believe that the Disclosing Party is involved in activity that may constitute a criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010 and the disclosure is being made to the Serious Fraud Office.
- 27.4 If the Recipient is required by Law to make a disclosure of Confidential Information, the Recipient shall as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent permitted by Law notify the Disclosing Party of the full circumstances of the required disclosure including the relevant Law and/or regulatory body requiring such disclosure and the Confidential Information to which such disclosure would apply.
- 27.5 Subject to Clause 27.2, the Contractor may only disclose the Confidential Information of the Authority on a confidential basis to:
 - 27.5.1 Contractor Personnel who are directly involved in the provision of the Services and need to know the Confidential Information to enable performance of the Contractors obligations under this Agreement; and

- 27.5.2 its professional advisers for the purposes of obtaining advice in relation to this Agreement.
- 27.6 Where the Contractor discloses Confidential Information of the Authority pursuant to Clause 27.5, it shall remain responsible at all times for compliance with the confidentiality obligations set out in this Agreement by the persons to whom disclosure has been made.
- 27.7 The Authority may disclose the Confidential Information of the Contractor:
 - 27.7.1 to any Central Government Body on the basis that the information may only be further disclosed to Central Government Bodies;
 - 27.7.2 to the British Parliament and any committees of the British Parliament or if required by any British Parliamentary reporting requirement;
 - 27.7.3 to the extent that the Authority (acting reasonably) deems disclosure necessary or appropriate in the course of carrying out its public functions;
 - 27.7.4 on a confidential basis to a professional adviser, consultant, Contractor or other person engaged by any of the entities described in Clause 27.7.1 (including any benchmarking organisation) for any purpose relating to or connected with this Agreement;
 - 27.7.5 on a confidential basis for the purpose of the exercise of its rights under this Agreement; or
 - 27.7.6 to a proposed transferee, assignee or novatee of, or successor in title to, the Authority,

and for the purposes of the foregoing, references to disclosure on a confidential basis shall mean disclosure subject to a confidentiality agreement or arrangement containing terms no less stringent than those placed on the Authority under this Clause 27.

- 27.8 Nothing in this Clause 27 shall prevent a Recipient from using any techniques, ideas or Know-How gained during the performance of this Agreement in the course of its normal business to the extent that this use does not result in a disclosure of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information or an infringement of Intellectual Property Rights.
- 27.9 In the event that the Contractor fails to comply with Clauses 27.2 to 27.5, the Authority reserves the right to terminate this Agreement for material Default.

28 Personal Data

- 28.1 The Parties shall comply with the terms of Schedule 7 (Data Protection).
- 28.2 The Contractor shall indemnify the Authority for all Losses arising as a result of the Contractor's (or any of its Sub-Contractors') Default in respect of Schedule 7 (Data Protection).

29 Transparency

- 29.1 The Contractor recognises that the Authority is subject to PPN 01/17: Update to Transparency Principles (<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0117-update-to-transparency-principles</u>). The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of this Clause 29 in order to assist the Authority with its compliance with its obligations under that PPN.
- 29.2 The Parties agree and acknowledge that the content of this Agreement is not Confidential Information, except for:

- 29.2.1 any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA, which shall be determined by the Authority; and
- 29.2.2 Commercially Sensitive Information.
- 29.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Contractor hereby gives its consent for the Authority to publish this Agreement in its entirety (but with any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA redacted), including any changes to this Agreement agreed from time to time. The Authority may consult with the Contractor to inform its decision regarding any redactions but shall have the final decision in its absolute discretion.
- 29.4 The Contractor shall assist and cooperate with the Authority to enable the Authority to publish this Agreement.

30 Freedom of Information

- 30.1 The Contractor acknowledges that the Authority is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the EIRs. The Contractor shall:
 - 30.1.1 provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably requested by the Authority to enable the Authority to comply with its Information disclosure obligations under the FOIA and EIRs;
 - 30.1.2 transfer to the Authority all Requests for Information relating to this Agreement that it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within two (2) Working Days of receipt;
 - 30.1.3 provide the Authority with a copy of all Information belonging to the Authority requested in the Request for Information which is in its possession or control in the form that the Authority requires within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Authority may reasonably specify) of the Authority's request for such Information; and
 - 30.1.4 not respond directly to a Request for Information unless authorised in writing to do so by the Authority.
- 30.2 The Contractor acknowledges that the Authority may be required under the FOIA and EIRs to disclose Information (including Commercially Sensitive Information) without consulting or obtaining consent from the Contractor. The Authority shall take reasonable steps to notify the Contractor of a Request for Information (in accordance with the Secretary of State's Section 45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of the Functions of Public Authorities under Part 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and reasonably practical for it to do so but (notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement) the Authority shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the FOIA and/or the EIRs.

31 Audit Rights

- 31.1 The Authority, acting by itself or through its duly authorised third party auditor agents or Sub-Contractors, shall have the right throughout the duration of the Agreement and for a period of eighteen (18) Months thereafter, to assess compliance by the Contractor and/or its Key Sub-Contractors of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, including for the following purposes:
 - 31.1.1 to verify the integrity and content of any financial report;
 - 31.1.2 to verify the accuracy of the Charges and any other amounts payable by the Authority under this Agreement (and proposed or actual variations to such Charges and payments);

- 31.1.3 to verify the Charges (including the amounts paid to all Sub-Contractors and any third-party suppliers);
- 31.1.4 to verify the volumes of Goods held at the Warehouse Premises;
- 31.1.5 to verify the Contractor's and each Key Sub-Contractor's compliance with this Agreement and applicable Law;
- 31.1.6 to identify or investigate actual or suspected fraud, impropriety or accounting mistakes or any breach or threatened breach of security and in these circumstances the Authority shall have no obligation to inform the Contractor of the purpose or objective of its investigations;
- 31.1.7 to identify or investigate any circumstances which may impact upon the financial stability of the Contractor and/or any Key Sub-Contractors or their ability to perform the Services;
- 31.1.8 to obtain such information as is necessary to fulfil the Authority's obligations to supply information for parliamentary, ministerial, judicial or administrative purposes including the supply of information to the Comptroller and Auditor General;
- 31.1.9 to review any books of account and the internal contract management accounts kept by the Contractor in connection with this Agreement;
- 31.1.10 to carry out the Authority's internal and statutory audits and to prepare, examine and/or certify the Authority's annual and interim reports and accounts;
- 31.1.11 to enable the National Audit Office to carry out an examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority has used its resources;
- 31.1.12 to verify the accuracy and completeness of any Management Information delivered or required by this Agreement;
- 31.1.13 to review any performance management reports and/or other records relating to the Contractor's performance of the Services and to verify that these reflect the Contractor's own internal reports and records;
- 31.1.14 to inspect the IT environment (or any part of it) and the wider service delivery environment (or any part of it);
- 31.1.15 to review the Contractor's quality management systems, manuals and procedures;
- 31.1.16 to review the Contractor's compliance with the Standards;
- 31.1.17 to inspect the equipment and facilities and any Goods held by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement, for the purposes of ensuring that the Goods are secure; and/or
- 31.1.18 to review the integrity, confidentiality and security of the data relating to the Goods held by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.
- 31.2 Except where an audit is imposed on the Authority by a regulatory body or where the Authority has reasonable grounds for believing that the Contractor has not complied with its obligations under this Agreement, the Authority may not conduct an audit of the Contractor or of the same Key Sub-Contractor more than twice in any Agreement Year.

31.3 Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or restrict the rights of the Comptroller and/or Auditor General and/or their representatives from carrying out an audit, examination or investigation of the Contractor and/or any of the Key Sub-Contractors for the purposes of and pursuant to applicable Law.

32 Conduct of Audits

- 32.1 The Authority shall during each audit comply with those security, sites, systems and facilities operating procedures of the Contractor that the Authority deems reasonable and use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Contractor or delay the provision of the Services.
- 32.2 Subject to the Authority's obligations of confidentiality, the Contractor shall on demand provide the Authority and its third party agents or Sub-Contractors with all reasonable co-operation and assistance (and shall procure such co-operation and assistance from its Sub-Contractors) in relation to each audit, including:
 - 32.2.1 all information requested by the Authority within the permitted scope of the audit;
 - 32.2.2 reasonable access to any Sites and to any equipment used (whether exclusively or non-exclusively) in the performance of the Services;
 - 32.2.3 access to the Contractor systems (including relevant access to the IT System); and
 - 32.2.4 access to Contractor Personnel.
- 32.3 The Contractor shall implement all measurement and monitoring tools and procedures necessary to measure and report on the Contractor's performance of the Services against the applicable Key Performance Indicators at a level of detail sufficient to verify compliance with the Key Performance Indicators.
- 32.4 The Authority shall endeavour to (but is not obliged to) provide at least fifteen (15) Working Days' notice of its intention to conduct an audit.
- 32.5 The Parties agree that they shall bear their own respective costs and expenses incurred in respect of compliance with their obligations under this clause, unless the audit identifies a material Default by the Contractor in which case the Contractor shall reimburse the Authority for all the Authority's reasonable costs incurred in connection with the audit.
- 32.6 As an alternative to the Authority's right pursuant to this clause to exercise an audit either itself or through its duly authorised third party agents or sub-contractors, the Authority may require in writing that an audit is undertaken by the Contractor's own internal audit function for any of the purposes set out in Clause 31.1. Following the receipt of a request from the Authority under this Clause, the Contractor shall procure that the relevant audit is undertaken as soon as reasonably practicable and that the Authority has unfettered access to:
 - 32.6.1 the resultant audit reports; and
 - 32.6.2 all relevant members of the Contractor's internal audit team for the purpose of understanding such audit reports.

33 Response to audits

- 33.1 If an audit undertaken pursuant to Clause 31.1 or 31.3 identifies that:
 - 33.1.1 the Contractor has committed a Default, the Authority may (without prejudice to any rights and remedies the Authority may have) require the Contractor to correct such Default as soon as reasonably practicable;

- 33.1.2 there is an error in a financial report submitted by the Contractor, the Contractor shall promptly rectify the error;
- 33.1.3 the Authority has overpaid any Charges, the Contractor shall pay to the Authority:
- (a) the amount overpaid;
- (b) interest on the amount overpaid at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, accruing on a daily basis from the date of overpayment by the Authority up to the date of repayment by the Contractor; and
- (c) the reasonable costs incurred by the Authority in undertaking the audit,

the Authority may exercise its right to deduct such amount from the Charges if it prefers; or

33.1.4 the Authority has underpaid any Charges, the Contractor shall not be entitled to increase the Charges paid or payable by the Authority.

34 Publicity and branding

- 34.1 The Contractor shall not:
 - 34.1.1 make any press announcements or publicise this Agreement in any way; or
 - 34.1.2 use the Authority's name or brand in any promotion or marketing or announcement of orders,

without approval (the decision of the Authority to Approve or not shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

34.2 Each Party acknowledges to the other that nothing in this Agreement either expressly or by implication constitutes an endorsement of any products or services of the other Party and each Party agrees not to conduct itself in such a way as to imply or express any such approval or endorsement.

35 Force majeure

- 35.1 Subject to the remainder of Clause 35 (and, in relation to the Contractor, subject to its compliance with any obligations in Clause 22.1 and Schedule 10 (Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery)), a Party may claim relief under Clause 35 from liability for failure to meet its obligations under this Agreement for as long as and only to the extent that the performance of those obligations is directly affected by a Force Majeure Event. Any failure or delay by the Contractor in performing its obligations under this Agreement which results from a failure or delay by an agent, Sub-Contractor or Contractor shall be regarded as due to a Force Majeure Event only if that agent, Sub-Contractor or Contractor is itself impeded by a Force Majeure Event from complying with an obligation to the Contractor.
- 35.2 The Affected Party shall as soon as reasonably practicable issue a Force Majeure Notice, which shall include details of the Force Majeure Event, its effect on the obligations of the Affected Party and any action the Affected Party proposes to take to mitigate its effect.
- 35.3 If the Contractor is the Affected Party, it shall not be entitled to claim relief under Clause 35 to the extent that consequences of the relevant Force Majeure Event:
 - 35.3.1 are capable of being mitigated by any of the provision of any Services, including the Contractor's engagement of its Business Continuity Plan and Disaster Recovery Plan (both of which are as detailed in Schedule 10), but the Contractor has failed to do so; and/or

- 35.3.2 should have been foreseen and prevented or avoided by a prudent provider of services similar to the Services, operating to the standards required by this Agreement.
- 35.4 Subject to Clause 35.5, as soon as practicable after the Affected Party issues the Force Majeure Notice, and at regular intervals thereafter, the Parties shall consult in good faith and use reasonable endeavours to agree any steps to be taken and an appropriate timetable in which those steps should be taken, to enable continued provision of the Services affected by the Force Majeure Event.
- 35.5 The Parties shall at all times following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event and during its subsistence use their respective reasonable endeavours to prevent and mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure Event. Where the Contractor is the Affected Party, it shall take all steps in accordance with Good Industry Practice to overcome or minimise the consequences of the Force Majeure Event.
- 35.6 Where, as a result of a Force Majeure Event:
 - 35.6.1 an Affected Party fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement, then during the continuance of the Force Majeure Event:
 - the other Party shall not be entitled to exercise any rights to terminate this Agreement in whole or in part as a result of such failure unless the provision of the Services is materially impacted by a Force Majeure Event which endures for a continuous period of more than ninety (90) days; and
 - (b) the Contractor shall not be liable for any Default and the Authority shall not be liable for any Authority Cause arising as a result of such failure;
 - 35.6.2 the Contractor fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement the Contractor shall be entitled to receive payment of the Charges (or a proportional payment of them) only to the extent that the Services (or part of the Services) continue to be provided in accordance with the terms of this Agreement during the occurrence of the Force Majeure Event.
- 35.7 The Affected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable after the Force Majeure Event ceases or no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement.
- 35.8 Relief from liability for the Affected Party under Clause 35 shall end as soon as the Force Majeure Event no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement and shall not be dependent on the serving of notice under Clause 35.7.

36 Appointment of Sub-Contractors

- 36.1 The Contractor shall exercise due skill and care in the selection and appointment of any Sub-Contractors to ensure that the Contractor is able to:
 - 36.1.1 manage any Sub-Contractors in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
 - 36.1.2 comply with its obligations under this Agreement in the delivery of the Services; and
 - 36.1.3 at the Authority's request assign, novate or otherwise transfer to the Authority or any Replacement Contractor any of its rights and/or obligations under each subcontract that relates exclusively to this Agreement.
- 36.2 If requested by the Authority within two (2) Working Days of receipt of such request, the Contractor shall provide:
- 36.2.1 the Sub-Contractor's name, registered office and company registration number;
- 36.2.2 the scope of any Services to be provided by the proposed Sub-Contractor; and
- 36.2.3 a copy of the proposed sub-contract; and
- 36.2.4 any further information reasonably requested by the Authority.
- 36.3 The Authority may, acting reasonably, object to the engagement of a Sub-Contractor if it considers and can demonstrate (subject always to duties of confidentiality) to the Contractor that:
 - 36.3.1 the appointment of the relevant Sub-Contractor is prejudicing the provision of the Services and/or may be contrary to the interests of the Authority;
 - 36.3.2 the Sub-Contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reasonable services to its other customers; and/or
 - 36.3.3 the Sub-Contractor employs unfit persons;

in which case, the Contractor shall cease to use the relevant Sub-Contractor in the delivery of the Services under this Agreement.

- 36.4 Subject to Paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 6 (Key Sub-Contractors) where the Contractor wishes to enter into a Key Sub-Agreement or replace a Key Sub-Contractor, it must obtain the prior written consent of the Authority, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
- 36.5 Notwithstanding the Contractor's right to sub-contract, the Contractor shall remain responsible for all acts and omissions of its Sub-Contractors and the acts and omissions of those employed or engaged by the Sub-Contractors as if they were its own. In respect of any element of the Services delivered by Contractor Personnel and/or which are sub-contracted by the Contractor, an obligation on the Contractor to do or to refrain from doing any act or thing under this Agreement, shall include an obligation on the Contractor to procure that the Contractor Personnel and the Sub-Contractor also do or refrain from doing such act or thing in their delivery of those elements of the Services.

37 Compliance

- 37.1 Health and Safety
 - 37.1.1 The Contractor shall perform its obligations under this Agreement (including those in relation to the Services) in accordance with:
 - (a) all applicable Law regarding health and safety; and
 - (b) the Authority's health and safety policy (as provided to the Contractor from time to time) whilst at the Authority Premises.
 - 37.1.2 Each Party shall promptly notify the other of as soon as possible of any health and safety incidents or material health and safety hazards at the Authority Premises of which it becomes aware and which relate to or arise in connection with the performance of this Agreement
 - 37.1.3 While on the Authority Premises, the Contractor shall comply with any health and safety measures implemented by the Authority in respect of Contractor Personnel and other persons working there and any instructions from the Authority on any necessary associated safety measures.
- 37.2 Equality and Diversity

- 37.2.1 The Contractor shall:
- (a) perform its obligations under this Agreement (including those in relation to provision of the Services) in accordance with:
 - (i) all applicable equality Law (whether in relation to race, sex, gender reassignment, religion or belief, disability, sexual orientation, pregnancy, maternity, age or otherwise); and
 - (ii) any other requirements and instructions which the Authority reasonably imposes in connection with any equality obligations imposed on the Authority at any time under applicable equality Law;
- (b) take all necessary steps, and inform the Authority of the steps taken, to prevent unlawful discrimination designated as such by any court or tribunal, or the Equality and Human Rights Commission or (any successor organisation).
- 37.3 Official Secrets Act and Finance Act
 - 37.3.1 The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of:
 - (a) the Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; and
 - (b) section 182 of the Finance Act 1989.
- 37.4 Environmental Requirements
 - 37.4.1 The Contractor shall, when working on the Sites, perform its obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the Environmental Policy of the Authority.
 - 37.4.2 The Authority shall provide a copy of its written Environmental Policy (if any) to the Contractor upon the Contractors written request.

38 Assignment and novation

- 38.1 The Contractor shall not assign, novate, or otherwise dispose of or create any trust in relation to any or all of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement or any part of it without approval.
- 38.2 The Authority may assign, novate or otherwise dispose of any or all of its rights, liabilities and obligations under this Agreement or any part thereof to:
 - 38.2.1 any other body established by the Crown or under statute in order substantially to perform any of the functions that had previously been performed by the Authority; or
 - 38.2.2 any private sector body which substantially performs the functions of the Authority,

and the Contractor shall, at the Authority's request, enter into a novation agreement in such form as the Authority shall reasonably specify in order to enable the Authority to exercise its rights pursuant to this Clause 38.2.

- 38.3 A change in the legal status of the Authority shall not, subject to Clause 38.4 affect the validity of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be binding on any successor body to the Authority.
- 38.4 If the Authority assigns, novates or otherwise disposes of any of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement to a private sector body in accordance with Clause 38.2.2 (the "**Transferee**" in the rest of this Clause 38.4) the right of termination of the Authority in Clause

23 shall be available to the Contractor in the event of insolvency of the Transferee (as if the references to Contractor in Clause 23 and to the Contractor or Guarantor in the definition of Insolvency Event were references to the Transferee).

39 Waiver and cumulative remedies

- 39.1 The rights and remedies under this Agreement may be waived only by notice in accordance with Clause 46 and in a manner that expressly states that a waiver is intended. A failure or delay by a Party in ascertaining or exercising a right or remedy provided under this Agreement or by Law shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that right or remedy.
- 39.2 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any rights or remedies provided by Law, in equity or otherwise.

40 Relationship of the parties

40.1 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement, nor any actions taken by the Parties pursuant to this Agreement, shall create a partnership, joint venture or relationship of employer and employee or principal and agent between the Parties, or authorise either Party to make representations or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of any other Party.

41 Prevention of fraud and bribery

- 41.1 The Contractor represents and warrants that neither it, nor to the best of its knowledge any Contractor Personnel, have at any time prior to the Effective Date:
 - 41.1.1 committed a Prohibited Act or been formally notified that it is subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act; and/or
 - 41.1.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act.
- 41.2 The Contractor shall not during the Term:
 - 41.2.1 commit a Prohibited Act; and/or
 - 41.2.2 do or suffer anything to be done which would cause the Authority or any of the Authority's employees, consultants, contractors, sub-contractors or agents to contravene any of the Relevant Requirements or otherwise incur any liability in relation to the Relevant Requirements.
- 41.3 The Contractor shall during the Term:
 - 41.3.1 establish, maintain and enforce, and require that its Sub-Contractors establish, maintain and enforce, policies and procedures which are adequate to ensure compliance with the Relevant Requirements and prevent the occurrence of a Prohibited Act;
 - 41.3.2 keep appropriate records of its compliance with its obligations under Clause 41.3.1 and make such records available to the Authority on request;
 - 41.3.3 if so required by the Authority, within twenty (20) Working Days of the Effective Date, and annually thereafter, certify to the Authority in writing that the Contractor and all persons associated with it or its Sub-Contractors or other persons who are supplying the Services in connection with this Agreement are compliant with the

Relevant Requirements. The Contractor shall provide such supporting evidence of compliance as the Authority may reasonably request; and

- 41.3.4 have, maintain and where appropriate enforce an anti-bribery policy (which shall be disclosed to the Authority on request) to prevent it and any Contractor Personnel or any person acting on the Contractors behalf from committing a Prohibited Act.
- 41.4 The Contractor shall immediately notify the Authority in writing if it becomes aware of any breach of Clause 41.1, or has reason to believe that it has or any of the Contractor Personnel have:
 - 41.4.1 been subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act;
 - 41.4.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act; and/or
 - 41.4.3 received a request or demand for any undue financial or other advantage of any kind in connection with the performance of this Agreement or otherwise suspects that any person or Party directly or indirectly connected with this Agreement has committed or attempted to commit a Prohibited Act.
- 41.5 If the Contractor makes a notification to the Authority pursuant to Clause 41.4, the Contractor shall respond promptly to the Authority's enquiries, co-operate with any investigation, and allow the Authority to audit any books, records and/or any other relevant documentation in accordance with Clause 31 (Audit Rights).
- 41.6 If the Contractor breaches Clause 41.3, the Authority may by notice:
 - 41.6.1 require the Contractor to remove from performance of this Agreement any Contractor Personnel whose acts or omissions have caused the Contractors breach; or
 - 41.6.2 immediately terminate this Agreement for material Default.
- 41.7 Any notice served by the Authority under Clause 41.4 shall specify the nature of the Prohibited Act, the identity of the party who the Authority believes has committed the Prohibited Act and the action that the Authority has elected to take (including, where relevant, the date on which this Agreement shall terminate).

42 Severance

- 42.1 If any provision of this Agreement (or part of any provision) is held to be void or otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provision (or part) shall to the extent necessary to ensure that the remaining provisions of this Agreement are not void or unenforceable be deemed to be deleted and the validity and/or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected.
- 42.2 In the event that any deemed deletion under Clause 42.1 is so fundamental as to prevent the accomplishment of the purpose of this Agreement or materially alters the balance of risks and rewards in this Agreement, either Party may give notice to the other Party requiring the Parties to commence good faith negotiations to amend this Agreement so that, as amended, it is valid and enforceable, preserves the balance of risks and rewards in this Agreement and, to the extent that is reasonably practicable, achieves the Parties' original commercial intention.

42.3 If the Parties are unable to resolve the Dispute arising under Clause 42 within twenty (20) Working Days of the date of the notice given pursuant to Clause 42.2, this Agreement shall automatically terminate with immediate effect. The costs of termination incurred by the Parties shall lie where they fall if this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Clause 42.

43 Further assurances

43.1 Each Party undertakes at the request of the other, and at the cost of the requesting Party to do all acts and execute all documents which may be necessary to give effect to the meaning of this Agreement.

44 Entire agreement

- 44.1 This Agreement and the documents referred to in it constitute the entire agreement between the Parties in respect of the matter and supersede and extinguish all prior negotiations, course of dealings or agreements made between the Parties in relation to its subject matter, whether written or oral.
- 44.2 Neither Party has been given, nor entered into this Agreement in reliance on, any warranty, statement, promise or representation other than those expressly set out in this Agreement.
- 44.3 Nothing in Clause 44 shall exclude any liability in respect of misrepresentations made fraudulently.

45 Third party rights

45.1 A person who is not a Party to this Agreement has no right under the CRTPA to enforce any term of this Agreement but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.

46 Notices

- 46.1 Except as otherwise expressly provided within this Agreement, any notices sent under this Agreement must be in writing. For the purpose of Clause 46, an e-mail is accepted as being "in writing".
- 46.2 Subject to Clause 46.3, the following table sets out the method by which notices may be served under this Agreement and the respective deemed time and proof of service:

Manner of delivery	Deemed time of delivery	Proof of Service
Email (Subject to Clauses 46.3 and 46.4)	9.00am on the first Working Day after sending	Dispatched as a pdf attachment to an e-mail to the correct e-mail address without any error message
Personal delivery	On delivery, provided delivery is between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise, delivery will occur at 9.00am on the next Working Day	Properly addressed and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt
Royal Mail Signed For™ 1 st Class or other prepaid, next Working	At the time recorded by the delivery service, provided that delivery is between 9.00am and	Properly addressed prepaid and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt

Day service providing	5.00pm on a Working Day.	
proof of delivery	Otherwise, delivery will	
proof of delivery		
	occur at 9.00am on the	
	same Working Day (if	
	delivery before 9.00am) or	
	on the next Working Day	
	(if after 5.00pm)	

- 46.3 The following notices may only be served as an attachment to an email if the original notice is then sent to the recipient by personal delivery or Royal Mail Signed For[™] 1st Class or other prepaid in the manner set out in the table in Clause 46.2:
 - 46.3.1 any notice in respect of:
 - (a) termination;
 - (b) waiver
 - (c) Default; and
 - 46.3.2 any Dispute Notice.
- 46.4 Failure to send any original notice by personal delivery or recorded delivery in accordance with Clause 46.3 shall invalidate the service of the related email transmission. The deemed time of delivery of such notice shall be the deemed time of delivery of the original notice sent by personal delivery or Royal Mail Signed For[™] 1st Class delivery (as set out in the table in Clause 46.2) or, if earlier, the time of response or acknowledgement by the other Party to the email attaching the notice.
- 46.5 Clause 46 does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in any legal action or, where applicable, any arbitration or other method of dispute resolution (other than the service of a Dispute Notice under the Dispute Resolution Procedure).
- 46.6 For the purposes of this Clause 46, the address and email address of each Party shall be:

For the Authority:

For the attention of:

Address: Department of Health and Social Care 39 Victoria Street London SW1H 0EU

Email address:

For The Freight Manager:

For the attention of:

Address: Kuehne + Nagel Limited 1 Roundwood Avenue Stockley Park Uxbridge Middlesex UB11 1FG

Email address:

46.7 The Contractor irrevocably consents to any process in any legal action or proceedings being served on it in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement relating to service of notices. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

47 Dispute resolution

- 47.1 The Parties shall resolve Disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 47.2 The Contractor shall continue to provide the Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement until a Dispute has been resolved.

48 Governing law and jurisdiction

- 48.1 This Agreement and any issues, Disputes or claims (whether contractual or non-contractual) arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 48.2 Subject to Clause 47 and Schedule 11 (Dispute Resolution) (including the Authority's right to refer the Dispute to arbitration), the Parties agree that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any Dispute or claim (whether contractual or non-contractual) that arises out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation.

Schedule 1

Definitions

means the party seeking to claim relief in respect of a Force Affected Party Majeure Event; Affiliate in relation to a body corporate, any other entity which directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is under direct or indirect common Control of that body corporate from time to time; Agreement means this agreement between the Authority and the Contractor for supply of the Services; means a consecutive period of twelve (12) Months commencing on Agreement Year the Operational Commencement Date or each anniversary thereof; **Authority Cause** means any breach of the obligations of the Authority or any other default, act, omission, negligence or statement of the Authority, of its employees, servants, agents in connection with or in relation to the subject-matter of this Agreement and in respect of which the Authority is liable to the Contractor; **Authority Premises** means premises owned, controlled or occupied by the Authority which are made available for use by the Contractor or its Sub-Contractors for the provision of the Services (or any of them); means: Authority's Confidential Information a) all Personal Data and any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the business, affairs, developments, property rights, trade secrets, Know-How and IPR of the Authority; b) any other information clearly designated as being confidential (whether or not it is marked "confidential") or which ought reasonably be considered confidential which comes (or has come) to the Authority's attention or into the Authority's possession in connection with this Agreement; and c) information derived from any of the above; **Central Government** a body listed in one of the following subcategories of the Central Body Government classification of the Public Sector Classification Guide, as published and amended from time to time by the Office for National Statistics: a) Government Department; b) Non-Departmental Public Body or Assembly Sponsored Public Body (advisory, executive, or tribunal); c) Non-Ministerial Department; or d) Executive Agency;

Change in Law means any change in Law which impacts on the supply of the Services (including taxation or duties of any sort affecting the Contractor) which comes into force after the Effective Date;

Change of Control has the meaning given in Clause 23.5;

- Charges means the charges raised under or in connection with the Agreement from time to time, which shall be as set out in Annex 1 to Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing) and calculated accordance with Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing);
- **Collection Window** means the date and time nominated by the Authority for the Despatch of Goods from the Warehouse;
- **Commercially Sensitive** Information means the Confidential Information listed in the Order Form (if any) comprising commercially sensitive information relating to the Contractor, its Intellectual Property Rights or its business or which the Contractor has indicated to the Authority that, if disclosed by the Authority, would cause the Contractor significant commercial disadvantage or material financial loss;
- **Comparable Supply** the supply of services to another customer of the Contractor that are the same or similar to the Services;
- **Confidential Information** means the Authority's Confidential Information and/or the Contractors Confidential Information, as the context specifies;
- Contractor's Confidential means

Information

- any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the business, affairs, developments, IPR of the Contractor trade secrets, Know-How, and/or personnel of the Contractor;
 - b) any other information clearly designated as being confidential (whether or not it is marked as "confidential") or which ought reasonably to be considered to be confidential and which comes (or has come) to the Contractors attention or into the Contractors possession in connection with this Agreement;
 - c) information derived from any of the above.
- **Contractor Personnel** means all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors of the Contractor and/or of any Sub-Contractor engaged in the performance of the Contractors obligations under the Agreement;
- **Contractor Warehouse Management System** means the Contractor's warehouse management system in place from time to time and used in the provision of the Services (including without limitation any reporting obligations contained in this Agreement);
- **Cost Value** means the cost value of the Goods as defined in Clause 20.3.2(a);

Default	means any breach of the obligations of the Contractor (including but not limited to including abandonment of the Agreement in breach of its terms) or any other default (including deliberate or wilful breach or misconduct), act, omission, negligence or statement of the Contractor, of its Sub-Contractors or any Contractor Personnel howsoever arising in connection with or in relation to the subject-matter of the Agreement and in respect of which the Contractor is liable to the Authority;
Despatch	means the point at which the Goods leave the possession and control of the Contractor, or its sub-contractors which shall be the point at which the Goods are loaded in accordance with Schedule 2 (Services), and/or the SOP Manual on the deliver trailer for despatch to the Authority's nominated location, and the delivery trailer closed and sealed;
Dispute	means any dispute, difference or question of interpretation arising out of or in connection with the Agreement, including any dispute, difference or question of interpretation relating to the Services or any matter where this Agreement directs the Parties to resolve an issue by reference to the Dispute Resolution Procedure
Dispute Notice	means a written notice served by one Party on the other stating that the Party serving the notice believes that there is a Dispute;
Dispute Resolution Procedure	means the dispute resolution procedure set out in Schedule 11 (Dispute Resolution);
Due Diligence Information	means any information supplied to the Contractor by or on behalf of the Authority prior to the Effective Date;
Effective Date	means the date of this Agreement;
EIRs	the Environmental Information Regulations 2004
Environmental Policy	means to conserve energy, water, wood, paper and other resources, reduce waste and phase out the use of ozone depleting substances and minimise the release of greenhouse gases, volatile organic compounds and other substances damaging to health and the environment, including any written environmental policy of the Authority;
Estimated Year 1 Charges	means the sum in pounds estimated by the Authority to be payable by it to the Contractor as the total aggregate Charges from the Operational Commencement Date until the end of the first Agreement Year;
Exceptional Instruction	shall have the meaning given in Clause 8.6;
Exit Day	shall have the meaning in the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018;
Extended Term	has the meaning given in Clause 6.2;

the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act from time to time together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant Government department in relation to such legislation;

- Force Majeure Event any event outside the reasonable control of either Party affecting its performance of its obligations under the Agreement arising from acts, events, omissions, happenings or non-happenings beyond its reasonable control and which are not attributable to any wilful act, neglect or failure to take reasonable preventative action by that Party, including acts of God, riots, war or armed conflict, acts of terrorism, acts of government, local government or Regulatory Bodies, fire, flood, storm or earthquake, or disaster but excluding:
 - (a) any industrial dispute relating to the Contractor or the Contractor Personnel;
 - (b) any other failure in the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's supply chain
 - (c) any event or other consequence arising as a result of or in connection with the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union; or
 - (d) any event or other consequence arising as a result of or in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic SAVE FOR circumstances caused by or related to the COVID-19 pandemic which are changes in applicable Law and/or governmental guidance which mean that the Services cannot be provided as set out in this Contract (in all material respects) without such Laws and/or government guidance being breached, or if the Contractor can reasonably demonstrate that despite all reasonable endeavours, it is unable to secure non-COVID-19 infected personnel to provide the Services due to the levels of COVID-19 infections in the relevant population;

Force Majeure Notice	means a written notice served by the Affected Party on the other Party stating that the Affected Party believes that there is a Force Majeure Event;
General Change in Law	a Change in Law where the change is of a general legislative nature (including taxation or duties of any sort affecting the Contractor) or which affects or relates to a Comparable Supply;
Global Trade Management Platform	means the Authority's platform for management of the international transportation of goods, including the Goods;

FOIA

Good Industry Practice	Law an prudenc expecte	ds, practices, methods and procedures conforming to the d the exercise of the degree of skill and care, diligence, ce and foresight which would reasonably and ordinarily be ed from a skilled and experienced person or body engaged he relevant industry or business sector;	
Goods	means the goods purchased by the Authority from a third party supplier which are the subject to the Services to be performed by the Contractor under the terms of the Agreement;		
Goods Despatched		Goods which have been Despatched in accordance with an ion from the Authority;	
Goods Received		Goods which have been Received in accordance with an ion from the Authority;	
Guarantee	Agreem	a deed of guarantee that may be required under the nent in favour of the Authority in the form set out in Schedule arantee) granted pursuant to Clause 5 (Guarantee);	
Guarantor		the person, in the event that a Guarantee is required under eement, acceptable to the Authority to give a Guarantee;	
Halifax Abuse Principle		cable, means the principle explained in the CJEU Case C- Halifax and others;	
Initial Term	has the	meaning given in Clause 6.1;	
Insolvency Event	mean	s, in respect of the Contractor or Guarantor:	
	a)	a proposal is made for a voluntary arrangement within Part I of the Insolvency Act 1986 or of any other composition scheme or arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit of, its creditors; or	
	b)	a shareholders' meeting is convened for the purpose of considering a resolution that it be wound up or a resolution for its winding-up is passed (other than as part of, and exclusively for the purpose of, a bona fide reconstruction or amalgamation); or	
	c)	a petition is presented for its winding up (which is not dismissed within fourteen (14) Working Days of its service) or an application is made for the appointment of a provisional liquidator or a creditors' meeting is convened pursuant to section 98 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or	
	d)	a receiver, administrative receiver or similar officer is appointed over the whole or any part of its business or assets; or	
	e)	an application order is made either for the appointment of an administrator or for an administration order, an administrator is appointed, or notice of intention to appoint an administrator is given; or	
	f)	it is or becomes insolvent within the meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or	

	 g) being a "small company" within the meaning of section 382(3) of the Companies Act 2006, a moratorium comes into force pursuant to Schedule A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or
	 h) where the Contractor or Guarantor is an individual or partnership, any event analogous to those listed in limbs (a) to (g) (inclusive) occurs in relation to that individual or partnership; or
	 any event analogous to those listed in limbs (a) to (h) (inclusive) occurs under the law of any other jurisdiction;
Instruction	means the final, written confirmation of each order for the Services setting out the Authority's specific requirements for that order in accordance with Clause 7.3;
Insurance	shall bear the meaning given to it in Schedule 8 (Required Insurances);
Intellectual Property	means
Rights or IPR	 a) copyright, rights related to or affording protection similar to copyright, rights in databases, patents and rights in inventions, semi-conductor topography rights, trade marks, rights in internet domain names and website addresses and other rights in trade or business names, designs, Know-How, trade secrets and other rights in Confidential Information;
	b) applications for registration, and the right to apply for registration, for any of the rights listed at (a) that are capable of being registered in any country or jurisdiction; and
	 all other rights having equivalent or similar effect in any country or jurisdiction;
IT Systems	means the IT systems used by the Contractor to provide the Services and all hardware, software, and in each case associated documentation, necessary to operate the same and perform the Services in accordance with the Agreement (which shall include without limitation the Contractor Warehouse Management System);
Key Performance Indicators/ KPI	has the meaning given in Schedule 3 (Performance Standards and Key Performance Indicators);
Key Sub-Contract	means each Sub-Contract with a Key Sub-Contractor;
Key Sub-Contractor	means any Sub-Contractor:
	a) listed in Schedule 6 (Key Sub-Contractors);
	 b) which, in the opinion of the Authority, performs (or would perform if appointed) a critical role in the provision of all or any part of the Services; and/or
	 with a sub-contract with a contract value which at the time of appointment exceeds (or would exceed if appointed) 10% of the aggregate Charges forecast to be payable under the Agreement;

Know-How	means all ideas, concepts, schemes, information, knowledge, techniques, methodology, and anything else in the nature of know- how relating to the Services but excluding know-how already in the other Party's possession before the Effective Date;		
Law	means any law, subordinate legislation within the meaning of Section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceabl right within the meaning of Section 2 of the European Communitie Act 1972, regulation, order, regulatory policy, mandatory guidanc or code of practice, judgment of a relevant court of law, or directive or requirements with which the Contractor is bound to comply;		
Lot Code	means the Authority designated lot code for the Goods which i specified on the packaging for such Goods;		
Lot Control Procedures	means any procedures of the Authority in place from time to time t ensure control of Goods according to Lot Code;		
Losses	means all losses, liabilities, damages, costs, expenses (includin legal fees), disbursements, costs of investigation, litigatior settlement, judgment, interest and penalties whether arising i contract, tort (including negligence), breach of statutory duty misrepresentation or otherwise and " Loss " shall be interprete accordingly;		
Management Information	means information provided by the Contractor to aid decisio making and provide oversight of the performance of the Agreemen		
Month	means a calendar month and " Monthly " shall be interprete accordingly;		
Occasions of Tax Non-	means:		
Compliance	 any tax return of the Contractor submitted to a Relevar Tax Authority on or after 1 October 2012 which is found o or after 1 April 2013 to be incorrect as a result of: 		
	 a Relevant Tax Authority successfully challenging th Contractor under the General Anti-Abuse Rule or th Halifax Abuse Principle or under any tax rules of legislation in any jurisdiction that have an effect equivalent or similar to the General Anti-Abuse Rule of the Halifax Abuse Principle; 		
	 the failure of an avoidance scheme which th Contractor was involved in, and which was, or shoul have been, notified to a Relevant Tax Authority unde DOTAS or any equivalent or similar regime in an jurisdiction; and/or 		
	 b) any tax return of the Contractor submitted to a Relevar Tax Authority on or after 1 October 2012 which gives rise on or after 1 April 2013, to a criminal conviction in an jurisdiction for tax related offences which is not spent at th Effective Date or to a civil penalty for fraud or evasion; 		

Operational Commencement Date	the date	e of t	the first handling of Goods by the Contractor;
Parent Company	Contraction the bus same of Parent	ines ines r sir Co nies	company which is the ultimate Holding Company of the and which is either responsible directly or indirectly for s activities of the Contractor or which is engaged by the nilar business to the Contractor. The term "Holding or mpany" shall have the meaning ascribed by the Act 2006 or any statutory re-enactment or amendment
Personal Data	has the	mea	aning given Schedule 7 (Data Protection);
Prohibited Act	mean	is ar	y of the following:
	a)	wor Cor	directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person king for or engaged by the Authority or other ntracting Authority or any other public body a financial other advantage to:
		i)	induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity; or
		ii)	reward that person for improper performance of a relevant function or activity;
	b)	any rew	directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept r financial or other advantage as an inducement or a rard for improper performance of a relevant function or vity in connection with this Agreement;
	C)	con	nmitting any offence:
		i)	under the Bribery Act 2010 (or any legislation repealed or revoked by such Act); or
		ii)	under legislation or common law concerning fraudulent acts; or
		iii)	defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Authority; or
		iv)	any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute one of the offences listed under (c) above if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK;
Receipt			e point at which the Goods come under the control or f the Contractor which:
	locati Produ the de	on n icts oors	e the Services include the collection of Goods from a ominated by the Authority shall be the point at which the are loaded onto the vehicle collecting the Goods and are sealed by or on behalf of the third party supplier of s; and
	been	ope	other cases shall be the point at which the doors have ned on any delivery vehicle arriving at the Warehouse for unloading;
Regulations	means	the I	Public Contracts Regulations 2015;

- **Regulatory Bodies** means government departments and regulatory, statutory and other entities, committees, ombudsman and bodies which, whether under statute, rules, regulations, codes of practice or otherwise, are entitled to regulate, investigate or influence the matters dealt with in the Agreement and "**Regulatory Body**" shall be construed accordingly;
- **Relevant Requirements** means all applicable Law relating to bribery, corruption and fraud, including the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State for Justice pursuant to section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010;
- **Relevant Tax Authority** means HMRC, or, if applicable, the tax authority in the jurisdiction in which the Contractor is established;
- **Replacement Services** means any services which are substantially similar to any of the Services and which the Authority receives in substitution for any of the Services, whether those services are provided by the Authority internally and/or by any third party;
- **Replacement Contractor** means any third party provider of Replacement Services appointed by or at the direction of the Authority from time to time or where the Authority is providing Replacement Services for its own account, shall also include the Authority;
- **Requests for Information** means a request for information or an apparent request relating to the Agreement or the provision of the Services or an apparent request for such information under the FOIA or the EIRs;
- Services means the services to be provided by the Contractor to the Authority as referred to in Schedule 2 (Services);
- Sites means any premises (including the Authority Premises, the Contractor's premises, Warehouse Premises, or third party premises) from, to or at which:
 - a) the Services are (or are to be) provided; or
 - b) the Contractor manages, organises or otherwise directs the provision or the use of the Services;
- **SOP Manual** means the Authority's standard operating procedures manual as provided to the Contractor by the Authority from time to time;
- **Specific Change in Law** a Change in Law that relates specifically to the business of the Authority and which would not affect a Comparable Supply where the effect of that Specific Change in Law on the Services is not reasonably foreseeable at the Start Date;
- Standards means any:
- a) standards published by BSI British Standards, the National Standards Body of the United Kingdom, the International Organisation for Standardisation or other reputable or equivalent bodies (and their successor bodies) that a skilled and experienced operator in the same type of

	industry or business sector as the Contractor would reasonably and ordinarily be expected to comply with;
	b) standards detailed in the specification in Schedule 2 (Services);
	 standards detailed by the Authority in the Order Form or agreed between the Parties from time to time;
	 d) relevant government codes of practice and guidance applicable from time to time;
Stock Audit	means the inventory audit carried out by the Contractor in relation to the Goods held at the Warehouse Premises;
Stock Loss	means any shortages in Goods, being the reported volume of Goods Received by the Contractor in accordance with Clause 9.3.1(a) net of the total units of Goods Despatched (with reference to each note or other record issued upon Despatch of the Goods) less the total actual number of units of Goods held further to a Stock Audit;
Stock Loss Tolerance	0.05% of the total Goods which ought to be held (being the reported total units of Goods Received by the Contractor in accordance with Clause 9.3.1(a)) less the total units of Goods Despatched with reference to each note of Goods Despatched) by the Contractor at the time of any Stock Audit;
Sub-Contract	means any contract or agreement (or proposed contract or agreement), other than the Agreement, pursuant to which a third party:
	a) provides the Services (or any part of them);
	 b) provides facilities or services necessary for the provision of the Services (or any part of them); and/or
	 c) is responsible for the management, direction or control of the provision of the Services (or any part of them);
Sub-Contractor	means any person other than the Contractor, who is a party to a Sub-Contract and the servants or agents of that person;
Tender	means the tender submitted by the Contractor to the Authority in respect of this Agreement as appended to this Agreement at Schedule 16 (Contractor's Tender);
Term	means the Initial Term and any Extended Term;
Variation	has the meaning given in Clause 15 (Change);
Warehouse Premises	means the Contractor Premises or any Sub-Contractor premises, used in the provision of the Services;
Worker	any one of the Contractor Personnel which the Authority, in its reasonable opinion, considers is an individual to which Procurement Policy Note 08/15 (Tax Arrangements of Public Appointees) (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-

note-0815-tax-arrangements-of-appointees) applies in respect of the Services; and

Working Day means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in England and Wales unless specified otherwise by Parties in the Agreement.

Schedule 2

Services

Attachment 3D – Service Specification (Lot D – International Warehousing Services)

Contents

1.	DEFINITION OF TERMS	.1
2.	CONTEXT	.2
3.	OBJECTIVES	.2
4.	SUPPLIER REQUIREMENTS – INTERNATIONAL WAREHOUSING	.4

1. **DEFINITION OF TERMS**

In this schedule the following definitions shall apply:

"Authority" means the Department for Health and Social Care;

"CBM" means cubic metres

"CFS" means container freight station and is a warehouse where a number of goods or products are stored to be shipped together in one or more containers

"End-to-end" means that the consignment shall be collected by the service provider from the consignor despatch point (the producer or warehouse) and delivered to the specified consignee delivery point (e.g. warehouse)

"Ex works" is an arrangement with product suppliers/manufacturers where the Authority is responsible for collection of the purchased goods from an agreed location (i.e. a factory).

"Factory checks" means usual quality checks performed as part of any logistics process to confirm that the goods are fit for export including ensuring that all goods are appropriately packaged and correctly labelled. This is separate from the formal sample based AQL quality assurance process.

"Handling requirements" means product-specific criteria (for example environmental conditions) which must be adhered to during the handling and transportation process.

"LFD" means Lateral Flow Device COVID-19 test kit.

"Managed Service" means a fully transparent outsourced service where the supplier is responsible for the delivery of the end-to-end logistics service and operational, financial and quality reporting to the Authority.

"PPE" means Personal Protective Equipment required for the protection of healthcare professionals and other personnel from the COVID-19 virus.

"Producers" means the manufacturers commissioned by the Authority to produce e.g. the PPE and T&T goods or other medical products.

"Quality Assurance" shall mean the management processes, practices and systems employed by the service provider to support the consistent and reliable provision of services

"SKU" means stock keeping unit and is the unique identifier for a single line of inventory

"Test and Trace" or "T&T" means NHS Test and Trace which is a government-funded service in England, established in 2020 to track and help prevent the spread of COVID-19. It is run by the UK Health Security Agency.

"UK" The territories of Great Britain and Northern Ireland including Jersey, Guernsey, Gibraltar and Isle of Man.

2. CONTEXT

- 2.1 Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Authority has managed international freight to support the urgent movement of medical products and consumables on an ex works basis to ensure critical supplies are available to protect and preserve life.
- 2.2 In December 2020 the Authority launched ITT C15725 and awarded five separate contracts for a multi modal freight solution.
- 2.3 The Authority has identified a further requirement for the provision of international warehousing services as part of the multi-modal international freight and logistics solution. This is required to provide interim short-term storage facilities within the region of manufacture to ensure the smooth flow of product from factory to the freight terminal and to allow product to be collated prior to being transported to the freight terminal. Collating the products in an intermediary warehouse ensures that air charters and rail charters carry maximum capacity of product, whilst also enabling better lot control and traceability of product.
- 2.4 The Authority therefore needs to establish a contract for international warehousing services in order to ensure the continued availability of multi-modal freight solutions to support the urgent international movement of goods driven by the response to COVID-19 or other events.
- 2.5 This procurement covers the provision of international warehousing services from September 2021 to August 2022 with a maximum value of £6m and with the potential to extend for up to a further year while the Contract value has not been exhausted. There is likely to be an immediate requirement for the provision of warehousing services in the Xiamen region of China to meet ongoing operational needs, but the scope of this contract will not be limited to a specific global geography in order to allow the Authority to respond to any future global needs that may arise. As such, a flexible 'pay as you go', non-committal warehousing solution is required.

3. OBJECTIVES

- 3.1 The objectives of this contract are to:
 - 3.1.1 Support the continued provision of rapid mass testing as part of the T&T programme to enable a return towards normal life for the wider population.
 - 3.1.2 Ensure that, as part of its international freight and logistics solution, the Authority can rapidly access reliable and secure warehousing solutions in any required geography on terms representing value for money.
- 3.2 This supports the supply work stream for key products and equipment as part of the Authority's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and enable it to meet the four strategic objectives:
 - Keep people safe
 - Protect our NHS

- Minimise deaths
- Protect the adult social care system
- 3.3 This Lot is part of a multi-lot where each Lot relates to a specific mode of transport or provision of logistics services. The Authority will select the most appropriate mode and/or solution for each specific requirement that arises during the contract period. For this reason, the Authority may require the successful supplier for this Lot to cooperate with other supplier(s) where required in practice.

4. SUPPLIER REQUIREMENTS – INTERNATIONAL WAREHOUSING

- 4.1 The Authority is seeking an organisation to provide international warehousing services. The successful organisation will work to the Authority's given schedule to optimise the international movement of freight.
- 4.2 The successful organisation will be required to mobilise a fully staffed operation, running on a 24/7/365 basis where required, working in direct contact with the Authority's staff and other third-party organisations as required. The successful organisation must have partner logistic companies or direct presence in China and South East Asia and scope to provide global warehousing solutions.
- 4.3 The contract period is expected to be from the second (but to note this is subject to change) with a possible extension of up to the second difference will be contract value has not been exhausted, and the successful organisation could therefore be required to have mobilised their solution by the second difference will be in multiples of the solution by the Authority will inform the Successful Supplier no less than the second difference of contract term on any decision to extend the Contract.
- 4.4 The successful organisation for this Lot will be required to demonstrate active cost management with a clear and streamlined weekly invoicing process.
- 4.5 The successful organisation will need to have the ability to deliver requirements of this contract in any international location outside the UK. Specific location and volume requirements will be detailed by the Authority throughout the Contract period.
- 4.6 General requirements of this Contract
 - 4.6.1 In addition to the specific warehousing requirements, the following requirements will apply across all logistics operations
 - 4.6.1.1 End-to-end co-ordination of supply chain partners to deliver a seamless solution.
 - 4.6.1.2 Scalability and flexibility of service volumes and geographies over the contract period, demonstrating responsiveness to changing requirements as a result of the Authority's evolving dynamic response to the pandemic.
 - 4.6.1.3 Potential ad-hoc international warehousing requirements outside the scope of the specific processes outlined within this ITT may be requested of the successful organisation by the Authority. These would be subject to a commercial discussion between the Authority and the successful organisation in the context of rates submitted as part of this ITT and the international warehousing market at the time.
 - 4.6.1.4 Allowance for any product-specific handling requirements for medical products which may apply. These would be confirmed in advance by the Authority.
 - 4.6.1.5 Regular and transparent communication and collaboration with the Authority and its agents including accurate and relevant data and reporting as required.
 - 4.6.1.6 Standard 'light touch' quality assurance factory checks on products being transported (not including industry accredited full AQL checks as these are out of scope).
 - 4.6.1.7 Successful interface with other parties to the overall solution, including for example manufacturers, contract managers and end users where applicable.
 - 4.6.1.8 Where applicable, compliance with relevant industry standards and regulatory requirements specific to the handling of medical supplies.
- 4.7 Service requirements

- 4.7.1 Note that for COVID-19 test kits, specific handling and storage requirements may apply and that there is a requirement to facilitate the required sampling from each batch of products shipped in order to facilitate laboratory testing upon arrival in the UK.
- 4.7.2 The below table outlines the anticipated process flows and associated requirements for warehousing services, and details the typical process stages the successful organisation will be required to manage and deliver. These requirements are indicative of the services required under this Contract and may be subject to change throughout Contract period.

International Warehousing Services

Stage Gate	Process	Description
A	Factory/shipper liaison	 Liaison with manufacturer and booking of transport for collection of ex-works goods from the factory to the warehouse where required. Liaise with the Factory or freight provider to ensure that where required: they are legally authorised to export. the correct export paperwork and permissions are in place from local/national authorities to export. the factory checks have been undertaken to ensure that the goods are fit for export and meet the specifications regarding; Packaging Marking of Cartons with SKU
В	Inbound warehousing process	 Clearing of ex-works goods from the factory to the warehouse where required. Receive goods and booking into warehouse, including visual quality checks and unit count accuracy checks and entry into the successful organisation's warehouse management system. Put away goods into storage. Provide update of receipt of goods to the Authority for entry into the Authority's freight management system.
C	Storage	 Ongoing stock management processes including periodic stock checks and reconciliations, and updates to the successful organisation's warehouse management system. Maintain required lot control/stock rotation, consolidation, and warehouse management processes to ensure appropriate handling of product lots on a 'first in first out' basis or as otherwise instructed by the Authority. All pallets should be built of cartons from the same lot prior to onward freight movement. Provide updates to the Authority as required, to reflect errors/damages/losses whilst in storage, for entry into the Authority's freight management system.
D	Outbound warehousing process	 Allocation of stock to orders received from the Authority, ensuring the allocation is appropriate to the above required lot control processes and update the warehouse management system accordingly.

	 Pick stock and prepare for loading. Complete visual quality checks of goods and labels, and complete unit count checks. For LFDs, select a sample of LFDs from each lot/batch at a sampling rate to be specified by the Authority and box them up separately for clinical validation upon arrival in the UK. Load goods onto the transport to be provided by the Authority's nominated freight forwarder Confirm despatch of goods from warehouse to the Authority for entry onto the Authority's freight management system.
--	---

4.8 Commercial Management

- 4.8.1 The successful organisation will be required to meet the following commercial obligations throughout delivery of the services:
 - 4.8.1.1 The prices submitted by the successful organisation within the commercial response to this ITT will apply for the first **contract** of this contract and shall be subject to review for any subsequent period. Further detail is provided in Schedule 4 of this Contract.
 - 4.8.1.2 Preparation of itemised weekly invoices in PDF format to the Authority together with full supporting documentation. Included but not limited to:
 - (a) Date and cost of services delivered
 - (b) Quantity and volume of inbound products handled
 - (c) Quantity and volume of outbound products handled
 - (d) Quantity and volume of products held in storage
 - 4.8.1.3 Regular reporting to the Authority on performance and outcomes across all key operational, supervisory and quality management aspects of the services being delivered under this contract.
 - 4.8.1.4 Regular management information and reporting of volumes, costs and performance against KPIs defined by the Authority. Specific KPIs related to the requirements listed in this document are listed below, see Schedule 3 Performance Standards and KPIs of the draft Contract for further details.





Schedule 3

Performance Standards and Key Performance Indicators

1. Definitions

1.1 In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall supplement Schedule 1 (Definitions):

Actual KPI Performance	means the percentage of the Measure Calculation achieved by the Contractor in the previous Month;		
Contractual KPIs	means the key measures of the Contractor's performance of the Services to be monitored by the Authority throughout the Term as detailed in Annex 1 to this Schedule 3;		
Critical Performance Failure	means a failure to achieve the Weighted Performance Target over either:		
	a) ; or .		
KPI	means the:		
	a) Contractual KPIs; andb) Operational KPIs;		
KPI Failure	means a failure to meet the KPI Minimum Target in respect of any Contractual KPI.		
KPI Minimum Target	shall be the minimum standards of performance to be achieved by the Contractor as set out against the relevant Contractual KPI.		
Measure Calculation	shall be the method for calculating performance of the Measure Description as set out against the relevant Contractual KPI in Annex 1 to this Schedule 3;		
Measure Description	means the specific circumstances arising in the provision the Services by the Contractor that will be measured by the Authority for each of the Contractual KPIs;		
Operational KPIs	means such measures of the Contractor's operational performance of the Services as may be agreed between the Parties from time to time and which are to be monitored by each Party throughout the Term (but to which, for the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of Paragraphs 7 and 8 of this Schedule 3 do not apply);		
Operational KPI Report	means the report on performance against the Operational KPIs to be prepared by the Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 5 of this Schedule 3;		



2. Introduction

- 2.1 Throughout the duration of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the Services so as to meet or exceed the KPIs and, without prejudice to the Authority's rights under this Schedule or elsewhere in the Agreement, promptly take such corrective action as may be reasonably necessary in the event of failure to meet those standards.
- 2.2 This Schedule sets out the required standards and the consequences and remedies for below standard performance.
- 2.3 The Contractor agrees and acknowledges that the remedies referred to in this Schedule, for service failure shall be cumulative, non-exclusive and shall be without prejudice to any other right or remedy available to the Authority.
- 2.4 The Contractor shall ensure that it has appropriate systems and procedures in place in order to capture and report on performance in respect of each KPI as set out in this Schedule 3.

3. KPI Weightings

3.1 Without prejudice to Paragraph 8.3 not more than once in each Contract Year, the Authority may, on giving the Contractor at least three (3) Months' notice, change the Weighting of a KPI in respect of one or more Contractual KPIs and the Contractor shall not be entitled to object to, or increase the Charges as a result of such changes, provided that:

- 3.1.1 the total number of KPIs for which the weighting is to be changed does not exceed the number of KPIs applicable as at the Commencement Date; and
- 3.1.2 the principal purpose of the change is to reflect changes in the Authority's business requirements and/or priorities or to reflect changing industry standards.
- 3.2 For the avoidance of doubt, any changes to the KPIs other than changes to the Weightings referred to in paragraph 3.1 whether changes to the KPI Minimum Target for any of the Contractual KPIs and/or the Weighted Performance Target or the removal of KPIs or the addition of new KPIs shall be treated as a formal Variation and effected in accordance with the process set out in the Agreement.

4. Measurement of KPIs

- 4.1 The Authority shall measure the Contractor's performance against the Contractual KPIs on a Monthly basis in accordance with this Schedule 3.
- 4.2 The Authority shall calculate:
 - 4.2.1 the Contractor's Actual KPI Performance for each Contractual KPI with reference to the Measure Calculation for that Contractual KPI and shall measure such performance against the KPI Minimum Target for that KPI;
 - 4.2.2 the Contractor's overall performance by calculating its Total Weighted Score in accordance with Paragraph 8.2.
- 4.3 The Contractor shall measure and report in writing to the Authority on the Contractor's performance against the Operational KPIs on a Monthly basis.

5. Performance Monitoring Report

- 5.1 Within 7 days of the end of each Month, the Authority shall provide a written report to the Contractor which summarises the performance by the Contractor against each of the KPIs as more particularly described in Paragraph 5.2 (the "**Performance Monitoring Report**").
- 5.2 The Performance Monitoring Report shall be in such format as determined by the Authority and contain at least the following information:

Information in respect of the Month just ended

- 5.2.1 for each KPI, the actual performance achieved over the Month, and that achieved over the previous **Control**;
- 5.2.2 a summary of all KPI Failures that occurred during the Month and whether any of these are:
 - (a) Repeat KPI Failures; or
 - (b) Persistent KPI Failures;
- 5.2.3 any other relevant particulars of any aspects of the Contractor's performance which fail to meet the requirements of this Agreement; and
- 5.2.4 such other information regarding the Contractor's performance as the Authority determines relevant from time to time;

Information in respect of previous Months

5.2.5 a rolling total of the number of KPI Failures and Performance Failures that have occurred since the Commencement Date.

Operational KPI Report

5.3 Within 7 days of the end of each Month and in any event prior to the Performance Review Meeting, the Contractor shall provide a written report to the Authority Representative in a format determined by the Authority for review and discussion at the next Performance Review Meeting which summarises the performance by the Contractor in the previous Month against each of the Operational KPIs (the "**Operational KPI Report**").

Additional information

5.4 The Contractor shall provide to the Authority such documentation as the Authority may reasonably require in order to verify the level of the performance by the Contractor outlined in the Performance Monitoring Reports and Operational KPI Reports.

Service Failure and Plans for Improvement

- 5.5 Within 10 days of the end of each Month and in any event prior to the Performance Review Meeting the Contractor shall provide the Authority with details of:
 - 5.5.1 any previous KPI Failures remaining outstanding and progress in resolving them;
 - 5.5.2 in the case of a previous Performance Failure, whether or not a Service Rectification Plan has been agreed; and
 - 5.5.3 where a Service Rectification Plan has been agreed, a summary of the Contractor's progress in implementing that Service Rectification Plan;
 - 5.5.4 the status of any outstanding Service Rectification Plan actions or processes;
 - 5.5.5 for any Repeat KPI Failures or Persistent KPI Failures, actions taken by either party pursuant to Paragraphs 7.1 or 8.3 of this Schedule 3; and
 - 5.5.6 such other details as the Authority may reasonably require from time to time,

the "Rectification Status Report".

6. Performance Review Meetings

- 6.1 The Parties shall attend a meeting to discuss Performance Monitoring Reports, Operational KPI Reports and Rectification Status Reports and to agree any proposed Service Rectification Plans ("**Performance Review Meetings**") on a Monthly basis and by no later than the seventeenth day of each Month. The Performance Review Meetings shall:
 - 6.1.1 take place within one (1) week of the Performance Monitoring Reports being issued by the Authority and the Contractor issuing the Operational KPI Reports at such location and time (within normal business hours) as the Authority shall reasonably require;
 - 6.1.2 be attended by the Contractor's Representative and the Authority's Representative; and
 - 6.1.3 be fully minuted by the Contractor and the minutes will be circulated by the Contractor to all attendees at the relevant meeting and also to the Authority's Representative and any other recipients agreed at the relevant meeting.

7. KPI Failure

- 7.1 If there is a KPI Failure in any Month as demonstrated in the Performance Monitoring Report:
 - 7.1.1 the Contractor shall provide such information as may be requested by the Authority and within such timescales required by the Authority, regarding the cause of the KPI Failure and any measures that the Contractor may be required to put in place to ensure that there is not a Repeat KPI Failure or a Persistent KPI Failure;
 - 7.1.2 if any KPI Failure is a Repeat KPI Failure, the Authority shall be entitled to require the Contractor to implement changes to the manner in which the Contractor provides the Services so as to prevent a Persistent KPI Failure, including (without limitation and by way of example) making changes to Key Personnel or Subcontractors; and
 - 7.1.3 if any KPI Failure is a Persistent KPI Failure the Authority shall be entitled to change the relative weighting of any KPI in which the KPI Failure has occurred and the corresponding relative weighting of the remaining KPIs for the purposes of calculating the Total Weighted Score.

8. Performance Failure

8.1 Each Month the Authority shall calculate its overall performance against the Weighted Performance Target by calculating its Total Weighted Score.

- 8.2 The Total Weighted Score shall be calculated by dividing the Actual KPI Performance for each Contractual KPI by 100 and multiplying the resulting figure by the corresponding Weighting for that Contractual KPI.
- 8.3 Where there is a Performance Failure in any Month, as demonstrated in the Performance Monitoring Report, the Contractor shall prepare a formal written rectification plan to satisfy the Authority that the Contractor is taking or will immediately take all necessary steps to improve future performance and minimise the risk of subsequent Performance Failures ("Service Rectification Plan").
- 8.4 The Service Rectification Plan shall at a minimum contain the following information:
 - 8.4.1 notification of the scale of the problem and the steps that the Contractor proposes to take, or is taking to rectify or improve its performance including all failures to perform the Services in accordance with the standards set out in the KPIs; and
 - 8.4.2 a statement as to how success in implementing the Service Rectification Plan will be measured; and
 - 8.4.3 a statement as to the timescales within which the Service Rectification Plan will be implemented; and
 - 8.4.4 such other information as may reasonably be required by the Authority.
- 8.5 The Service Rectification Plan shall be signed by a duly authorised representative of the Contractor and submitted to the Authority for approval by no later than 3 days following the date of the Authority's submission of the Performance Management Report showing the Contractor's Performance Failure and in any event prior to that Month's Performance Review Meeting.
- 8.6 The Authority shall give its approval or, if not approved, any comments on the Service Rectification Plan as soon as reasonably practicable after its submission or, if within 7 days of the date of such submission, at the next following Performance Review Meeting. Failure to respond shall not be deemed approval. Where the Authority elects not to approve the Service Rectification Plan the Contractor shall make such amendments to the Service Rectification Plan as may reasonably be required by the Authority and shall re-submit the Service Rectification Plan for approval within 3 days from and including the date upon which the Authority notifies its request.
- 8.7 Once agreed the Contractor shall comply with the Service Rectification Plan in accordance with any timescales set out therein.
- 8.8 lf:
 - 8.8.1 the Contractor fails to fully implement the Service Rectification Plan in accordance with its terms (including timescales); and/or
 - 8.8.2 there is a Repeat Performance Failure (either a further Performance Failure by the Contractor over the following Month or for a fourth Month in the rolling 5 Month Period),

then the Authority shall be entitled to give the Contractor written notice that the Agreement may be terminated in the event that the Contractor fails to rectify the situation and there is a further Performance Failure either over the next consecutive Month or for a fifth Month in the rolling 12 Month Period (a "**Rectification Notice**").

- 8.9 If after the Authority has issued a Rectification Notice the Contractor fails to rectify a Performance Failure and achieves less than the Weighted Performance Target over the third (and any subsequent) consecutive Month or fifth (and any subsequent) Month in any rolling period of 12 Months (a "**Critical Performance Failure**"), the Authority shall be entitled to terminate the Agreement with immediate effect (or within such timescale as the Authority acting in its absolute discretion deems appropriate) on giving the Contractor written notice of such termination, upon expiry of which the Agreement shall be treated as having been terminated for irremediable material breach by the Contractor.
- 8.10 For the avoidance of doubt, if no Services are performed in a Month as a result of the Authority not having a requirement for storage in that Month, such lack of activity shall not

constitute a KPI Failure. Performance in such a Month where no Services are performed as a result of the Authority not having a requirement for storage shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing consecutive Months of KPI Failure for a Repeat KPI Failure, Persistent KPI Failure or a Critical Performance Failure, and the next following Month in which the Services are performed shall be treated as being "consecutive" to the last Month in which the Services were performed, however, such a Month of no activity shall not extend the rolling **Consecutive** of assessment.

Annex 1

Contractual KPIs

КРІ	Measure Description	Measure Calculation	Weighting	Minimum Target
				_
			-	_

Total Weighted Performance	Total Weighted Score	

Schedule 4

Charges, Payment and Invoicing

1 Charges

- 1.1 The Contractor shall invoice the Charges on a weekly basis in arrears following satisfactory completion within the previous week of that part of the Services to which the corresponding element of the Charges relate (as set out in Annex 1 to this Schedule).
- 1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, any ancillary costs and charges properly incurred by the Contractor on behalf of the Authority shall all form part of the Charges.
- 1.3 The Contractor shall raise a single consolidated, itemised invoice each week for the Charges in respect of the Services provided in the previous seven (7) days in the format and with the supporting documentation prescribed by the Authority.
- 1.4 The Charges shall be comprised of a cubic price per metre for each of the service lines set out in the Annex which shall be agreed between the Parties each acting in good faith, in writing for each Warehouse Premises prior to the first Service being delivered from or to such Warehouse Premises. In agreeing the cubic prices per metre, the Parties agree and acknowledge that:
 - 1.4.1 the cubic prices per metre shall be calculated by reference to and be consistent with the indicative pricing set out in the Annex;
 - 1.4.2 once agreed between the Parties' in writing the cubic prices per metre shall be fixed for all subsequent Service requirements from or to such Warehouse Premises subject to the remaining terms of this Schedule 4 (Charging, Payment and Invoicing);
 - 1.4.3 when agreeing the cubic price per metre in respect of a Warehouse Premises, the Parties shall also agree in writing if such Warehouse Premises shall be a nominated warehouse for the purposes of paragraph 1.5 below.

1.5 Insurance adjustment for storage at nominated warehouse

- 1.5.1 The Contractor shall be entitled to charge an additional fee of £1.41 for each cubic metre of Goods stored at Warehouse Premises nominated in accordance with paragraph 1.4.3 (the "Insurance Adjustment Charge") provided that the Insurance Adjustment Charge shall be capped at a total of £70,000 (the "Insurance Adjustment Cap") in each year of the term and shall cease to be payable in respect of any Services once the Insurance Adjustment Cap has been reached in each year of the term.
- 1.5.2 The Parties agree and acknowledge that the Insurance Adjustment Charge is payable in relation to the cost to the Contractor in obtaining insurances as required by this Agreement. In the event that this Agreement is terminated before the end of the Initial Term for any reason whatsoever, the Contractor shall make a payment to the Authority within thirty (30) days of the date of termination of this Agreement for, either:
- (a) where the total amounts paid up to the date of termination by way of Insurance Adjustment Charge are equal to the Insurance Adjustment Cap, a sum equal to £5,834 multiplied by the total number of Months remaining in the Initial Term at the date of termination; or

(b) where the total amounts paid up to the date of termination by way of Insurance Adjustment Charge are less than the Insurance Adjustment Cap, a sum calculated as follows (where such sum is greater than zero only)

Total IAC

Where:

Total IAC: is the total Insurance Adjustment Charge paid up to the date of termination; and

 ${\bf M}$ is the total number of full Months of the term which have elapsed up to the date of termination

- 1.6 The Contractor shall ensure that each invoice (whether submitted electronically through a purchase-to-pay (P2P) automated system (or similar) or in a paper form, as the Authority may specify:
 - 1.6.1 contains:
 - (a) all appropriate references; and
 - (b) a detailed breakdown of the Services to which the Charges relate; and
 - 1.6.2 shows separately:
 - (a) the VAT added to the due and payable Charges in accordance with Clause 16.2 and the tax point date relating to the rate of VAT shown; and
 - 1.6.3 it is supported by any other documentation reasonably required by the Authority to substantiate the contents of the invoice.
- 1.7 The Authority shall pay all Charges and any sums due in accordance with Clause 16.1.4 in the Contractor's invoice that are properly due and payable within thirty (30) days of receipt of the invoice.
- 1.8 If the Authority disputes any invoice:
 - 1.8.1 the Authority shall notify the Supplier in writing promptly following receipt of the invoice, specifying the reasons for disputing the invoice;
 - 1.8.2 the Contractor shall provide all evidence as may be reasonably necessary to verify the disputed invoice;
 - 1.8.3 the Authority shall pay to the Contractor all amounts not disputed by the Authority on the due date as set out in Paragraphs 1.4 or 1.5 (as applicable);
 - 1.8.4 the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute promptly; and
 - 1.8.5 if the Parties have not resolved the dispute within 30 days of the Authority giving notice to the Contractor, the dispute shall be resolved in accordance with Clause 47 (Dispute Resolution).
- 1.9 All Charges shall remain fixed for the first Contract Year and shall be subject to review for any subsequent period in accordance with the provisions of this Clause:
 - 1.9.1 if the Agreement is extended pursuant to Clause 6.2, within fourteen (14) days of the start of the tenth (10th) Month of the first Contract Year, the Authority shall provide to the Contractor its estimated forecast of warehousing requirements for
any Extended Term. For the avoidance of doubt, such forecast shall be an estimate only and shall not commit the Authority either to place such estimated volumes with the Contractor under this Agreement or to exercise its rights to extend the Agreement beyond the Initial Term;

- 1.9.2 with reference to the estimated forecast of requirements provided by the Authority, the Contractor shall prepare and submit in writing to the Authority for discussion and approval a proposed set of Charges to apply during any Extended Term prior to the meeting of the Operational Board in the eleventh Month of the first Contract Year;
- 1.9.3 the Parties shall review the proposal submitted by the Contractor and each use their reasonable endeavours to agree the Charges to take effect from the first anniversary of the Operational Commencement Date, having reference to each other's reasonable representations, justification and demonstration of cost variances (wherever possible with reference to objective market data) for any revised Charges; and
- 1.9.4 in the event that the Parties cannot agree the Charges to apply during any Extended Term prior to the end of the Initial Term and the Authority has nonetheless exercised its option to extend this Agreement, the Charges applicable in the first Contract Year shall continue to apply until such agreement is reached (where necessary following the Dispute resolution procedure set out in the Dispute Resolution Procedure or either Party terminates this Agreement by giving to the other not less than ninety (90) days' notice in writing.

Annex

Charges

International Warehouse Volumes (Indicative Charges)

Charges shall be calculated with reference to, and shall be consistent with, the indicative pricing set out below:

Governance

1 Definitions

In this Schedule, the following definitions shall apply:

Annual Management Meeting	means the Management Meeting described in Paragraph 6;
Management Meetings	means the Annual Management Meeting, the Quarterly Management Meeting and the Monthly Management Meeting and "Management Meeting" shall mean any of them;
Monthly Management Meeting	means the Management Meeting described in Paragraph 4; and
Quarterly Management Meeting	means the Management Meeting described in Paragraph 5.

2 Management of the services

- 2.1 The Contractor and the Authority shall each appoint a project manager for the purposes of this Agreement through whom the Services shall be managed at a day-to-day level.
- 2.2 Both Parties shall ensure that appropriate resource is made available on a regular basis such that the aims, objectives and specific provisions of this Agreement can be fully realised.

3 Management meetings

Establishment and structure of the Management Meetings

- 3.1 The Management Meetings shall take place on the dates and times as notified to the Contractor by the Authority.
- 3.2 The three types of Management Meetings to take place pursuant to this Agreement shall be as follows:
 - (a) The Monthly Management Meeting;
 - (b) The Quarterly Management Meeting; and
 - (c) The Annual Management Meeting.
- 3.3 Both Parties shall ensure that appropriate resource is made available to support and facilitate the objectives of the Management Meetings such that the aims and objectives of this Agreement can be fully realised.
- 3.4 Each Party shall ensure that its required delegates for Management Meetings shall make all reasonable efforts to attend Management Meetings at which that delegate's attendance is required. If any delegate is not able to attend a Management Meeting, that person shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that:

- (a) a delegate of equivalent seniority and expertise attends the relevant Management Meeting in his/her place who (wherever possible) is properly briefed and prepared; and
- (b) he/she is debriefed by such delegate after the Management Meeting.
- 3.5 A chairperson shall be appointed by the Authority for each Management Meeting as identified in Annex 1. The chairperson for each Management Meeting shall be responsible for:
 - (a) scheduling Management Meetings;
 - (b) setting any updates to the standing agenda for Management Meetings and circulating to all attendees in advance of such meeting;
 - (c) chairing the Management Meeting;
 - (d) monitoring the progress of any follow up tasks and activities agreed to be carried out following the Management Meeting;
 - (e) ensuring that minutes for the Management Meeting are recorded and disseminated electronically to the appropriate persons and to all Management Meeting participants within seven Working Days after the Management Meeting; and
 - (f) facilitating the process or procedure by which any decision agreed at any Management Meeting is given effect in the appropriate manner.
- 3.6 Monthly Management Meetings shall be quorate as long as at one representative from each Party is present. Quarterly Management Meetings and Annual Management Meetings shall be quorate as long as at least two representatives from each Party are present.
- 3.7 The Parties shall ensure, as far as reasonably practicable, that all Management Meetings shall as soon as reasonably practicable resolve the issues and achieve the objectives placed before them. Each Party shall endeavour to ensure that its delegates to Management Meetings are empowered to make relevant decisions or have access to empowered individuals for decisions to be made to achieve this.

4 Role of the monthly management meeting

- 4.1 The purpose of the Monthly Management Meeting shall be to carry out operational performance review this Agreement with the following objectives:
 - (a) A contractual and management KPI performance review;
 - (b) Reviewing action plans / progress; and
 - (c) Sharing latest forecast for current / next quarter.

For the avoidance of doubt the Monthly Management Meeting shall incorporate the Performance Review Meeting as detailed in Schedule 3 (Performance Standards and KPIs).

- 4.2 The Monthly Management Meeting shall take place on a monthly basis at the dates and time as set by the Authority.
- 4.3 The following items in relation to the Monthly Management Meeting are set out in the Annex to this Schedule:
 - (a) Format/location;
 - (b) Frequency/timing;
 - (c) Meeting inputs;
 - (d) Chairperson;

- (e) Attendees mandatory and optional;
- (f) Standing agenda;
- (g) Outputs.

5 Role of the quarterly management meeting

- 5.1 Every third Monthly Management Meeting shall be incorporated into and replaced by the Quarterly Management Meeting to be held in that Month.
- 5.2 The purpose of the Quarterly Management Meeting shall be to carry out leadership performance review this Agreement with the following objectives:
 - (a) A contractual and management KPI performance review;
 - (b) Reviewing action plans / progress;
 - (c) Sharing latest annual forecast requirements;
 - (d) Reviewing optimisation opportunities.
- 5.3 The Quarterly Management Meeting shall take place on a quarterly basis at the dates and time as set by the Authority.
- 5.4 The following items in relation to the Quarterly Management Meeting are set out in the Annex to this Schedule:
 - (a) Format/location;
 - (b) Frequency/timing;
 - (c) Meeting inputs;
 - (d) Chairperson;
 - (e) Attendees mandatory and optional;
 - (f) Standing agenda;
 - (g) Outputs.

6 Role of the annual management meeting

- 6.1 The purpose of the Annual Management Meeting shall be to carry out a strategic review this Agreement with the following objectives:
 - (a) Discussing and agreeing annual rate review for the Charges (as referred to in Paragraph 1.7 of Schedule 4 (Charges, Payment and Invoicing);
 - (b) Carrying out an annual operational review; and
 - (c) Reviewing optimisation opportunities.
- 6.2 The Annual Management Meeting shall take place on an annual basis at the dates and time as set by the Authority.
- 6.3 The following items in relation to the Annual Management Meeting are set out in the Annex 1 (Representation and Structure of Management Meetings) to this Schedule:
 - (a) Format/location;
 - (b) Frequency/timing;
 - (c) Meeting inputs;

- (d) Chairperson;
- (e) Attendees mandatory and optional;
- (f) Standing agenda;
- (g) Outputs.

7 Contract management mechanisms

- 7.1 Both Parties shall pro-actively manage risks attributed to them under the terms of this Agreement and discuss any such risks at the Management Meetings.
- 7.2 The Contractor shall develop, operate, maintain and amend, as agreed with the Authority, processes for:
 - (a) the identification and management of risks;
 - (b) the identification and management of issues; and
 - (c) monitoring and controlling project plans.

ANNEX 1: REPRESENTATION AND STRUCTURE OF MANAGEMENT MEETINGS

-	
Format / Location	Local Face-to-face Meeting / Remote via Teams
Frequency / Timing	Every 2nd Thursday Monthly / 60 mins
Attendees	Mandatory • Contract Manager DHSC (R / D*) • Contract Manager Contractor (I / A / P) • Analyst DHSC (I) Optional • Head of International Freight Operations DHSC (A / R / P) • Commercial Lead DHSC (I / A) • Operations Director Contractor (I / A) * Meeting role using the RAPID decision making methodology RAPID: I = provide input into a recommendation R = recommend a decision or action A - formally agree to a decision D - make the decision, commit organisation into action P - be accountable to perform a decision once made
Inputs	Contractual and Management KPI reports, volume forecasts, stakeholder feedback, action plans
Chairperson	Contract Manger – Authority
Standing Agenda	Agenda1Review action log - 5 mins2Review Contractual and Management KPIs - 20 mins3Agree action plan(s) - 10 mins4Review updated quarterly volume forecast - 5 mins5Agree actions - 5 mins
Outputs	Agreed performance against contractual KPIs Agreed priority actions / plans against KPIs Agreed communications / escalations (where necessary)

Monthly Management Meeting

Quarterly Management Meeting

Format / Leastion	Local Food to food Masting / Demote via Teams
Format / Location	Local Face-to-face Meeting / Remote via Teams
Frequency / Timing	Every Quarter 2nd Thursday / 90 mins
r requency / rinning	Every Quarter zhu mursuay / 50 mins
Attendees	Mandatory
	Contract Manager DHSC (A / P*)
	Contract Manager Contractor (I / A / P)
	 Head of International Freight Operations DHSC (D / R)
	Commercial Lead DHSC (I / A)
	 Operations Director Contractor (R / A)
	Optional
	Deputy Director DHSC (I / A)
	 Senior Director / COO Contractor (I / A)
	* Meeting role using the RAPID decision making methodology
Inputs	KPI reports, volume forecasts, stakeholder feedback, action plans,
	optimisation recommendations
Chairperson	Head of International Freight Operations – Authority
Standing Agenda	Agenda
	1 Review action log - 10 mins
	2 Review Quarterly Contractual and Management KPIs - 20
	mins
	3 Agree action plan(s) - 10 mins
	4 Review updated annual volume forecast - 10 mins
	5 Review Contractor optimisation plans - 15 mins
	6 Agree actions - 10 mins
Outputs	Agreed performance against contractual KPIs
Julpuis	Agreed priority actions / plans against KPIs
	Agreed communications / escalations (where necessary)
	Agreed improvement plans

Annual Management Meeting

Format / Location	Local Face-to-face Meeting / Remote via Teams
Frequency / Timing	Annual – December or January / 60 mins
Attendees	 Mandatory Contract Manager DHSC (A / P*) Contract Manager Contractor (I / A / P) Head of International Freight Operations DHSC (D / R) Commercial Lead DHSC (I / A) Operations Director Contractor (R / A) Deputy Director DHSC (I / A) Senior Director / COO Contractor (I / A) * Meeting role using the RAPID decision making methodology
Inputs	KPI reports, volume forecasts, stakeholder feedback, action plans, optimisation recommendations
Chairperson	Head of International Freight Operations – Authority
Standing Agenda	Agenda1Review Annual Contractual and Management KPIs - 15 mins2Review action plan progress - 10 mins3Review updated annual volume forecast - 10 mins4Review annual price change proposal - 20 mins5Agree actions and next steps - 5 mins
Outputs	Agreed performance against contractual KPIs Agreed priority actions / plans Agreed pricing / follow up actions Agreed next steps

Key Subcontractors

1. Key Subcontractors

- 1.1 The Contractor is entitled to sub-contract its obligations under this Agreement to the Key Sub-Contractors listed in the Annex 1 to this Schedule 6.
- 1.2 Where during the Term the Contractor wishes to enter into a new Key Sub-Contract or replace a Key Sub-Contractor, it must obtain the prior written consent of the Authority and the Contractor shall, at the time of requesting such consent, provide the Authority with the information detailed in Paragraph 1.4. The decision of the Authority to consent or not will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Authority may reasonably withhold their consent to the appointment of a Key Sub-Contractor if it considers that:
 - 1.2.1 the appointment of a proposed Key Subcontractor may prejudice the provision of the Services or may be contrary to the Authority's interests;
 - 1.2.2 the proposed Key Sub-Contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reliable goods and or reasonable services to its other customers; and/or
 - 1.2.3 the proposed Key Sub-Contractor employs unfit persons.
- 1.3 The Contractor shall provide the Authority with the following information in respect of the proposed Key Sub-Contractor:
 - 1.3.1 the proposed Key Sub-Contractor's name, registered office and company registration number;
 - 1.3.2 the scope/description of any part of the Services to be provided by the proposed Key Sub-Contractor;
 - 1.3.3 where the proposed Key Subcontractor is an Affiliate of the Contractor, evidence that demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that the proposed Key Sub-Contract has been agreed on "arm's-length" terms; and
 - 1.3.4 the Key Sub-Contract price expressed as a percentage of the total projected Charges over the Term.
 - 1.3.5 a copy of the proposed Key Sub-Contract; and
 - 1.3.6 any further information reasonably requested by the Authority.
- 1.4 The Contractor shall ensure that each new or replacement Key Sub-Contract shall include:
 - 1.4.1 provisions which will enable the Contractor to discharge its obligations under the Agreement;
 - 1.4.2 a right under CRTPA for the Authority to enforce any provisions under the Key Sub-Contract which confer a benefit upon the Authority;
 - 1.4.3 a provision enabling the Authority to enforce the Key Sub-Contract as if it were the Contractor;
 - 1.4.4 a provision enabling the Contractor to assign, novate or otherwise transfer any of its rights and/or obligations under the Key Sub-Contract to the Authority;
 - 1.4.5 obligations no less onerous on the Key Sub-Contractor than those imposed on the Contractor under the Agreement in respect of:

- (a) the data protection requirements set out in Schedule 7 (Data Protection);
- (b) the FOIA and Confidential Information;
- (c) the obligation not to embarrass the Authority or otherwise bring the Authority into disrepute;
- (d) the keeping of records in respect of the goods and/or services being provided under the Key Sub-Contract; and
- (e) the conduct of audits set out in Clause 32 (Conduct of Audits);
- 1.4.6 a provision restricting the ability of the Key Sub-Contractor to sub-contract all or any part of the provision of the Services provided to the Contractor under the Key Sub-Contract without first seeking the written consent of the Authority.

Annex 1

Key Subcontractors

Key Subcontractor	Registered address

Data Protection

1. Interpretation

Unless otherwise provided or the context otherwise requires the following expressions used in this Schedule shall have the meanings set out below:

Controller	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Data Loss Event	means any event that results, or may result, in unauthorised access to Personal Data held by the Contractor under this Agreement, and/or actual or potential loss and/or destruction of Personal Data in breach of this Agreement, including any Personal Data Breach;	
Data Protection Impact Assessment	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Data Protection Legislation	(a)	the GDPR and any applicable national implementing Laws as amended from time to time;
	(b)	the DPA 2018 to the extent that it relates to processing of personal data and privacy;
	(c)	all applicable law about the processing of personal data and privacy;
Data Subjects	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Data Subject Request	means a request made by, or on behalf of, a Data Subject in accordance with rights granted pursuant to the Data Protection Legislation to their Personal Data;	
DPA 2018	means the Data Protection Act 2018;	
GDPR	means the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679;	
Joint Controllers	means where two or more Controllers jointly determine the purposes and means of processing;	
Personal Data	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Personal Data Breach	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Processor	has the meaning given in the GDPR;	
Processor Personnel	means all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors of the Processor;	
Protective Measures	means appropriate technical and organisational measures which may include: pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, ensuring confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of systems and services, ensuring that availability of and access to Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner after an incident, and regularly assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the such measures adopted by	

it; and

Sub-processor	Means any Sub-Contractor of the Contractor that carries out
	data processing activities as part of the element of the
	Services for which it is sub-contracted.

2. General

- 2.1 The Parties shall each process Personal Data. The Parties acknowledge that the factual arrangements between them dictate the role of each Party in respect of the Data Protection Legislation. In certain circumstances, a Party may act as a "Joint Controller" or a "Controller" or a "Processor". The roles of each Party in relation to the Personal Data being processed under and in accordance with this Agreement is as set out in the tables contained at Appendix 1.
- 2.2 The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office. The Authority may on not less than thirty (30) Business Days' notice to the Contractor amend this Agreement to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office.
- 2.3 To the extent that it is necessary in order to facilitate the delivery of the Services, the Authority authorises the Contractor to share Personal Data relating to this Agreement with other Authority appointed contractors, provided that any such Personal Data is processed in accordance with this Schedule.

3. Data Sharing Obligations

- 3.1 The Parties each acknowledge and agree that they may need to process Personal Data relating to each Party's representatives (in their respective capacities as Controllers) in order to (as appropriate): (a) administer and provide the Services; (b) request and receive the Services; (c) compile, dispatch and manage the payment of invoices relating to the Services; (d) manage the Agreement and resolve any disputes relating to it; (e) respond and/or raise general queries relating to the Service; and (f) comply with their respective obligations.
- 3.2 Each Party shall process such Personal Data relating to each Party's representatives for the purposes set out in paragraph 3.1 (Data Sharing Obligations) in accordance with their own privacy policies. The Parties acknowledge that they may be required to share Personal Data with their Affiliates, group companies and other relevant parties, within or outside of the country of origin, in order to carry out the activities listed in paragraph 3.1 (Data Sharing Obligations), and in doing so each Party will ensure that the sharing and use of this Personal Data complies with applicable Data Protection Legislation.
- 3.3 Save in relation to contact Personal Data processed by the Parties in accordance with paragraph 3.1 (Data Sharing Obligations), where and to the extent the Contractor is acting as a Controller (except as a Joint Controller, in which case paragraph 3.4 shall apply), and processing Personal Data in its provision of the Services and compliance with its obligations under this Agreement the conditions set out in this paragraph 3.3 (Data Sharing Obligations) shall apply.
 - 3.3.1 Each Party shall process the Personal Data in compliance with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation and not do anything to cause the other Party to be in breach of it.
 - 3.3.2 Where a Party has provided Personal Data to the other Party is Confidential Information, the recipient of the Personal Data will provide all such relevant documents and information relating to its data protection policies and procedures as the other Party may reasonably require.

- 3.3.3 The Parties shall be responsible for their own compliance with Articles 13 and 14 GDPR (to the extent that it applies) in respect of the processing of Personal Data for the purposes of this Agreement.
- 3.3.4 The Parties shall only provide Personal Data to each other:
- (a) to the extent necessary to perform the respective obligations under this Agreement;
- (b) in compliance with the Data Protection Legislation (including by ensuring all required fair processing information has been given to affected Data Subjects); and
- (c) where it has recorded it in Part 1 of Appendix 1 to this Schedule 7 (Data Protection).
- 3.3.5 Taking into account the state of the art, the costs of implementation and the nature, scope, context and purposes of processing as well as the risk of varying likelihood and severity for the rights and freedoms of natural persons, each Party shall, with respect to its processing of Personal Data as independent Controller, implement and maintain appropriate technical and organisational measures to ensure a level of security appropriate to that risk, including, as appropriate, the measures referred to in Article 32(1)(a), (b), (c) and (d) of the GDPR, and the measures shall, at a minimum, comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Legislation, including Article 32 of the GDPR.
- 3.3.6 Where a Party receives a request by any Data Subject Request in relation to the Personal Data provided to it by the other Party pursuant to this Agreement ("the Request Recipient"):
- (a) the other Party shall provide any information and/or assistance as reasonable required by the Request Recipient to help it respond to the request or correspondence, at the cost of the Request Recipient; or
- (b) where the request or correspondence is directed to the other party and/or relates to the other party's processing of the Personal Data, the Request Recipient will:
 - promptly, and in any event within five (5) Working Days of receipt of the request or correspondence, inform the other party that it has received the same and shall forward such request or correspondence to the other party; and
 - (ii) provide any information and/or assistance as reasonably requested by the other party to help it respond to the request or correspondence in the timeframes specified by Data Protection Legislation.
- 3.3.7 Each Party shall promptly notify the other Party upon it becoming aware of any Personal Data Breach relating to Personal Data provided by the other Party pursuant to this Agreement and shall:
- (a) do all such things as reasonably necessary to assist the other Party in mitigating the effects of the Personal Data Breach;
- (b) implement any measures necessary to restore the security of any compromised Personal Data;
- (c) work with the other Party to make any required notifications to the Information Commissioner's Office and affected Data Subjects in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation (including the timeframes set out therein); and
- (d) not do anything which may damage the reputation of the other Party or that Party's relationship with the relevant Data Subjects, save as required by Law.

- 3.3.8 Personal Data provided by one Party to the other Party may be used exclusively for the Permitted Purpose as specified in Part 1 of Appendix 1 to this Schedule 7 (Data Protection).
- 3.3.9 Personal Data shall not be retained or processed for longer than is necessary to perform each Party's obligations under this Agreement which is specified in Appendix 1 of this Schedule 7 (Data Protection).
- 3.4 Where and to the extent the Contractor is acting as a Joint Controller with the Authority the conditions set out in this paragraph 3.4 (Data Sharing Obligations) shall apply.
 - 3.4.1 Each Party shall:
 - (a) collaboratively ensure that all fair processing notices have been given (and/or, as applicable, consents obtained), and are sufficient in scope to allow the envisaged processing in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation and for the purposes set out in the Agreement. For the purposes of this paragraph (a) the Authority shall have the final approval and oversight as to whether it or the Contractor is to provide any relevant fair processing notice and/or as applicable, obtain necessary consents, on behalf of both parties;
 - (b) make due notification to the Information Commissioner's Office (or other such regulatory authority as required by Data Protection Legislation), including in relation to its use and processing of the Personal Data and comply at all times with the Data Protection Legislation;
 - (c) maintain complete and accurate records and information to demonstrate its compliance with this paragraph 3.4 (Data Sharing Obligations). This requirement does not apply where the Party employs fewer than 250 staff, unless:
 - (i) any of the Parties determine that the processing is not occasional;
 - (ii) any of the Parties determine the processing includes special categories of data as referred to in Article 9(1) of the GDPR or Personal Data relating to criminal convictions and offences referred to in Article 10 of the GDPR; or
 - (iii) any of the Parties determine that the processing is likely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects;
 - (d) work together (acting reasonably and in good faith) in the preparation of any Data Protection Impact Assessment prior to commencing any processing;
 - (e) where the Personal Data has been transmitted by it, or is in its possession or control, ensure that it has in place Protective Measures, which are appropriate to protect against a Data Loss Event, having taken account of the:
 - (i) nature of the data to be protected;
 - (ii) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event;
 - (iii) state of technological development; and
 - (iv) cost of implementing any measures;
 - (f) subject to paragraph 3.4.2 (Data Sharing Obligations) notify the other promptly if it:
 - (i) receives a Data Subject Request (or purported Data Subject Request);
 - (ii) receives a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data;
 - (iii) receives any other request, complaint or communication relating to either Party's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;

- (iv) receives any communication from the Information Commissioner's Office or any other regulatory authority (including a supervisory authority as defined in the Data Protection Legislation) in connection with Personal Data processed under this Agreement; or
- (v) receives a request from any third party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance with such request is required or purported to be required by Legislation.
- 3.4.2 Each Party's obligation to notify under paragraph 3.4.1(f) (Data Sharing Obligations) shall include the provision of further information in phases, as details become available. The Authority shall determine and confirm to the Contractor whether it or the Contractor shall be the primary point of contact and responder to the request, complaint or communication received pursuant to paragraph 3.4.1(f) (Data Sharing Obligations) and the parties shall ensure this is reflected within the relevant fair processing notices provided to Data Subjects. Where the Authority:
- (a) designates the Contractor as the primary point of contact, the Contractor shall provide updates and further information to the Authority, including (where directed by the Authority) allowing the Authority to have final oversight and approval of any response, prior to such response being released to the relevant party;
- (b) designates itself as the primary point of contact, the Contractor shall provide all support as necessary within the timescales directed by the Authority, including providing all Personal Data held by the Contractor in respect of the request, complaint or communication received to the Authority as soon as practicable and in any event within five (5) days, or as otherwise agreed by the parties acting reasonably and in good faith.
- 3.4.3 Before further sharing the Personal Data with a third party (including using a processor or any Sub-processor to process any Personal Data related to this Agreement), the Contractor must:
- (a) notify the Authority in writing of the intended third party (including any Processor and/or Sub-processor) and processing;
- (b) obtain the written consent of the Authority;
- (c) enter into a written Agreement with the third party (including any Processor and/or Sub-processor) which give effect to the terms set out in this Schedule (as applicable); and
- (d) provide the Authority with such information regarding the third party as the Authority may reasonably require.
- 3.4.4 The Contractor shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any third party to which it transfers the relevant Personal Data.

4. Processor Obligations

For the purposes of this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations), a reference to the "Controller" shall be a reference to the Authority as the context dictates.

- 4.1 Where and to the extent the Contractor is acting as a Processor, the conditions set out in this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations) shall apply.
- 4.2 The only processing that the Processor is authorised to do is listed in Part 2 of Appendix 1 to this Schedule 7 (Data Protection) by the Controller and may not be determined by the Processor.
- 4.3 The Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it considers that any of the Controller's instructions infringe the Data Protection Legislation.

- 4.4 The Processor shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Controller in the preparation of any Data Protection Impact Assessment prior to commencing any processing. Such assistance may, at the discretion of the Controller, include:
 - 4.4.1 a systematic description of the envisaged processing operations and the purpose of the processing;
 - 4.4.2 an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the processing operations in relation to the Services;
 - 4.4.3 an assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects; and
 - 4.4.4 the measures envisaged to address the risks, including safeguards, security measures and mechanisms to ensure the protection of Personal Data.
- 4.5 The Processor shall, in relation to any Personal Data processed in connection with its obligations under this Agreement:
 - 4.5.1 process that Personal Data only in accordance with Part 2 of Appendix 1 to this Schedule 7 (Data Protection) unless the Processor is required to do otherwise by Legislation. If it is so required the Processor shall promptly notify the Controller before processing the Personal Data unless prohibited by legislation;
 - 4.5.2 ensure that it has in place Protective Measures, which are appropriate to protect against a Data Loss Event, which the Controller may reasonably reject (but failure to reject shall not amount to approval by the Controller of the adequacy of the Protective Measures), having taken account of the:
 - (a) nature of the data to be protected;
 - (b) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event;
 - (c) state of technological development; and
 - (d) cost of implementing any measures;
 - 4.5.3 ensure that:
 - (a) the Processor Personnel do not process Personal Data except in accordance with this Agreement (and in particular Part 2 of Appendix 1 to this Schedule 7 (Data Protection));
 - (b) it takes all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of any Processor Personnel who have access to the Personal Data and ensure that they:
 - are aware of and comply with the Processor's duties under this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations);
 - (ii) are subject to appropriate confidentiality undertakings with the Processor or any Sub-processor;
 - (iii) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and do not publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third Party unless directed in writing to do so by the Controller or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement; and
 - (iv) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and handling of Personal Data; and
 - (c) where Personal Data is transferred outside of the United Kingdom to a country which has not been deemed adequate for the purposes of international data transfers by the European Commission or the United Kingdom government in accordance with Article 45 of the GDPR, the following conditions are fulfilled:

- (i) appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer (in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation) have been implemented;
- (ii) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;
- the Processor complies with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist the Controller in meeting its obligations);
- (iv) the Processor complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in advance by the Controller with respect to the processing of the Personal Data; and
- (v) at the written direction of the Controller, delete or return Personal Data (and any copies of it) to the Controller on termination of the Agreement unless the Processor is required by Legislation to retain the Personal Data.
- 4.5.4 Subject to paragraph 4.5.5 (Processor Obligations), the Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it:
- (a) receives a Data Subject Request (or purported Data Subject Request);
- (b) receives a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data;
- (c) receives any other request, complaint or communication relating to either Party's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;
- receives any communication from the Information Commissioner's Office or any other regulatory authority (including a supervisory authority as defined in the Data Protection Legislation) in connection with Personal Data Processed under this Agreement;
- (e) receives a request from any third party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance with such request is required or purported to be required by Legislation; or
- (f) becomes aware of a Data Loss Event.
- 4.5.5 The Processor's obligation to notify under paragraph 4.5.4 (Processor Obligations) shall include the provision of further information to the Controller in phases, as details become available. The Controller shall either, at its sole election: (a) assume full control of the responses to the events set out in paragraph 4.5.4 (Processor Obligations); or (b) direct the Processor in its response, save where the Processor is required to act quickly and solely within its internal business to minimise the impact(s) of a Data Loss Event.
- 4.5.6 Taking into account the nature of the processing, the Processor shall provide the Controller with full assistance in relation to either Party's obligations under Data Protection Legislation and any complaint, communication or request made under paragraph 4.5.4 (Processor Obligations) (and insofar as possible within the timescales reasonably required by the Controller) including by promptly providing:
- the Controller with full details and copies of the complaint, communication or request;
- (b) such assistance as is reasonably requested by the Controller to enable the Controller to comply with a Data Subject Request within the relevant timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation;

- (c) the Controller, at its request, with any Personal Data it holds in relation to a Data Subject;
- (d) assistance as requested by the Controller following any Data Loss Event; and
- (e) assistance as requested by the Controller with respect to any request from the Information Commissioner's Office, or any consultation by the Controller with the Information Commissioner's Office.
- 4.5.7 The Processor shall maintain complete and accurate records and information to demonstrate its compliance with this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations). This requirement does not apply where the Processor employs fewer than 250 staff, unless:
- (a) the Controller determines that the processing is not occasional;
- (b) the Controller determines the processing includes special categories of data as referred to in Article 9(1) of the GDPR or Personal Data relating to criminal convictions and offences referred to in Article 10 of the GDPR; or
- (c) the Controller determines that the processing is likely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects.
- 4.5.8 The Processor shall allow for audits of its processing activity by the Controller or the Controller's designated auditor.
- 4.5.9 Each Party shall designate its own data protection officer if required by the Data Protection Legislation.
- 4.5.10 Before allowing any Sub-processor to process any Personal Data related to this Agreement, the Processor must:
- (a) notify the Controller in writing of the intended Sub-processor and processing;
- (b) obtain the written consent of the Controller;
- (c) enter into a written Agreement with the Sub-processor which give effect to the terms set out in this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations) such that they apply to the Sub-processor; and
- (d) provide the Controller with such information regarding the Sub-processor as the Controller may reasonably require.

For the avoidance of doubt, for the purposes of paragraph 4.5.10(b), the Controller consents to the Sub-processors listed in Schedule 6 (Key Subcontractors) processing Personal Data related to this Agreement.

- 4.5.11 The Processor shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any of its Subprocessors.
- 4.5.12 The Controller may, at any time on not less than thirty (30) Business Days' notice, revise this paragraph 4 (Processor Obligations) by replacing it with any applicable controller to processor standard clauses or similar terms forming part of an applicable certification scheme (designated as such pursuant to Data Protection Legislation) (which shall apply when incorporated by attachment to this Agreement).
- 4.5.13 The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office. The Controller may on not less than thirty (30) Business Days' notice to the Processor amend this Agreement to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office.

4.5.14 The Parties agree to take account of any data processing agreement or protocol issued by the Authority or Government Department which provides for the processing of Personal Data between the Authority and the Contractor agrees, where required, the Authority may, at any time on not less than thirty (30) Business Days' notice, amend this Agreement to ensure that it complies with any terms of such data processing agreement or protocol.

APPENDIX 1 Data protection particulars

PART 1

1. Schedule of Data Sharing Particulars

This Part 1 to Appendix 1 of Schedule 7 (Data Protection) sets out the data sharing particulars to be completed by the Parties, acting reasonably and in good faith.

Description	Details	
Designation of Parties	The Parties are Independent Controllers of Personal Data The Parties acknowledge that they are Independent Controllers for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation in respect of:	
	 business contact details of Contractor Personnel for which the Contractor is the Controller, 	
	 business contact details of any directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors of the Authority (excluding the Contractor Personnel) engaged in the performance of the Authority's duties under the Agreement) for which the Authority is the Controller, 	
	 name and contact details (including phone number, email address, postal address) of warehouse operators, freight handlers and/or other individuals involved in the supply chain for the transportation and/or storage of the Goods and/or the delivery of the Services. 	
Permitted Purpose	The administration of the AgreementThe delivery of the Services by the Contractor.	

PART 2

2. Schedule of data processing particulars

This Part 2 to Appendix 1 of Schedule 7 (Data Protection) sets out the data processing particulars to be completed by the Controller, who may take account of the view of the Processor(s), however the final decision as to the content of this Schedule shall be with the Controller at its absolute discretion.

- 2.1 The Processor shall comply with any further written instructions with respect to processing by the Controller.
- 2.2 Any such further instructions shall be incorporated into this schedule of data processing particulars.

Description	Details
Designation of the Parties	The Authority is the Controller and the Contractor is the Processor
Duration of the processing	For the Term of the Agreement
Type of Personal Data	Name, contact details (including phone number, email address, postal address)
Categories of Data Subject	Freight handlers, warehouse operators, and/or other individuals involved in the supply chain for the transportation and/or storage of the Goods and/or in the delivery of the Services
Nature and purposes of the processing	For the provision of the Services by the Contractor

Insurance Requirements

1. Insurances

- 1.1 The Contractor shall take out and maintain, or procure the taking out and maintenance of the insurances as set out in the Annex to this Schedule, and any other insurances as may be required by applicable Law (together the "**Insurances**"). The Contractor shall ensure that each of the Insurances is effective no later than the Effective Date.
- 1.2 The Contractor shall ensure that each of the Insurances are:
 - 1.2.1 maintained in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
 - 1.2.2 (so far as is reasonably practicable) on terms no less favourable than those generally available to a prudent contractor in respect of risks insured in the international insurance market from time to time;
 - 1.2.3 taken out and maintained with insurers of good financial standing and good repute in the international insurance market; and
 - 1.2.4 maintained for at least six (6) years after the expiry of termination of this Agreement.
- 1.3 The Contractor shall ensure that the public and products liability policy contain an indemnity to principals clause under which the Authority shall be indemnified in respect of claims made against the Authority in respect of death or bodily injury or third party property damage arising out of or in connection with the provision of the Services and for which the Contractor is legally liable.
- 1.4 The Contractor shall by the Effective Date and within fifteen (15) Working Days after the renewal of each of the Insurances, provide evidence, in a form satisfactory to the Authority, that the Insurances are in force and effect and meet in full the requirements of this Schedule.

2. Insurance Management

- 2.1 Without limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, the Contractor shall:
 - 2.1.1 take or procure the taking of all reasonable risk management and risk control measures as it would be reasonable to expect of a prudent contractor acting in accordance with Good Industry Practice, including the investigation and reports of relevant claims to insurers;
 - 2.1.2 promptly notify the insurers in writing of any relevant material fact under any Insurances of which the Contractor is or becomes aware; and
 - 2.1.3 hold all policies in respect of the Insurances and cause any insurance broker effecting the Insurances to hold any insurance slips and other evidence of placing cover representing any of the Insurances to which it is a party.
- 2.2 The Contractor shall not take any action or fail to take any action or (insofar as is reasonably within its power) permit anything to occur in relation to it which would entitle any insurer to refuse to pay any claim under any of the Insurances.
- 2.3 Where the Contractor has failed to purchase or maintain any of the Insurances in full force and effect, the Authority may elect (but shall not be obliged) following written notice to the Contractor to purchase the relevant Insurances and recover the reasonable premium and other reasonable costs incurred in connection therewith as a debt due from the Contractor.
- 2.4 The Contractor shall ensure that any Insurances which are stated to have a minimum limit "in the aggregate" are maintained at all times for the minimum limit of indemnity specified in this

Contract and if any claims are made which do not relate to this Contract then the Contractor shall notify the Authority and provide details of its proposed solution for maintaining the minimum limit of indemnity.

3. Cancellation of Insurance

- 3.1 The Contractor shall notify the Authority in writing at least five (5) Working Days prior to the cancellation, suspension, termination or non-renewal of any of the Insurances.
- 3.2 The Contractor shall ensure that nothing is done which would entitle the relevant insurer to cancel, rescind or suspend any insurance or cover, or to treat any insurance, cover or claim as voided in whole or part. The Contractor shall use all reasonable endeavours to notify the Authority (subject to third party confidentiality obligations) as soon as practicable when it becomes aware of any relevant fact, circumstance or matter which has caused, or is reasonably likely to provide grounds to, the relevant insurer to give notice to cancel, rescind, suspend or void any insurance, or any cover or claim under any insurance in whole or in part.

4. Insurance Claims

- 4.1 The Contractor shall promptly notify to insurers any matter arising from, or in relation to, this Agreement for which it may be entitled to claim under any of the Insurances. In the event that the Authority receives a claim relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the Contractor shall co-operate with the Authority and assist it in dealing with such claims including without limitation providing information and documentation in a timely manner.
- 4.2 Except where the Authority is the claimant party, the Contractor shall give the Authority notice within twenty (20) Working Days after any insurance claim in excess of 10% of the sum required to be insured pursuant to the Annex to this Schedule relating to or arising out of the provision of the Services on any of the Insurances or which, but for the application of the applicable policy excess, would be made on any of the Insurances and (if required by the Authority) full details of the incident giving rise to the claim.
- 4.3 Where any Insurance requires payment of a premium, the Contractor shall be liable for and shall promptly pay such premium.
- 4.4 Where any Insurance is subject to an excess or deductible below which the indemnity from insurers is excluded, the Contractor shall be liable for such excess or deductible. The Contractor shall not be entitled to recover from the Authority any sum paid by way of excess or deductible under the Insurances whether under the terms of this Agreement or otherwise.

ANNEX

Required Insurances

The Contractor shall hold the following standard insurance cover from the Effective Date in accordance with this Schedule:

- 1. Public Liability Insurance with cover (for a single event or a series of related events and in the aggregate) of not less than five million pounds (£5,000,000);
- 2. Employers' Liability Insurance with cover (for a single event or a series of related events and in the aggregate) of not less than ten million pounds (£10,000,000); and
- 3. Professional Indemnity Insurance with cover (for a single event or a series of related events and in the aggregate) of not less than two million pounds (£2,000,000).

Benchmarking

1 Definitions

1.1 In this Schedule, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

Benchmark Review	a review of the Services carried out in accordance with this Schedule to determine whether those Services represent Good Value;
Benchmarked Services	any Services included within the scope of a Benchmark Review pursuant to this Schedule;
Comparable Rates	the Charges for Comparable Services;
Comparable Services	Services that are identical or materially similar to the Benchmarked Services (including in terms of scope, specification, volume and quality of performance) provided that if no identical or materially similar Services exist in the market, the Contractor shall propose an approach for developing a comparable Services benchmark;
Comparison Group	a sample group of organisations providing Comparable Services which consists of organisations which are either of similar size to the Contractor or which are similarly structured in terms of their business and their service offering so as to be fair comparators with the Contractor or which, are best practice organisations;
Equivalent Data	data derived from an analysis of the Comparable Rates and/or the Comparable Services (as applicable) provided by the Comparison Group;
Good Value	that the Benchmarked Rates are within the Upper Quartile; and
Upper Quartile	in respect of Benchmarked Rates, that based on an analysis of Equivalent Data, the Benchmarked Rates, as compared to the range of prices for Comparable Services, are within the top 25% in terms of best value for money for the recipients of Comparable Services.

2 Benchmarking

2.1 Request for a Benchmark Review

- 2.1.1 The Authority may, by written notice to the Contractor, require a Benchmark Review of any or all of the Services.
- 2.1.2 The Authority shall not be entitled to request a Benchmark Review during the first six (6) Month period from the Commencement Date or at intervals of less than twelve (12) Months after any previous Benchmark Review.
- 2.1.3 The purpose of a Benchmark Review will be to establish whether the Benchmarked Services are, individually and/or as a whole, Good Value.
- 2.1.4 The Services that are to be the Benchmarked Services will be identified by the Authority in writing.
- 2.1.5 Upon its request for a Benchmark Review the Authority shall nominate a benchmarker. The Contractor must approve the nomination within ten (10)

Working Days unless the Contractor provides a reasonable explanation for rejecting the appointment. If the appointment is rejected then the Authority may propose an alternative benchmarker. If the Parties cannot agree the appointment within twenty (20) days of the initial request for Benchmark review then a benchmarker shall be selected by the Chartered Institute of Financial Accountants.

2.1.6 The cost of a benchmarker shall be borne by the Authority (provided that each Party shall bear its own internal costs of the Benchmark Review) except where the Benchmark Review demonstrates that the Benchmarked Service and/or the Benchmarked Services are not Good Value, in which case the Parties shall share the cost of the benchmarker in such proportions as the Parties agree (acting reasonably). Invoices by the benchmarker shall be raised against the Contractor and the relevant portion shall be reimbursed by the Authority.

2.2 Benchmarking Process

- 2.2.1 The benchmarker shall produce and send to the Authority, for approval, a draft plan for the Benchmark Review which must include:
- (a) a proposed cost and timetable for the Benchmark Review;
- (b) a description of the benchmarking methodology to be used which must demonstrate that the methodology to be used is capable of fulfilling the benchmarking purpose; and
- (c) a description of how the benchmarker will scope and identify the Comparison Group.
- 2.2.2 The benchmarker, acting reasonably, shall be entitled to use any model to determine the achievement of value for money and to carry out the benchmarking.
- 2.2.3 The Authority must give notice in writing to the Contractor within ten (10) Working Days after receiving the draft plan, advising the benchmarker and the Contractor whether it Approves the draft plan, or, if it does not approve the draft plan, suggesting amendments to that plan (which must be reasonable). If amendments are suggested then the benchmarker must produce an amended draft plan and this Paragraph 2.2.3 shall apply to any amended draft plan.
- 2.2.4 Once both Parties have approved the draft plan then they will notify the benchmarker. No Party may unreasonably withhold or delay its approval of the draft plan.
- 2.2.5 Once it has received the approval of the draft plan, the benchmarker shall:
- (a) finalise the Comparison Group and collect data relating to Comparable Rates. The selection of the Comparable Rates (both in terms of number and identity) shall be a matter for the Contractor's professional judgment using:
 - (i) market intelligence;
 - (ii) the benchmarker's own data and experience;
 - (iii) relevant published information; and
 - (iv) pursuant to Paragraph 2.2.6 below, information from other Contractors or purchasers on Comparable Rates;
- (b) by applying the adjustment factors listed in Paragraph 2.2.7 and from an analysis of the Comparable Rates, derive the Equivalent Data;
- (c) using the Equivalent Data, calculate the Upper Quartile;
- (d) determine whether or not each Benchmarked Rate is, and/or the Benchmarked Rates as a whole are, Good Value.

- 2.2.6 The Contractor shall use all reasonable endeavours and act in good faith to supply information required by the benchmarker in order to undertake the benchmarking. The Contractor agrees to use its reasonable endeavours to obtain information from other Contractors or purchasers on Comparable Rates.
- 2.2.7 In carrying out the benchmarking analysis the benchmarker may have regard to the following matters when performing a comparative assessment of the Benchmarked Rates and the Comparable Rates in order to derive Equivalent Data:
- the contractual terms and business environment under which the Comparable Rates are being provided (including the scale and geographical spread of the customers);
- (b) exchange rates;
- (c) any other factors reasonably identified by the Contractor, which, if not taken into consideration, could unfairly cause the Contractor's pricing to appear non-competitive.

2.3 Benchmarking Report

- 2.3.1 For the purposes of this Schedule "Benchmarking Report" shall mean the report produced by the benchmarker following the Benchmark Review and as further described in this Schedule;
- 2.3.2 The benchmarker shall prepare a Benchmarking Report and deliver it to the Authority, at the time specified in the plan Approved pursuant to Paragraph 2.2.3, setting out its findings. Those findings shall be required to:
- (a) include a finding as to whether or not a Benchmarked Service and/or whether the Benchmarked Services as a whole are, Good Value;
- (b) if any of the Benchmarked Services are, individually or as a whole, not Good Value, specify the changes that would be required to make that Benchmarked Service or the Benchmarked Services as a whole Good Value; and
- (c) include sufficient detail and transparency so that the Party requesting the Benchmarking can interpret and understand how the Contractor has calculated whether or not the Benchmarked Services are, individually or as a whole, Good Value.
- 2.3.3 The Parties agree that any changes required to this Contract identified in the Benchmarking Report shall be implemented at the direction of the Authority in accordance with Clause 15 of the Agreement (Change).

Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery

1. Definitions

1.1 In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall supplement Joint Schedule 1 (Definitions):

BCDR Plan	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.1 of this Schedule;
Business Continuity Plan	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.2.2 of this Schedule;
Disaster	means the occurrence of one or more events which, either separately or cumulatively, mean that the Services, or a material part thereof will be unavailable (or could reasonably be anticipated to be unavailable);
Disaster Recovery Deliverables	the deliverables embodied in the processes and procedures for restoring the provision of the Services following the occurrence of a Disaster;
Disaster Recovery Plan	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 2.2.3 of this Schedule;
Disaster Recovery System	the system embodied in the processes and procedures for restoring the provision of the Services following the occurrence of a Disaster;
Contractor's Proposals	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 6.3 of this Schedule;
Related Contractor	any person who provides services to the Authority which are related to the Services from time to time; and
Review Report	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 6.3 of this Schedule.

2. BCDR Plan

- 2.1 At least seven (7) days prior to the Operational Commencement Date the Contractor shall prepare and deliver to the Authority for the Authority's written approval a plan (a "**BCDR Plan**"), which shall detail the processes and arrangements that the Contractor shall follow to:
 - 2.1.1 ensure continuity of the business processes and operations supported by the Services following any failure or disruption of any element of the Services; and
 - 2.1.2 the recovery of the Goods and Services in the event of a Disaster
- 2.2 The BCDR Plan shall be divided into three sections:
 - 2.2.1 Section 1 which shall set out general principles applicable to the BCDR Plan;
 - 2.2.2 Section 2 which shall relate to business continuity (the "Business Continuity Plan"); and
 - 2.2.3 Section 3 which shall relate to disaster recovery (the "Disaster Recovery Plan").
- 2.3 Following receipt of the draft BCDR Plan from the Contractor, the Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the BCDR Plan as soon as possible. If the Parties are unable to agree the contents of the BCDR Plan within twenty (20) Working Days of its submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

3. General Principles of the BCDR Plan (Section 1)

- 3.1 Section 1 of the BCDR Plan shall:
 - 3.1.1 set out how the business continuity and disaster recovery elements of the BCDR Plan link to each other;
 - 3.1.2 provide details of how the invocation of any element of the BCDR Plan may impact upon the provision of the Services and any goods and/or services provided to the Authority by a Related Contractor;
 - 3.1.3 contain an obligation upon the Contractor to liaise with the Authority and any Related Contractors with respect to business continuity and disaster recovery;
 - 3.1.4 detail how the BCDR Plan interoperates with any overarching disaster recovery or business continuity plan of the Authority and any of its other Related Contractor in each case as notified to the Contractor by the Authority from time to time;
 - 3.1.5 contain a communication strategy including details of an incident and problem management service and advice and help desk facility which can be accessed via multiple channels;
 - 3.1.6 contain a risk analysis, including:
 - (a) failure or disruption scenarios and assessments of likely frequency of occurrence;
 - (b) identification of any single points of failure within the provision of the Services and processes for managing those risks;
 - (c) identification of risks arising from the interaction of the provision of the Services with the Goods and any goods and/or services provided by a Related Contractor; and
 - (d) a business impact analysis of different anticipated failures or disruptions;
 - 3.1.7 provide for documentation of processes, including business processes, and procedures;
 - 3.1.8 set out key contact details for the Contractor (and any Subcontractors) and for the Authority;
 - 3.1.9 identify the procedures for reverting to "normal service";
 - 3.1.10 set out method(s) of recovering or updating data collected (or which ought to have been collected) during a failure or disruption to minimise data loss;
 - 3.1.11 identify the responsibilities (if any) that the Authority has agreed it will assume in the event of the invocation of the BCDR Plan; and
 - 3.1.12 provide for the provision of technical assistance to key contacts at the Authority as required by the Authority to inform decisions in support of the Authority's business continuity plans.
- 3.2 The BCDR Plan shall be designed so as to ensure that:
 - 3.2.1 the Services are provided in accordance with this Agreement at all times during and after the invocation of the BCDR Plan;
 - 3.2.2 the adverse impact of any Disaster is minimised as far as reasonably possible;
 - 3.2.3 it complies with the relevant provisions of ISO/IEC 27002; ISO22301/ISO22313 and all other industry standards from time to time in force; and
 - 3.2.4 it details a process for the management of disaster recovery testing.
- 3.3 The BCDR Plan shall be upgradeable and sufficiently flexible to support any changes to the Services and the business operations supported by the provision of Services.
- 3.4 The Contractor shall not be entitled to any relief from its obligations under the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) or Service Levels, or to any increase in the Charges to the extent that a Disaster occurs as a consequence of any breach by the Contractor of this Agreement.

4. Business Continuity (Section 2)

- 4.1 The Business Continuity Plan shall set out the arrangements that are to be invoked to ensure that the business processes facilitated by the provision of the Services remain supported and to ensure continuity of the business operations supported by the Services including:
 - 4.1.1 the alternative processes, options and responsibilities that may be adopted in the event of a failure in or disruption to the provision of the Services; and
 - 4.1.2 the steps to be taken by the Contractor upon resumption of the provision of the Services in order to address the effect of the failure or disruption.
- 4.2 The Business Continuity Plan shall:
 - 4.2.1 address the various possible levels of failures of or disruptions to the provision of the Services;
 - 4.2.2 set out the Goods and any other goods and/or services to be provided and the steps to be taken to remedy the different levels of failures of and disruption to the Services;
 - 4.2.3 specify any applicable KPIs with respect to the provision of the services set out in the Business Continuity Plan and details of any agreed relaxation to the KPIs or service levels in respect of the provision of the Services (or any element thereof) during any period of invocation of the Business Continuity Plan; and
 - 4.2.4 set out the circumstances in which the Business Continuity Plan is invoked.

5. Disaster Recovery (Section 3)

- 5.1 The Disaster Recovery Plan (which shall be invoked only upon the occurrence of a Disaster) shall be designed to ensure that upon the occurrence of a Disaster the Contractor ensures continuity of the business operations of the Authority supported by the Services following any Disaster or during any period of service failure or disruption with, as far as reasonably possible, minimal adverse impact.
- 5.2 The Contractor's BCDR Plan shall include an approach to business continuity and disaster recovery that addresses the following:
 - 5.2.1 loss of access to the Authority Premises;
 - 5.2.2 loss of utilities to the Authority Premises;
 - 5.2.3 loss of the Contractor's helpdesk or IT Systems;
 - 5.2.4 loss of a Sub-Contractor;
 - 5.2.5 emergency notification and escalation process;
 - 5.2.6 contact lists;
 - 5.2.7 staff training and awareness;
 - 5.2.8 BCDR Plan testing;
 - 5.2.9 post implementation review process;
 - 5.2.10 any applicable KPIs with respect to the provision of the disaster recovery services and details of any agreed relaxation to the KPI's or service levels in respect of the provision of the Services during any period of invocation of the Disaster Recovery Plan;
 - 5.2.11 details of how the Contractor shall ensure compliance with security standards ensuring that compliance is maintained for any period during which the Disaster Recovery Plan is invoked;
 - 5.2.12 access controls to any disaster recovery sites used by the Contractor in relation to its obligations pursuant to this Schedule; and
 - 5.2.13 testing and management arrangements.

6. Review and changing the BCDR Plan

- 6.1 The Contractor shall review the BCDR Plan:
 - 6.1.1 on a regular basis and as a minimum once every six (6) Months;
 - 6.1.2 within three (3) calendar Months of the BCDR Plan (or any part) having been invoked pursuant to Paragraph 8; and
 - 6.1.3 where the Authority requests in writing any additional reviews (over and above those provided for in Paragraphs 6.1.1 and 6.1.2 of this Schedule) whereupon the Contractor shall conduct such reviews in accordance with the Authority's written requirements. Prior to starting its review, the Contractor shall provide an accurate written estimate of the total costs payable by the Authority for the Authority's approval. The costs of both Parties of any such additional reviews shall be met by the Authority except that the Contractor shall not be entitled to charge the Authority for any costs that it may incur above any estimate without the Authority's prior written approval.
- 6.2 Each review of the BCDR Plan pursuant to Paragraph 6.1 shall assess its suitability having regard to any change to the Services or any underlying business processes and operations facilitated by or supported by the Services which have taken place since the later of the original approval of the BCDR Plan or the last review of the BCDR Plan, and shall also have regard to any occurrence of any event since that date (or the likelihood of any such event taking place in the foreseeable future) which may increase the likelihood of the need to invoke the BCDR Plan. The review shall be completed by the Contractor within such period as the Authority shall reasonably require.
- 6.3 The Contractor shall, within twenty (20) Working Days of the conclusion of each such review of the BCDR Plan, provide to the Authority a report (a "**Review Report**") setting out the Contractor's proposals (the "**Contractor's Proposals**") for addressing any changes in the risk profile and its proposals for amendments to the BCDR Plan.
- 6.4 Following receipt of the Review Report and the Contractor's Proposals, the Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the Review Report and the Contractor's Proposals. If the Parties are unable to agree Review Report and the Contractor's Proposals within twenty (20) Working Days of its submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 6.5 The Contractor shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving the approval of the Contractor's Proposals effect any change in its practices or procedures necessary so as to give effect to the Contractor's Proposals. Any such change shall be at the Contractor's expense unless it can be reasonably shown that the changes are required because of a material change to the risk profile of the Services.

7. Testing the BCDR Plan

- 7.1 The Contractor shall test the BCDR Plan:
 - 7.1.1 regularly and in any event not less than once in every contract year;
 - 7.1.2 in the event of any major reconfiguration of the Services;
 - 7.1.3 at any time where the Authority considers it necessary (acting in its sole discretion).
- 7.2 If the Authority requires an additional test of the BCDR Plan, it shall give the Contractor written notice and the Contractor shall conduct the test in accordance with the Authority's requirements and the relevant provisions of the BCDR Plan. The Contractor's costs of the additional test shall be borne by the Authority unless the BCDR Plan fails the additional test in which case the Contractor's costs of that failed test shall be borne by the Contractor.
- 7.3 The Contractor shall undertake and manage testing of the BCDR Plan in full consultation with and under the supervision of the Authority and shall liaise with the Authority in respect of the planning, performance, and review, of each test, and shall comply with the reasonable requirements of the Authority.

- 7.4 The Contractor shall ensure that any use by it or any Sub-Contractor of "live" data in such testing is first approved with the Authority. Copies of live test data used in any such testing shall be (if so required by the Authority) destroyed or returned to the Authority on completion of the test.
- 7.5 The Contractor shall, within twenty (20) Working Days of the conclusion of each test, provide to the Authority a report setting out:
 - 7.5.1 the outcome of the test;
 - 7.5.2 any failures in the BCDR Plan (including the BCDR Plan's procedures) revealed by the test; and
 - 7.5.3 the Contractor's proposals for remedying any such failures.
- 7.6 Following each test, the Contractor shall take all measures requested by the Authority to remedy any failures in the BCDR Plan and such remedial activity and re-testing shall be completed by the Contractor, at its own cost, by the date reasonably required by the Authority.

8. Invoking the BCDR Plan

8.1 In the event of a complete loss of service or in the event of a Disaster, the Contractor shall immediately invoke the BCDR Plan (and shall inform the Authority promptly of such invocation). In all other instances the Contractor shall invoke or test the BCDR Plan only with the prior consent of the Authority.

9. Circumstances beyond your control

9.1 The Contractor shall not be entitled to relief under Clause 35 (Force Majeure) if it would not have been impacted by the Force Majeure Event had it not failed to comply with its obligations under this Schedule.

Dispute Resolution

1. Definitions

1.1 In this Schedule 11, the following definitions shall apply:

CEDR	the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution of International Dispute Resolution Centre, 70 Fleet Street, London, EC4Y 1EU;
Counter Notice	has the meaning given to it in paragraph 6.2 of this Schedule 11;
Expert	the person appointed by the Parties in accordance with paragraph 5.2 of this Schedule 11;
Mediation Notice	has the meaning given to it in paragraph 3.2 of this Schedule 11; and
Mediator	the independent third party appointed in accordance with paragraph 4.2 of this Schedule 11.

2. Introduction

- 2.1 If a Dispute arises then:
 - 2.1.1 the representative of the Authority and the Contractor Representative shall attempt in good faith to resolve the Dispute; and
 - 2.1.2 if such attempts are not successful within a reasonable time either Party may give to the other a Dispute Notice.
- 2.2 The Dispute Notice shall set out:
 - 2.2.1 the material particulars of the Dispute;
 - 2.2.2 the reasons why the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute has arisen; and
 - 2.2.3 if the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute should be dealt with under the Expedited Dispute Timetable as set out in paragraph 2.6 of this Schedule 11, the reason why.
- 2.3 Unless agreed otherwise in writing, the Parties shall continue to comply with their respective obligations under this Agreement regardless of the nature of the Dispute and notwithstanding the referral of the Dispute to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 2.4 Subject to paragraph 3.2 of this Schedule 11, the Parties shall seek to resolve Disputes:
 - 2.4.1 first by commercial negotiation (as prescribed in paragraph 3 of this Schedule 11);
 - 2.4.2 then by mediation (as prescribed in paragraph 4 of this Schedule 11); and
 - 2.4.3 lastly by recourse to arbitration (as prescribed in paragraph 6 of this Schedule 11) or litigation (in accordance with Clause 48 of this Agreement (Governing Law and Jurisdiction)).

- 2.5 Specific issues shall be referred to Expert Determination (as prescribed in paragraph 5 of this Schedule 11) where specified under the provisions of this Agreement and may also be referred to Expert Determination where otherwise appropriate as specified in paragraph 5 of this Schedule 11.
- 2.6 In exceptional circumstances where the use of the times in this Schedule 11 would be unreasonable, including (by way of example) where one Party would be materially disadvantaged by a delay in resolving the Dispute, the Parties may agree to use the Expedited Dispute Timetable. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on whether to use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable within five (5) Working Days of the issue of the Dispute Notice, the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable Shall be at the sole discretion of the Authority.
- 2.7 If the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable is determined in accordance with paragraph 2.5 or is otherwise specified under the provisions of this Agreement, then the following periods of time shall apply in lieu of the time periods specified in the applicable paragraphs:
 - 2.7.1 in paragraph 3.2.3, ten (10) Working Days;
 - 2.7.2 in paragraph 4.2, ten (10) Working Days;
 - 2.7.3 in paragraph 5.2, five (5) Working Days; and
 - 2.7.4 in paragraph 6.2, ten (10) Working Days.
- 2.8 If at any point it becomes clear that an applicable deadline cannot be met or has passed, the Parties may (but shall be under no obligation to) agree in writing to extend the deadline. Any agreed extension shall have the effect of delaying the start of the subsequent stages by the period agreed in the extension.

3. Commercial Negotiations

- 3.1 Following the service of a Dispute Notice, the Authority and the Contractor shall use reasonable endeavours to resolve the Dispute as soon as possible, by discussion between the Authority Representative and the Contractor Representative.
- 3.2 If:
 - 3.2.1 either Party is of the reasonable opinion that the resolution of a Dispute by commercial negotiation, or the continuance of commercial negotiations, will not result in an appropriate solution;
 - 3.2.2 the Parties have already held discussions of a nature and intent (or otherwise were conducted in the spirit) that would equate to the conduct of commercial negotiations in accordance with this paragraph 3 of this Schedule 11; or
 - 3.2.3 the Parties have not settled the Dispute in accordance with paragraph 3.1 of this Schedule 11 within thirty (30) Working Days of service of the Dispute Notice,

either Party may serve a written notice to proceed to mediation (a "Mediation Notice") in accordance with paragraph 4 of this Schedule 11.

4. Mediation

4.1 If a Mediation Notice is served, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute in accordance with CEDR's Model Mediation Agreement which shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Agreement.
- 4.2 If the Parties are unable to agree on the joint appointment of a Mediator within thirty (30) Working Days from service of the Mediation Notice then either Party may apply to CEDR to nominate the Mediator.
- 4.3 If the Parties are unable to reach a settlement in the negotiations at the mediation, and only if the Parties so request and the Mediator agrees, the Mediator shall produce for the Parties a non-binding recommendation on terms of settlement. This shall not attempt to anticipate what a court might order but shall set out what the Mediator suggests are appropriate settlement terms in all of the circumstances.
- 4.4 Any settlement reached in the mediation shall not be legally binding until it has been reduced to writing and signed by, or on behalf of, the Parties (in accordance with the Variation Procedure where appropriate). The Mediator shall assist the Parties in recording the outcome of the mediation.

5. Expert Determination

- 5.1 If a Dispute relates to any aspect of the technology underlying the provision of the Services or otherwise relates to a financial technical or other aspect of a technical nature (as the Parties may agree) and the Dispute has not been resolved by discussion or mediation, then either Party may request (which request will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) by written notice to the other that the Dispute is referred to an Expert for determination.
- 5.2 The Expert shall be appointed by agreement in writing between the Parties, but in the event of a failure to agree within ten (10) Working Days, or if the person appointed is unable or unwilling to act, the Expert shall be appointed on the instructions of the relevant professional body.
- 5.3 The Expert shall act on the following basis:
 - 5.3.1 he/she shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and shall act fairly and impartially;
 - 5.3.2 the Expert's determination shall (in the absence of a material failure to follow the agreed procedures) be final and binding on the Parties;
 - 5.3.3 the Expert shall decide the procedure to be followed in the determination and shall be requested to make his/her determination within thirty (30) Working Days of his appointment or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and the Parties shall assist and provide the documentation that the Expert requires for the purpose of the determination;
 - 5.3.4 any amount payable by one Party to another as a result of the Expert's determination shall be due and payable within twenty (20) Working Days of the Expert's determination being notified to the Parties;
 - 5.3.5 the process shall be conducted in private and shall be confidential; and
 - 5.3.6 the Expert shall determine how and by whom the costs of the determination, including his/her fees and expenses, are to be paid.

6. Arbitration

- 6.1 The Authority may at any time before court proceedings are commenced refer the Dispute to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 6.4 of this Schedule 11.
- 6.2 Before the Contractor commences court proceedings or arbitration, it shall serve written notice on the Authority of its intentions and the Authority shall have fifteen (15) Working Days following receipt of such notice to serve a reply (a "**Counter Notice**") on the Contractor requiring the Dispute to be referred to and resolved by arbitration in accordance with

paragraph 6.4 of this Schedule 11 or be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts in accordance with Clause 48 of this Agreement (Governing Law and Jurisdiction). The Contractor shall not commence any court proceedings or arbitration until the expiry of such fifteen (15) Working Day period.

- 6.3 If:
 - 6.3.1 the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be referred to arbitration, the provisions of paragraph 6.4 of this Schedule 11 shall apply;
 - 6.3.2 the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts in accordance with Clause 48 of this Agreement (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), the Dispute shall be so referred to the courts and the Contractor shall not commence arbitration proceedings;
 - 6.3.3 the Authority does not serve a Counter Notice within the fifteen (15) Working Days period referred to in paragraph 6.2 of this Schedule 11, the Contractor may either commence arbitration proceedings in accordance with paragraph 6.4 of this Schedule 11 or commence court proceedings in the courts in accordance with Clause 48 of this Agreement (Governing Law and Jurisdiction) which shall (in those circumstances) have exclusive jurisdiction.
- 6.4 In the event that any arbitration proceedings are commenced pursuant to paragraphs 6.1 to 6.3 of this Schedule 11, the Parties hereby confirm that:
 - 6.4.1 all disputes, issues or claims arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (including as to its existence, validity or performance) shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the Rules of the London Court of International Arbitration ("**LCIA**") (subject to paragraphs 6.4.5 to 6.4.7 of this Schedule 11);
 - 6.4.2 the arbitration shall be administered by the LCIA;
 - 6.4.3 the LCIA procedural rules in force at the date that the Dispute was referred to arbitration shall be applied and are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Agreement and the decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the Parties in the absence of any material failure to comply with such rules;
 - 6.4.4 if the Parties fail to agree the appointment of the arbitrator within ten (10) days from the date on which arbitration proceedings are commenced or if the person appointed is unable or unwilling to act, the arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA;
 - 6.4.5 the chair of the arbitral tribunal shall be British;
 - 6.4.6 the arbitration proceedings shall take place in London and in the English language; and
 - 6.4.7 the seat of the arbitration shall be London.

7. Urgent Relief

- 7.1 Either Party may at any time take proceedings or seek remedies before any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction:
 - 7.1.1 for interim or interlocutory remedies in relation to this Agreement or infringement by the other Party of that Party's Intellectual Property Rights; and/or

7.1.2 where compliance with paragraph 2.1 of this Schedule 11 and/or referring the Dispute to mediation may leave insufficient time for that Party to commence proceedings before the expiry of the limitation period.

Schedule 12

Exit Management

1. Definitions

1.1 In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall supplement Schedule 1 (Definitions):

Exit Information	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 3.1 of this Schedule;
Exit Manager	the person appointed by each Party to manage their respective obligations under this Schedule;
Replacement Services	any services which are substantially similar to any of the Services and which the Authority receives in substitution for any of the Services following the expiry or termination of the Agreement whether those services are provided by the Authority internally and/or by any third party;
Termination Assistance	the activities to be performed by the Contractor pursuant to the Exit Plan, and other assistance required by the Authority pursuant to the Termination Assistance Notice;
Termination Assistance Notice	has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 5.1 of this Schedule; and
Termination Assistance Period	the period specified in a Termination Assistance Notice for which the Contractor is required to provide the Termination Assistance as such period may be extended pursuant to Paragraph 5.2 of this Schedule.

2. Exit Preparation

2.1 Each Party shall appoint an Exit Manager within three (3) Months of the Commencement Date. The Parties' Exit Managers will liaise with one another in relation to all issues relevant to the expiry or termination of this Agreement.

3. Assisting re-competition for Services

- 3.1 The Contractor shall, on reasonable notice, provide to the Authority and/or its potential Replacement Contractors (subject to the potential Replacement Contractors entering into reasonable written confidentiality undertakings), such information (including any access) as the Authority shall reasonably require in order to facilitate the preparation by the Authority of any invitation to tender and/or to facilitate any potential Replacement Contractors undertaking due diligence (the "Exit Information").
- 3.2 The Contractors acknowledges that the Authority may disclose the Contractor's Confidential Information (excluding the Contractor's or its Sub-Contractors' prices or costs) to an actual or prospective Replacement Contractor to the extent that such disclosure is necessary in connection with such engagement.
- 3.3 The Contractor shall provide complete updates of the Exit Information on an asrequested basis as soon as reasonably practicable and notify the Authority within five (5) Working Days of any material change to the Exit Information which may adversely

impact upon the provision of any Services (and shall consult the Authority in relation to any such changes).

3.4 The Exit Information shall be accurate and complete in all material respects and shall be sufficient to enable a third party to prepare an informed offer for those Services; and not be disadvantaged in any procurement process compared to the Contractor.

4. Exit Plan

- 4.1 The Contractor shall, within three (3) Months after the Commencement Date, deliver to the Authority an Exit Plan which complies with the requirements set out in Paragraph 4.3 of this Schedule and is otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.
- 4.2 The Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the Exit Plan. If the Parties are unable to agree the contents of the Exit Plan within twenty (20) Working Days of the latest date for its submission pursuant to Paragraph 4.1, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 4.3 The Exit Plan shall set out, as a minimum:
 - 4.3.1 a detailed description of both the transfer and cessation processes, including a timetable;
 - 4.3.2 details of the processes for ensuring completion of the Services underway and delivery and/or collection of any Goods that are in transit or in storage as at the termination or expiry of the Agreement;
 - 4.3.3 details of the processes for all data transfers;
 - 4.3.4 details of any contracts which will be available for transfer to the Authority and/or the Replacement Contractor upon the End Date together with any reasonable costs required to effect such transfer;
 - 4.3.5 proposals for providing the Authority or a Replacement Contractor copies of all documentation relating to the use and operation of the Services and required for their continued use;
 - 4.3.6 proposals for the assignment or novation of services utilised by the Contractor in connection with the supply of the Services;
 - 4.3.7 proposals for the identification and return of all Authority Property in the possession of and/or control of the Contractor or any third party;
 - 4.3.8 how the Contractor will ensure that there is no disruption to or degradation of the Services during the Termination Assistance Period; and
 - 4.3.9 any other information or assistance reasonably required by the Authority or a Replacement Contractor.
- 4.4 The Contractor shall:
 - 4.4.1 maintain and update the Exit Plan (and risk management plan) no less frequently than:
 - (a) every six (6) months throughout the Contract Period; and
 - (b) no later than twenty (20) Working Days after a request from the Authority for an up-to-date copy of the Exit Plan;
 - (c) as soon as reasonably possible following a Termination Assistance Notice, and in any event no later than ten (10) Working Days after the date of the Termination Assistance Notice;
 - (d) as soon as reasonably possible following, and in any event no later than twenty (20) Working Days following, any material

change to the Services (including all changes under the Variation Procedure); and

- 4.4.2 jointly review and verify the Exit Plan if required by the Authority and promptly correct any identified failures.
- 4.5 Only if (by notification to the Contractor in writing) the Authority agrees with a draft Exit Plan provided by the Contractor under Paragraph 4.2 or 4.4 (as the context requires), shall that draft become the Exit Plan for this Contract.
- 4.6 A version of an Exit Plan agreed between the parties shall not be superseded by any draft submitted by the Contractor.

5. Obligations when the Agreement is terminated or expires

- 5.1 The Contractor shall comply with all of its obligations contained in the Exit Plan.
- 5.2 Upon termination or expiry, the Contractor shall:
 - 5.2.1 vacate any Authority Premises;
 - 5.2.2 provide access during normal working hours to the Authority and/or the Replacement Contractor for up to twelve (12) Months after expiry or termination to:
 - (a) such information relating to the Services as remains in the possession or control of the Contractor; and
 - (b) such members of the Contractor Personnel as have been involved in the provision of the Services and who are still employed by the Contractor, provided that the Authority and/or the Replacement Contractor shall pay the reasonable costs of the Contractor actually incurred in responding to such requests for access.
- 5.3 Ensure completion of the Services underway and the safe delivery and/or collection of any Goods in transit and/or storage in accordance with the Authority's instructions and store any Goods in accordance with the terms of this Agreement until the point of such delivery and/or collection.
- 5.4 Ensure the secure transfer of all data relating to the provision of the Services as reasonably required by the Authority.
- 5.5 Except where this Agreement provides otherwise, all licences and authorisations granted by the Authority to the Contractor in relation to the Services shall be terminated with effect from the end of the Termination Assistance Period.

6. No charges

6.1 Unless otherwise stated, the Authority shall not be obliged to pay for costs incurred by the Contractor in relation to its compliance with this Schedule.

Schedule 13

Key Roles and Key Personnel



Schedule 14

Form of Guarantee



[THE GUARANTOR]

and

[THE AUTHORITY]

DEED OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

THIS DEED is executed as a deed and dated [Insert date of execution] (the "Deed")

BETWEEN:

- (1) [INSERT NAME OF THE GUARANTOR] [a company incorporated in [England and Wales] under registered number [insert registered number] whose registered office is at [insert registered office]] [OR] [a company incorporated under the laws of [insert country], registered in [insert country] with number [insert number] at [insert place of registration], whose principal office is at [insert office details] (the "Guarantor"); and
- (2) **[INSERT NAME OF THE AUTHORITY]**, [acting on behalf of the Crown] of [insert the Authority's address] (the "**Authority**").

together the "Parties" and each a "Party".

BACKGROUND:

- A. The Authority [has awarded] a contract dated [insert date] to [insert details of the Supplier] (the "Supplier") for the provision of [insert details of goods or services to be provided] (the "Guaranteed Agreement").
- B. It is a condition of the Authority entering into the Guaranteed Agreement that the Supplier procures the execution and delivery to the Authority of a parent company guarantee substantially in the form of this Deed.
- C. The Guarantor has agreed to guarantee the due performance of the Guaranteed Agreement.
- IT IS AGREED as follows:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions

1.1 The following definitions apply in this Deed:

"Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England, when banks in London are open for business; "Control" means the power of a person to secure that the affairs of a body corporate are conducted in accordance with the wishes of that person:

- (a) by means of the holding of shares or the possession of voting power in relation to that body or any other body corporate; or
- (b) as a result of any powers conferred by the constitutional or corporate documents, or any other document regulating that body or any other body corporate;

"Guaranteed Agreement"	has the meaning given to it in Recital (A);
"Guaranteed Obligations"	has the meaning given to it in Clause 2.1(a);
"Supplier"	has the meaning given to it in Recital (A); and
"VAT"	means value added tax or any equivalent tax chargeable in the UK or elsewhere.

Interpretation

- 1.2 Unless otherwise stated, any reference in this Deed to:
 - the "Guarantor", the "Authority", the "Supplier" or any other person shall be construed so as to include their successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees, whether direct or indirect;
 - (b) "assets" includes present and future properties, revenues and rights of every description;
 - this "Deed", or any other agreement or instrument is a reference to, this deed or other agreement or instrument as amended, novated, supplemented, extended or restated;
 - (d) "indebtedness" includes any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;

- (e) a "person" includes any individual, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust, joint venture, consortium, partnership or other entity (whether or not having separate legal personality);
- (f) the words "including", "includes", "in particular", "for example" or similar shall be construed as illustrative and without limitation to the generality of the related general words; and
- (g) a time of day is a reference to London time.

2 GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

- 2.1 The Guarantor:
 - (a) guarantees to the Authority the due and punctual performance of all of the Supplier's present and future obligations under and in connection with the Guaranteed Agreement if and when they become due and performable in accordance with the terms of the Guaranteed Agreement (the "Guaranteed Obligations");
 - (b) shall pay to the Authority from time to time on demand all monies (together with interest on such sum accrued before and after the date of demand until the date of payment) that have become payable by the Supplier to the Authority under or in connection with the Guaranteed Agreement but which has not been paid at the time the demand is made; and
 - (c) shall, if the Supplier fails to perform in full and on time any of the Guaranteed Obligations and upon written notice from the Authority, immediately on demand perform or procure performance of the same at the Guarantor's own expense.
- 2.2 The Guarantor, as principal obligor and as a separate and independent obligation and liability from its obligations and liabilities under Clause 2.1, shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Authority in full and on demand from and against all and any losses, damages, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by the Authority arising out of, or in connection with:
 - (a) any failure by the Supplier to perform or discharge the Guaranteed Obligations; or

(b) any of the Guaranteed Obligations being or becoming wholly or partially unenforceable for any reason,

provided that the Guarantor's liability under this Clause 2.2 shall be no greater than the Supplier's liability under the Guaranteed Agreement was (or would have been had the relevant Guaranteed Obligation been fully enforceable).

3 AUTHORITY PROTECTIONS

Continuing Guarantee

3.1 This Deed is, and shall at all times be, a continuing and irrevocable security until the Guaranteed Obligations have been satisfied or performed in full, and is in addition to and not in substitution for and shall not merge with any other right, remedy, guarantee or security which the Authority may at any time hold for the performance of the Guaranteed Obligations and may be enforced without first having recourse to any such security.

Preservation of the Guarantor's liability

- 3.2 The Guarantor's liability under this Deed shall not be reduced, discharged or otherwise adversely affected by:
 - (a) any arrangement made between the Supplier and the Authority;
 - (b) any partial performance (except to the extent of such partial performance)by the Supplier of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (c) any alteration in the obligations undertaken by the Supplier whether by way of any variation referred to in Clause 4 or otherwise;
 - (d) any waiver or forbearance by the Authority whether as to payment, time, performance or otherwise;
 - the taking, variation, renewal or release of, the enforcement or neglect to perfect or enforce any right, guarantee, remedy or security from or against the Supplier or any other person;
 - (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any of the provisions of the Guaranteed Agreement or any of the Supplier's obligations under the Guaranteed Agreement, so that this Deed shall be construed as if there were no such unenforceability, illegality or invalidity;

(g) any dissolution, amalgamation, reconstruction, reorganisation, change in status, function, Control or ownership, insolvency, liquidation, administration, voluntary arrangement, or appointment of a receiver, of the Supplier or any other person.

Immediate demand

3.3 The Guarantor waives any right it may have to require the Authority to proceed against, enforce any other right or claim for payment against, or take any other action against, the Supplier or any other person before claiming from the Guarantor under this Guarantee.

Deferral of rights

- 3.4 Until all amounts which may be or become payable under the Guaranteed Agreement or this Deed have been irrevocably paid in full, the Guarantor shall not, as a result of this Deed or any payment performance under this Deed:
 - (a) be subrogated to any right or security of the Authority;
 - (b) claim or prove in competition with the Authority against the Supplier or any other person;
 - (c) demand or accept repayment in whole or in part of any indebtedness due from the Supplier;
 - (d) take the benefit of, share in or enforce any security or other guarantee or indemnity against the Supplier; or
 - (e) claim any right of contribution, set-off or indemnity from the Supplier,

without the prior written consent of the Authority (and in such case only in accordance with any written instructions of the Authority).

3.5 If the Guarantor receives any payment or other benefit in breach of Clause 3.4, or as a result of any action taken in accordance with a written instruction of the Authority given pursuant to Clause 3.4, such payment of other benefit, and any benefit derived directly or indirectly by the Guarantor therefrom, shall be held by the Guarantor on trust for the Authority applied towards the discharge of the Guarantor's obligations to the Authority under this Deed.

4 VARIATION OF THE GUARANTEED AGREEMENT

4.1 The Guarantor confirms that it intends that this Deed shall extend and apply from time to time to any variation, increase, extension or addition of the Guaranteed Agreement, however, fundamental, and any associated fees, costs and/or expenses.

5 PAYMENT AND COSTS

- 5.1 All sums payable by the Guarantor under this Deed shall be paid in full to the Authority in pounds sterling:
 - (a) without any set-off, condition or counterclaim whatsoever; and
 - (b) free and clear of any deductions or withholdings whatsoever except as may be required by applicable law which is binding on the Guarantor.
- 5.2 If any deduction or withholding is required by any applicable law to be made by the Guarantor:
 - (a) the amount of the payment due from the Guarantor shall be increased to an amount which (after making any deduction or withholding) leaves an amount equal to the payment which would have been due if no deduction or withholding had been required; and
 - (b) the Guarantor shall promptly deliver to the Authority all receipts issued to it evidencing each deduction or withholding which it has made.
- 5.3 The Guarantor shall not and may not direct the application by the Authority of any sums received by the Authority from the Guarantor under any of the terms in this Deed.
- 5.4 The Guarantor shall pay interest on any amount due under this Deed at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, accruing on a daily basis from the due date up to the date of actual payment, whether before or after judgment.
- 5.5 The Guarantor shall, on a full indemnity basis, pay to the Authority on demand the amount of all costs and expenses (including legal and out-of-pocket expenses and any VAT on those costs and expenses) which the Authority incurs in connection with:

- the preservation, or exercise and enforcement, of any rights under or in connection with this Deed or any attempt to do so; and
- (b) any discharge or release of this Deed.

6 CONDITIONAL DISCHARGE

- 6.1 Any release, discharge or settlement between the Guarantor and the Authority in relation to this Deed shall be conditional on no right, security, disposition or payment to the Authority by the Guarantor, the Supplier or any other person being avoided, set aside or ordered to be refunded pursuant to any enactment or law relating to breach of duty by any person, bankruptcy, liquidation, administration, protection from creditors generally or insolvency for any other reason.
- 6.2 If any such right, security, disposition or payment as referred to in Clause 6.1 is avoided, set aside or ordered to be refunded, the Authority shall be entitled subsequently to enforce this Deed against the Guarantor as if such release, discharge or settlement had not occurred and any such security, disposition or payment has not been made.

7 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- 7.1 The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Authority that:
 - (a) it is duly incorporated with limited liability and is a validly existing company under the laws of its place of incorporation, has the capacity to sue or be sued in its own name, and has power to carry on its business as now being conducted and to own its property and other assets;
 - (b) it has full power under its constitution or equivalent constitutional documents in the jurisdiction in which it is established to enter into this Deed;
 - (c) it has full power to perform the obligations expressed to be assumed by it or contemplated by this Deed;
 - (d) it has been duly authorised to enter into this Deed;
 - (e) it has taken all necessary corporate action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this Deed;

- (f) this Deed when executed and delivered will constitute a legally binding obligation on it enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (g) all necessary consents and authorisations for the giving and implementation of this Deed have been obtained;
- (h) that its entry into and performance of its obligations under this Deed will not constitute any breach of or default under any contractual, government or public obligation binding on it; and
- (i) that it is not engaged in any litigation or arbitration proceedings that might affect its capacity or ability to perform its obligations under this Deed and to the best of its knowledge no such legal or arbitration proceedings have been threatened or are pending against it.

8 ASSIGNMENT

- 8.1 The Authority shall be entitled by notice in writing to the Guarantor to assign the benefit of this Deed at any time to any person without the consent of the Guarantor being required and any such assignment shall not release the Guarantor from liability under this Deed.
- 8.2 The Guarantor may not assign or transfer any of its rights and/or obligations under this Deed without the prior written consent of the Authority.

9 VARIATION

9.1 No variation of this Deed shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the parties.

10 DEMANDS AND NOTICES

- 10.1 Any demand or notice served by the Authority on the Guarantor under this Deed shall be in writing, addressed to:
 - (a) For the Attention of [insert details]
 - (b) [Address of the Guarantor in England and Wales]

or such other address in England and Wales as the Guarantor has from time to time notified to the Authority in writing in accordance with the terms of this Deed as being an address or facsimile number for the receipt of such demands or notices.

- 10.2 Any notice or demand served on the Guarantor or the Authority under this Deed shall be deemed to have been served:
 - (a) if delivered by hand, at the time of delivery; or
 - (b) if posted, at 10.00 a.m. on the second Business Day after it was put into the post.
- 10.3 In proving service of a notice or demand on the Guarantor it shall be sufficient to prove that delivery was made, or that the envelope containing the notice or demand was properly addressed and posted as a prepaid first class recorded delivery letter.
- 10.4 Any notice purported to be served on the Authority under this Deed shall only be valid when received in writing by the Authority.

11 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- 11.1 This Deed constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes and extinguishes all previous agreements, promises, assurances, warranties, representations and understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its subject matter.
- 11.2 The Guarantor acknowledges that it has not entered into this Deed in reliance upon, nor has it been induced to enter into this Deed by, any representation, warranty or undertaking made by or on behalf of the Authority (whether express or implied and whether pursuant to statute or otherwise) which is not set out in this Deed.

12 WAIVER

- 12.1 No failure or delay by the Authority to exercise any right or remedy provided under this Deed or by law shall constitute a waiver of that or any other right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise of such right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.
- 12.2 Any waiver by the Authority of any terms of this Deed, or of any Guaranteed Obligations, shall only be effective if given in writing and then only for the purpose and upon the terms and conditions, if any, on which it is given.

13 SEVERANCE

13.1 If any provision or part-provision of this Deed is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason, such provision or part-provision shall be deemed deleted, but that shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the rest of this Deed.

14 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

14.1 A person who is not a Party to this Deed shall have no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 (as amended, updated or replaced from time to time) to enforce any of its terms but this does not affect any third party right which exists or is available independently of that Act.

15 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- 15.1 This Deed and any issues, disputes or claims (whether contractual or noncontractual) arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 15.2 The Guarantor irrevocably agrees for the benefit of the Authority that the courts of England shall have jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim (whether contractual or non-contractual) that arises out of or in connection with this Deed or its subject matter or formation.
- 15.3 Nothing contained in Clause 15.2 shall limit the rights of the Authority to take proceedings against the Guarantor in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of any such proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether concurrently or not (unless precluded by applicable law).
- 15.4 The Guarantor irrevocably waives any objection which it may have now or in the future to the courts of England being nominated for the purpose of this Clause on the ground of venue or otherwise and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 15.5 [The Guarantor irrevocably appoints [Insert name of agent] of [Insert address of agent] as its agent to receive on its behalf in England or Wales service of any proceedings under this Clause 15. Such service shall be deemed completed on delivery to such agent (whether or not it is forwarded to and received by the

Guarantor) and shall be valid until such time as the Authority has received prior written notice that such agent has ceased to act as agent. If for any reason such agent ceases to be able to act as agent or no longer has an address in England or Wales, the Guarantor shall appoint a substitute acceptable to the Authority and deliver to the Authority the new agent's name and address within England and Wales.]

Executed as a deed by [insert the name of the Guarantor] acting by [insert name of Director] a director, in the presence of a witness:

[Signature of Witness]	[Signature of Director]
	Name of Director:
Name of Witness:	
Address of Witness:	
Occupation of Witness:	

Schedule 15

MOD Terms

1 Definitions

In this Schedule, the following words shall have the following meanings and they shall supplement Schedule 1 (Definitions):

MOD Site	shall include any of Her Majesty's Ships or Vessels and Service Stations; and
Officer in charge	shall include Officers Commanding Service Stations, Ships' Masters or Senior Officers, and Officers superintending Government Establishments.

2 Access to MOD sites

- 2.1 The Authority shall issue (or procure issue of) passes for those representatives of the Contractor who are approved for admission to the MOD Site and a representative shall not be admitted unless in possession of such a pass. Passes shall remain the property of the Authority (or the MOD, as applicable) and shall be surrendered on demand or on completion of the provision of the Services (which may be the delivery of Goods).
- 2.2 The Contractor's representatives when employed within the boundaries of a MOD Site, shall comply with such rules, regulations and requirements (including those relating to security arrangements) as may be in force for the time being for the conduct of staff at that MOD Site.
- 2.3 When on board ship, compliance shall be with the Ship's Regulations as interpreted by the Officer in charge. Details of such rules, regulations and requirements shall be provided, on request, by the Officer in charge.
- 2.4 The Contractor shall be responsible for the living accommodation and maintenance of its representatives while they are employed at a MOD Site. Sleeping accommodation and messing facilities, if required, may be provided by the Authority wherever possible, at the discretion of the Officer in charge, at a cost fixed in accordance with current Ministry of Defence regulations. At MOD Sites overseas, accommodation and messing facilities, if required, shall be provided wherever possible. The status to be accorded to the Contractor Personnel for messing purposes shall be at the discretion of the Officer in charge. When sleeping accommodation and messing facilities are not available, a certificate to this effect may be required by the Authority and shall be obtained by the Contractor from the Officer in charge. Such certificate shall be presented to the Authority with other evidence relating to the costs of this Agreement.
- 2.5 Where the Contractor Personnel are required under this Agreement to join or visit a Site overseas (other than in the usual course of the provision of the Services) transport between the United Kingdom and the place of duty (but excluding transport within the United Kingdom) shall be provided for them free of charge by the Ministry of Defence whenever possible, normally by Royal Air Force or by MOD chartered aircraft. When such transport is not available within a reasonable time, or in circumstances where the Contractor wishes its representatives to accompany material for installation which it is to arrange to be delivered, the Contractor shall make its own transport arrangements. The Authority shall reimburse the Contractor's reasonable costs for such transport of the Contractor Personnel on presentation of evidence supporting the use of alternative transport and of the costs involved. Transport of the Contractor Personnel locally overseas which is necessary for the purpose of this Agreement shall be provided wherever possible by the Ministry of Defence, or by the Officer in charge and, where so provided, shall be free of charge.
- 2.6 Out-patient medical treatment given to the Contractor Personnel by a Service Medical Officer or other Government Medical Officer at a Site overseas shall be free of charge. Treatment in a

Service hospital or medical centre, dental treatment, the provision of dentures or spectacles, conveyance to and from a hospital, medical centre or surgery not within the Site and transportation of the Contractor's representatives back to the United Kingdom, or elsewhere, for medical reasons, shall be charged to the Contractor at rates fixed in accordance with current Ministry of Defence regulations.

- 2.7 Accidents to the Contractor Personnel which ordinarily require to be reported in accordance with Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, shall be reported to the Officer in charge so that the Inspector of Factories may be informed.
- 2.8 No assistance from public funds, and no messing facilities, accommodation or transport overseas shall be provided for dependants or members of the families of the Contractor Personnel. Medical or necessary dental treatment may, however, be provided for dependants or members of families on repayment at current Ministry of Defence rates.
- 2.9 The Contractor shall, wherever possible, arrange for funds to be provided to its Contractor Personnel who have been required to work overseas pursuant to Paragraph 2.5 through normal banking channels (e.g. by travellers' cheques). If banking or other suitable facilities are not available, the Authority shall, upon request by the Contractor and subject to any limitation required by the Contractor, make arrangements for payments, converted at the prevailing rate of exchange (where applicable), to be made at the Site to which the relevant Contractor Personnel are attached. The Contractor shall reimburse all such advances made by the Authority on demand.

3 DEFCONS and DEFFORMS

- 3.1 The Contractor shall, and shall ensure that the Contractor Personnel, comply with the terms of any DEFCONS and DEFORMS relevant to the Site at which the Contractor Personnel will have access.
- 3.2 In the event of a conflict between any DEFCONs and DEFFORMS referred to above and the other terms in this Agreement, the DEFCONs and DEFFORMS shall prevail.

Schedule 16

Contractor's Tender



KUEHNE+NAGEL	2
	1
	l

Lot D – International Warehousing – Organisational Diagram







2.4.1 Lot D Award Questionnaire Quality Response Template

Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
ANNEX A - AWARD QUESTIONNAIRE – QUALITY (50%)	3

Introduction

- 1.1 You must complete the AQ contained in this document and submit using the Department's e-Sourcing portal.
- 1.2 This document and associated documents should be submitted as a response to Requirement 2.4.1 Quality Response within the Departments e-Sourcing portal.
- 1.3 The evaluation will be carried out using your responses to this Questionnaire using the award criteria, guidance and scoring matrix set out in *Attachment 5 Selection Award and Evaluation Guidance.*

Annex A - Award Questionnaire – Quality (50%)

AWARD QUESTIONS

Question	AQ1	Weight	10	Word Limit	300 words plus 1 page plan
Award Criterion	ward Criterion A robust and feasible mobilisation plan and approach is essent successfully achieving service commencement.		h is essential to		
Question		Please describe your approach to successfully mobilising the International Warehousing services. Provide details of how you we plan and manage risks and interdependencies during the mobilisation period. Please include a detailed project plan for the mobilisation of the services.		of how you will the mobilisation	
		 Your response must clearly demonstrate: A project plan including milestones for implementation of 			
		service			
Response Guidanc	e		•	risks and interdelan to manage th	
		 Evidence of yo similar service 		and experience ir	n delivering a





Please attach your one page plan to the attachments section within the Technical Response using the naming convention: "2.4.1_Lot D_AQ1_<supplier name>_Project Plan".

Question	AQ2	Weight	35	Word Limit	800 words plus 1 page process diagram
Award Criterion		Service delivery: Delivery of all requirements listed in <i>Attachment 3D - Lot D Service</i> <i>Specification</i> is essential to achieving a seamless solution ar meeting the programme objectives.		- Lot D Service ss solution and	
Question		Please detail your proposed solution to delivering the International Warehousing services listed in the requirements documentation, including the end-to-end processes that will enable a seamless service delivery. Demonstrate where you have previously delivered these services using industry standard best practice.		umentation, seamless	
Response Guidand	e	 Your response must clearly demonstrate: How you will deliver the services seamlessly How you will meet or exceed KPIs during the service de The process flows you will implement to deliver the service the service of the process flows you will implement to deliver the service and the process flows you will approach and deliver an International Warehousing service requirement, either directly or through the process flows approach demonstrates industry be practice and proven experience 		e service delivery ver the services rnational ectly or through	

Provider Response (800 words max.)


Please attach your one page process diagram to the attachments section within the Technical Response using the naming convention: "2.4.1_Lot D_AQ2_<supplier name>_Process Diagram".

Question	AQ3	Weight	30	Word Limit	800 words	
Award Criterion		Scalability, flexibility and business continuity: Ability to provide a highly flexible, scalable and resilient International Warehousing Services Solution with appropriate business continuity considerations in order to ensure continued delivery in the face of uncertainty.				
Question		Please detail your approach to designing and implementing an agile International Warehousing solution which is able to rapidly adapt to changing requirements and wider external factors. Please also set out your business continuity plan for the Solution.				
Response Guidance		 Your response must clearly demonstrate: Your ability to be flexible and to scale to meet rapidly changing demand; 				
		 Your ability to meet new or changing requirements in terms of volumes, timings, global geographies, and goods. 				
		 An outline business continuity plan detailing the measures you will take to ensure continued delivery of the solution. 				





Question	AQ4	Weight	15	Word Limit	400 words plus 1 page organisation chart and 1 page in total of CVs (min. font size 10) of dedicated team members.
Award Criterion		Organisation and supply chain structure: Successful delivery of the International Warehousing services requires a clear organisation structure, roles and responsibilities and clarity over the management of any sub-contractors or supply chain partners.			
Question		Please provide details of your proposed organisation structure for delivering the services, including details of any supply chain partners or sub-contractors you plan to utilise in delivering the services. Please set out how you will embed effective ways of working to achieve a seamless service delivery. In addition, please describe your leadership team for delivery of this International Warehousing Services contract and the dedicated roles and responsibilities that will ensure successful running of the services.			
Response Guidance		 Your response must include: A description of the organisation structure you will use for delivery of the services A description of the ways of working you will adopt An organisation structure diagram specifically for this International Warehousing Services contract (Note this does not entail the corporate org structure of your entire organisation). CVs of your leadership team for this contract and delivery of these services Details of your proposed sub-contractors and whether they are pre-established or new to this requirement and how they will be integrated into your dedicated delivery structure for this contract. 			



Please attach your one page organisational chart to the attachments section within the Technical Response using the naming convention: "2.4.1_Lot D_AQ4_<supplier name>_Organisational Charts".

Please attach a maximum of 1 page total of CVs to the attachments section within the Technical Response using the naming convention: "2.4.1_Lot D_AQ4_<supplier name>_CV".

Question	AQ5	Weight	10	Word Limit	300 words + sample report.
Award Criterion Reporting and Data management Award Criterion As a managed service provider, it is vital that you are able to regular updates to the Authority on operational outcomes a contract performance					
Question		Please describe the systems and processes you will utilise to enable robust reporting and data visibility throughout the contract. Please give details of your methodology for reporting against KPIs and how this will support contract management processes and communication with the Authority. Consideration should be given to the high visibility nature of the programme			
Response Guidance		 Your response must include: Details of your systems and methodology for regular and exceptional reporting, including a sample report Details of your approach to communicating progress to the Authority, with a particular focus on transparency, accuracy and timeliness. Details of processes to integrate operational reporting into the Authority's freight management system. 			

Provider Response (300 words max.)

ſ

Please attach your sample report to the attachments section within the Technical Response using the naming convention: "2.4.1_Lot D_AQ5_<supplier name>_Sample Report".

2.4.2 Lot D Award Questionnaire Social Value Response Template

Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
ANNEX A - AWARD QUESTIONNAIRE – SOCIAL VALUE (10%)	3

Introduction

- 1.1 You must complete the AQ contained in this document and submit using the Department's e-Sourcing portal.
- 1.2 This document and associated documents should be submitted as a response to Requirement 2.4.2 Social Value Response within the Departments e-Sourcing portal.
- 1.3 The evaluation will be carried out using your responses to this Questionnaire using the award criteria, guidance and scoring matrix set out in *Attachment 5 Selection Award and Evaluation Guidance.*

Annex A - Award Questionnaire – Social Value (10%)

AWARD QUESTIONS

Question	AQ6	Weight	50	Word Limit	400 words
Award Criterion		 Increase supply chain resilience and capacity: The Authority requires the Potential Provider to: Support innovation throughout the supply chain to deliver lower cost and/or higher quality services. Demonstrate collaboration throughout the supply chain, and a fair and responsible approach to working with supply chain partners in delivery of the contract. 			
Question	Please describe the commitment your organisation will make, and you will fulfil this, in order to ensure that delivery of the serv specific to the Lot supports an innovative and collaborative appro to supply chain management.				of the services
Response Guidance		 Please include: Your 'Method Statement', stating how you will achieve this <u>in</u> the context of the specific Lot and how your commitment meets the Award Criterion, and How you will influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities through the delivery of the <u>services specific to</u> the Lot to support the Policy Outcome, e.g. engagement, co-design/creation, training and education, partnering/ collaborating, volunteering. How you will monitor, measure and report on your commitments/the impact of your proposals on services delivered through the contract. 			



-

Question	AQ7	Weight	50	Word Limit	400 words	
Award Criterion		 Effective stewardship of the environment: The Authority requires the Potential Provider to: Minimise environmental impacts and deliver additional environmental benefits in the performance of the contract 				
Question		including working towards net zero greenhouse gas emissions. Please describe the commitment your organisation will make, and how you will fulfil this, in order to ensure that delivery of the services <u>specific to the Lot</u> throughout the supply chain demonstrates effective stewardship of the environment, whilst meeting the operational requirements of the Authority.				
Response Guidance		 Please include: Your 'Method Statement', stating how you will achieve this <u>in</u> the context of the specific Lot and how your commitment meets the Award Criteria, and How you will monitor, measure and report on your commitments/the impact of your proposals on services delivered through the contract 				

Provider Response (400 words max.)		



Signed by the authorised representative of THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE:

Name	Position	Authorised Signature 3	Date
			29/10/2021
			20,10,2021

Signed by the authorised representative(s) of KUEHNE + NAGEL LIMITED:

Name	Position	Authorised Signature 1	Date

Authorised Signature 2	Date
	Authorised Signature 2